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Deﬁning Milestones of Success
Over the past century, Fluor has been expanding its reach and honing its areas of expertise to
capitalize on changing markets. Just as the scope of our business continues to evolve, so does
the collective knowledge and skill of our workforce. Fluor is both a training ground and a proving
ground in the industry, offering a world of opportunity in every sense. Thanks to our advanced
global information systems, standardized processes and dispersed project execution model, project
teams at every location have the tools to tap into the institutional knowledge they need to succeed.
Together, Fluor employees continue to help each other build upon the strength of experience to
achieve one amazing milestone after another.
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Dear Valued Shareholders
By every important measure, 2007 was the most successful

Bay City, Texas — likely to be the ﬁrst nuclear power plants built in

year in Fluor Corporation’s storied history. Financial records were

the United States in more than 20 years.

surpassed; traditional markets surged; new markets emerged; a
landmark anniversary was celebrated; and we added thousands of

Turning from new awards to signiﬁcant milestones, Fluor celebrated

new employees to our ranks. The company set new highs in revenue,

50 years on the New York Stock Exchange in 2007, and our Board

earnings, new awards and backlog, building on our strong results in

members rang the closing bell at the Exchange on November 1.

2006. Based on the strength of our experience and strong trend of

I think it’s interesting to note that only one quarter of the

global capital spending, we are convinced this period of unparalleled

FORTUNE 500 companies listed on the Exchange in 1957 are still

growth that began in 2002 will continue for some time.

traded today. Despite the thousands of other investment options
our shareholders have, they choose Fluor for reasons including our

The dedication and hard work of our 41,000 employees have

growth potential, unmatched execution capability, solid ﬁnancial

created value for you, our shareholders. In 2007, net earnings

position and ability to deliver shareholder value. Our company has

advanced 102 percent over last year’s record performance to

the highest credit rating of any publicly traded company in our

$533.3 million or $5.85 per share. Revenue increased 19

industry, and despite the volatility of the global credit markets in

percent to $16.7 billion. New awards were up 17 percent to

2007, our conservative ﬁnancial strategies have enabled us to

$22.6 billion, and our backlog grew signiﬁcantly, up 38 percent

continue to effectively access both the letters of credit and bonding

to $30.2 billion, providing a solid foundation for future growth in

that are critical to our success. Finishing 2007 with $1.7 billion in

revenue and earnings.

cash and marketable securities, we have the resources to capitalize
on future growth opportunities.

New awards in 2007 were strong and broad based. In the oil and
gas market, Fluor was selected to expand and upgrade two Marathon

Without a doubt, our business is robust, and the underlying earnings

Oil reﬁneries in Louisiana and Michigan, both with contracts

potential of the company is substantial. Yet even with our record

valued close to $2 billion. We were also chosen to build a billion-

performance in 2007, our team believes that we’ve only scratched

dollar polysilicon plant for LDK Solar in the People’s Republic of

the surface of our future potential. Our optimism is based on

China and a major petrochemical complex for Saudi International

the facts that we are currently enjoying the strongest industrial

Petrochemical Company in Saudi Arabia. For the U.S. Government,

construction market seen in three decades, and with few exceptions,

we were awarded an Army logistics support contract, with a potential

the major markets we serve are in a positive phase of their business

value of up to $5 billion per year over 10 years based on task orders

cycle. We continue to see sizable prospects pending in the oil and

that will be competitively bid. In January 2008, a Fluor-led team

gas, power, government, mining and transportation markets, and

was awarded a DOE contract at Savannah River that is valued at

we are well diversiﬁed to secure opportunities in all of them. We

approximately $4 billion over ﬁve years.

outpaced our industry in new awards during 2007 and believe we
can do the same in 2008.

New awards in the industrial and infrastructure markets included
being selected to widen 37 kilometers of the Autobahn’s A8

Inherent in our long-term strategies of selectivity, differentiation

roadway in Germany, to execute a $800 million iron ore expansion

and portfolio management are operational structures that allow

project for BHP Billiton in Western Australia, and to design and

Fluor to respond immediately to emerging areas of opportunity

construct a $1.4 billion high-occupancy toll lanes project in

and shift personnel to the markets of greatest potential. Over the

Northern Virginia. We received the full release on Luminant’s

years, we have made investments to ensure our execution platform

$1.8 billion Oak Grove coal-ﬁred power plant project in Texas.

is consistent and scalable, which is why we are able to meet the

Perhaps one of the company’s most strategically signiﬁcant project

tremendous demands in today’s marketplace. We use information

wins came to our Power group, with the engineering, procurement

technology to harness the company’s considerable intellectual

and construction award for two new nuclear reactors planned near

property and leverage our award-winning, knowledge-management
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system to solve complex problems other companies cannot. To sum

creating economic growth and improving living standards in both

up, Fluor is uniquely able to bring together the best combination of

industrialized and developing economies. Our employees take great

our regional, industry and technical expertise, as well as our project

pride in making this contribution to society and have consistently

management, ﬁnancial, risk management, health, safety and

worked toward safely delivering quality services that exceed

environmental and business strengths to serve our clients’ needs.

expectations. This was proven by several recognition awards we
captured in 2007, including being named one of the World’s Most

While our systems, procedures and technologies are indeed world

Ethical Companies by Ethisphere magazine and having our Fernald

class, the primary reason for Fluor’s record achievements is ﬁttingly

Closure Project receive the Project Management Institute’s 2007

symbolized in the photos of this annual report — our employees.

Project of the Year Award, its highest honor.

In today’s rapidly changing business environment, the most potent
competitive weapon any company can have is skilled, dedicated

From an organizational standpoint, we welcomed two new members

people working hard to ensure its success. At Fluor, we are blessed

to our Board of Directors in 2007, Ilesanmi (Ade) Adesida and Peter

with a community of outstanding individuals who come together to

Barker. Ade is the dean of the College of Engineering at the University

accomplish things that no one else can. Each of our global employees

of Illinois, and Peter is a retired partner of Goldman Sachs, where

brings a unique set of assets to the job, collectively resulting in

he led investment banking activities on the West Coast. Their vast

greater knowledge, better decisions and premium quality and value.

knowledge ranging from science and technology to banking and
ﬁnance will greatly contribute to our Board’s experience. At the senior

It is compelling to see how many talented individuals seek

management level, Larry Fisher, our chief legal ofﬁcer and corporate

professional opportunities as a part of Fluor’s team. In 2007 alone,

secretary, retired after 33 years of valuable service. We hired as his

we added over 3,700 new salaried employees — a 10 percent

successor Carlos Hernandez, who, as both an engineer and a lawyer,

increase — to our organization, building on the substantial increases

brings considerable expertise to our operations.

of recent years. Our people have chosen careers at Fluor because
they can work on some of the world’s biggest and most distinctive

As we look ahead to 2008, Fluor has never been better prepared

projects. Given our broad geographic and industry diversity, they

to meet the challenges of our increasingly interdependent global

can apply their technical expertise across a number of markets and

markets. We are extremely well positioned in our traditional markets

use our robust technology infrastructure to easily collaborate with

and are making rapid progress in gaining awards in emerging

their colleagues on assignments, even though they may be located

markets, such as nuclear power and other types of clean energy. Our

tens of thousands of miles apart. Our culture of mentoring and

global industry and geographic diversity, solid ﬁnancial strength,

professional development is part of what makes Fluor an employer

strong operating methodologies and worldwide reputation as a

of choice. Furthermore, our training programs in the industry’s best

responsible industry leader all point the way to future achievements

systems and practices contribute to our consistent performance

that will likely surpass the gains of the past. With the continued

and lasting reputation for excellence. Finally, our employees also

support of our valued clients, employees, shareholders and directors,

have the opportunity to truly see and experience the world by

we move forward with conﬁdence that the best is yet to come.

taking on international assignments and working at our ofﬁces and
project sites across six continents. In fact, approximately 1,800 of
our employees are currently on assignments outside of their home
countries — a bona ﬁde reﬂection of our workforce’s commitment
and mobility to support our clients around the world.
Ask any of our employees, and they will say, “Now — more than
ever before — is a great time to be part of the Fluor team.” The
services we provide to our clients are critical building blocks in

Alan L. Boeckmann
Chairman and Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
February 29, 2008
Fluor Corporation 2007 Annual Report Letter to Shareholders
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As a diversiﬁed multinational company serving
a broad range of industrial and governmental
sectors, Fluor beneﬁted from multiple market
upturns over the past year. The company’s ﬁve
business segments, along with Fluor Constructors
International, generated combined revenue of $16.7

2007 At A Glance

billion, making 2007 another record year for Fluor.

OIL & GAS

INDUSTRIAL & INFRASTRUCTURE

GOVERNMENT

Overall capital investment in oil and

Industrial & Infrastructure is Fluor’s

Our Government group has a

gas projects remains robust. That’s

second-largest group, with a backlog of

proven record of success with U.S.

good news for Fluor, which serves all

$6.1 billion. It’s also the most diverse,

agencies including the Departments

facets of the upstream, downstream

encompassing transportation, mining,

of Energy, Defense and Homeland

and petrochemical markets. Our

life sciences, telecommunications,

Security, among others. Not only

global resources and large-project

manufacturing and commercial and

are we working to win new contracts

expertise make us one of only a few

institutional. As world economies

within these organizations, but we’re

companies with the ability to deliver

continue to expand, our Industrial &

actively pursuing opportunities

results on an $18.5 billion backlog.

Infrastructure group will continue to

with the governments of the United

be in high demand.

Kingdom and Russia.
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REVENUE BY SEGMENT

CONSOLIDATED BACKLOG BY REGION
44% United States
24% Middle East

50% Oil & Gas

17% Europe

20% Industrial & Infrastructure

5% Latin America

15% Global Services

5% Australia

8% Government

2% Canada

7% Power

2% Asia Paciﬁc
1% Africa

POWER

GLOBAL SERVICES

FLUOR CONSTRUCTORS

Our Power group designs, builds,

Global Services is a solutions-based

INTERNATIONAL

commissions and retroﬁts facilities

business group that encompasses

Fluor Constructors International,

to meet the growing demand for

operations and maintenance,

Inc.SM (FCII) is the union craft

clean electric power — and in

equipment services, supply chain

arm of Fluor Corporation, providing

2007, we added a new business

solutions and stafﬁng. Whether

construction management and

line to capitalize on a renewed U.S.

developing a cost-effective maintenance

direct-hire construction expertise in

interest in nuclear power. Looking

plan at the outset of a project or

support of Fluor’s operating businesses

ahead, Fluor is extremely well

identifying ways to make an existing

in North America. Additionally, FCII

positioned to service the growing

plant more proﬁtable, the noncyclical

supports the stafﬁng of international

global power generation demand

nature of this group lends consistency

construction projects and has

across all types of fuels.

and predictability to the Fluor portfolio.

employees working around the world.

Fluor Corporation 2007 Annual Report At A Glance
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OIL & GAS

The Strength of Execution
In 2007, energy companies across the industry
continued to beneﬁt from strong global demand for
oil, gas and petrochemicals. From our engineers to
our project managers and craftspeople, the Oil & Gas
team worked together to convert this rising demand
into outstanding growth for Fluor.

signiﬁcant capacity to the original complex designed
and constructed by Fluor in 1984.

Fluor’s expertise in managing complex projects put
the company in a preferred position to win a record
number of key awards in 2007, bringing our Oil &
Gas backlog to $18.5 billion in 2007 — more than
triple the number we posted just two years ago.

and engineering, procurement and construction
(EPC). This follows the successful completion of
another Exxon Neftegas project in this ecologically
sensitive and environmentally challenging area.

UPSTREAM BACKLOG
Our upstream business group, which includes
offshore and onshore production facilities, pipelines,
terminals, gas processing plants and liqueﬁed natural
gas (LNG) projects, delivered on a healthy backlog in
2007. We continued work on a major LNG complex
in Qatar, where we are performing engineering,
procurement and construction management (EPCM)
and we made progress on the Habshan expansion for
Abu Dhabi Gas Industries (GASCO), which will add

REC’s new polysilicon plant in Moses Lake, Washington, is utilizing Fluor’s
engineering procurement and construction expertise. Polysilicon is used to
create photovoltaic solar panels.
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Also in 2007, we moved forward on the Exxon
Neftegas oil and gas production facility at the
Odoptu Reservoir in Russia’s Sakhalin Island region,
performing front-end engineering and design (FEED)

Additionally, we continued engineering, procurement
and construction services work for Phase II of an
offshore production facility in China’s Bohai Bay for
ConocoPhillips. Once the new wellhead platforms,
central processing complex and related systems are
complete, this will be the largest offshore production
facility in China. In Trinidad, a Fluor-led consortium
is also designing and building an offshore platform.
DOWNSTREAM AWARDS STRONG
Driven by a robust reﬁning market, our downstream
business was particularly active in North America, with
additional large awards in many other regions around
the globe. Clean fuels and oil sands projects round out
our downstream business.
2007 was a strong year for new downstream awards,
including two major contracts for Marathon Oil
totaling $3.4 billion. We are well underway with
the ﬁrst of these projects, a $1.8 billion major
expansion contract for the company’s Garyville,
Louisiana, plant that will require up to 4,000
workers to complete construction for a late-2009
startup. The second of these projects, a $1.6 billion
EPC contract to upgrade and expand the Marathon
Oil reﬁnery in Detroit, is expected to increase the

REVENUE BY SEGMENT
OIL & GAS

50%

NEW AWARDS AND BACKLOG
(DOLLARS IN BILLIONS)
20.0
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0
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Backlog

“One thing that stands out
about the Habshan project is
the enormous diversity we see
within our staff. More than 25
nationalities are represented on
site. That’s the sign of a truly
global company going beyond
geography to channel your
resources where they can do
the most good.”
Jason Kreuiter
Site Administration Supervisor
GASCO Habshan Gas Complex
Expansion Project and ThirdGeneration Fluor Employee

Oil & Gas
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In times like these when engineering and
construction resources are especially tight,
Fluor’s dispersed execution model gives us a
distinct competitive advantage. We move the
work electronically to where our people are,
using common systems and processes to draw
upon the collective talents of multiple ofﬁces.
reﬁnery’s heavy oil processing capacity by about
80,000 barrels per day and boost total crude oil
reﬁning capacity by roughly 15 percent.
In Kuwait, Fluor won a $2 billion award from the
Kuwait National Petroleum Company to perform
EPC of the utilities and off-sites for Kuwait’s fourth
reﬁnery at Al Zour. We also won large reﬁnery
upgrade contracts for ConocoPhillips in both Illinois
and California, as well as a $1 billion-plus contract
to expand a Repsol reﬁnery in Cartagena, Spain.
Other contracts of note include initial project
management for a new reﬁnery complex in
Tatarstan, Russia, as well as the EPC for select
utilities, off-sites and infrastructure. In Gdansk,
Poland we won an EPC contract for utilities and
off-sites for the Grupa LOTOS Comprehensive
Technical Upgrade Program.
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In addition to these and other new awards, we
continued to execute on our sizable downstream
backlog. We are working on portions of ﬁve oil sands
projects and are nearing completion of a major portion
of an oil sands upgrader project for OPTI Canada.
STRENGTH IN PETROCHEMICALS
Our petrochemicals group encompasses organic
petrochemicals, inorganic chemicals, polysilicon,
biomass and alcohols, which support the production
of plastics, solar cells, ﬁbers and other products. In
2007, we leveraged our industry-leading performance,
expanded our presence in the growing polysilicon
market and increased our geographic reach.
We are completing EPC work for the utilities
and infrastructure portion of a $1 billion-plus
petrochemical complex in Kuwait for the Dow/
Petrochemical Industries Company joint venture.
This project began as a Fluor FEED and project
management consultancy. Fluor made strong
progress on seven other large petrochemical
projects in the Middle East.
New awards include a contract from Renewable
Energy Corporation (REC) for work on a solargrade silicon production factory in the state
of Washington, a $1 billion contract from the
Saudi Basic Industries Corporation (SABIC) for

a petrochemical complex and a $12 million
FEED contract with Eastman Chemical Company
for a $1.6 billion gasiﬁcation project along the
Texas coast. In China, LDK Solar awarded Fluor
a $1 billion FEED and EPCM contract for a large
polysilicon plant in the People’s Republic of
China. LDK Solar is a leading manufacturer of
multicrystalline solar wafers, the principal material
used to produce solar cells. Fluor is leveraging its
technical expertise to make signiﬁcant headway
in the rapidly growing polysilicon market. We are
now working on eight different polysilicon projects
around the globe.
ICA FLUOR
Working together with partner Grupo ICA, our ICA
Fluor business in Mexico continued to progress on
the $1 billion-plus Minatitlán reﬁnery expansion for
PEMEX in Veracruz.
During the year ICA Fluor was awarded the
fabrication of two lightweight offshore platforms for
PEMEX. ICA Fluor is also part of a consortium that
won a $1.4 billion contract for integrated oil ﬁeld
services at PEMEX’s Chicontepec oil ﬁeld over the
next four years. We are well positioned in Mexico as
the Mexican government reinvests in energy-related
resource development.

OPPORTUNITIES AHEAD
Our Oil & Gas business continues to win and perform
substantial FEED work, which translates into large
EPC opportunities for 2008 and 2009. Based
on our bookings over the past year, 2008 will be
a signiﬁcant year for downstream as we begin to
receive authorization to proceed on several major
programs. In the upstream arena, growing demand
and rising prices for oil and gas are expected to fuel
continued investment in production, processing and
transport facilities. We will take a selective approach
in pursuing projects that play to our large-project
management expertise as we deliver on our strong
backlog overseas. Our petrochemical business should
see expansion in industries such as polysilicon, with
new projects focused outside the United States.
Fluor’s dispersed execution business model enables
us to effectively execute these new projects around
the world.
These opportunities, and our ability to capture them,
are vital to the continued success of our company.
Yet perhaps the most critical opportunities of all are
the ones we offer our employees. Fluor is committed
to cultivating the experienced talent needed to excel
— giving employees the chance to advance at a pace
that rivals that of the market itself.

Fluor is providing program management and EPCM
services for Marathon Oil Corporation’s projected
$3.2 billion project that will expand the crude oil
reﬁning capacity of the company’s Garyville, Louisiana,
reﬁnery by 180,000 barrels per day and allow it to
process heavier crudes. (left)
In China, Fluor provided engineering, procurement
and construction services for the topsides of one of
the world’s largest Floating Production Storage and
Ofﬂoading facilities. (right)
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INDUSTRIAL & INFRASTRUCTURE

The Strength Of Diversiﬁcation
From emerging economies to global market
leaders, Fluor’s Industrial & Infrastructure group
supports the essential elements of progress,
including transportation, mining, life sciences,
telecommunications, manufacturing and commercial
and institutional. As we projected in our last
annual report, 2007 was a robust year for this
highly diversiﬁed segment. Commodity markets
boomed, driving substantial new awards in mining.
Infrastructure investment remained strong, both
domestically and globally. At the same time,
continuing demand in biologics and consumer
products drove new awards in life sciences
and manufacturing. Revenue for Industrial &
Infrastructure was on par with 2006, but in 2007
proﬁts rose 32 percent year over year, reﬂecting good
performance across the segment.
STEADY SUCCESS IN INFRASTRUCTURE
We continue to make progress on two landmark
transportation projects on opposite coasts in the
United States — the San Francisco-Oakland Bay
Bridge and the World Trade Center Transportation
Hub. Upon completion, the $1.4 billion east

Fluor’s design-build services were engaged to complete State Highway 130,
a new-build, 49-mile toll road through central Texas. (Photo courtesy
of Beacon Aviation, Inc.)
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span of the bridge will carry ﬁve lanes of trafﬁc
each way, while in New York City the landmark
Santiago Calatrava-designed transportation hub
will connect pedestrians to various services
including subways and ferries via a network of
over 3,000 feet of passageways.
Over the past year, we won a number of new
infrastructure contracts and moved forward with
pending opportunities that represent the global
breadth of our business. In Abu Dhabi, we were
awarded project management services contracts
for the multi-billion dollar Al-Falah Community
Development and a new hospital complex to
be operated by Cleveland Clinic. In Germany,
we received the ﬁrst public-private partnership
contract in that country for major improvements
to the Autobahn. In the United States, we booked
a high-occupancy vehicle toll lanes project for the
Virginia Department of Transportation designed
to ease congestion along Interstate 495. In the
United Kingdom, we passed the Highways Agency’s
new-build completion audit on England’s National
Roadway Telecommunications Service project,
which involved replacing the aging telecom
network with state-of-the-art technology along
3,000 kilometers of motorways. We also received
offshore and onshore permits for the Greater
Gabbard Wind Farm, a 500-megawatt wind farm
off the coast of England, and secured a deal
for 140 turbines for the project — the largest
agreement for offshore wind turbines to date.
NEW AWARDS IN MINING
In 2007, our mining and metals business
won a contract for engineering, procurement
and construction management (EPCM) for the
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“The two years I’ve spent with Fluor
have been the most rewarding time
of my career. I enjoy working on
the Bristol-Myers Squibb project
because it challenges me to design
in spaces with different hazard
criteria and building codes. It also
gives me a good feeling to know
that projects like this biologics
complex will have a positive impact
on the world.”
Rasheem Clark
Senior Fire Protection Designer
Bristol-Myers Squibb
Biologics Project

Industrial & Infrastructure
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Fluor is providing engineering, procurement and
construction services for the Hexcel carbon ﬁber
production line in Decatur, Alabama. (left)
Full EPCM services were used to design and
construct the latest addition to Oxiana Pty Ltd’s
mining assets in Australia. The new facilities
will process 8 million tons per annum of
copper ore. (right)

multi-billion dollar Ivanhoe Oyu Tolgoi project
in Mongolia — the world’s largest copper-gold
development project. We also booked an $800
million contract for EPCM and commissioning
services for a BHP Billiton iron ore expansion
project in Western Australia. This project is
expected to increase current mine capacity by
26 million tons per annum.
Canadian oil sands development spurred new
opportunities, prompting Fluor’s reentry into this
growing market with contracts for key mining facilities
in and around the Athabasca oil sands deposit. We
also strengthened our relationship with Barrick Gold,
one of the world’s largest gold and copper mining
companies, as we won a challenging gold, silver and
copper mine development project in Chile and moved
forward with a feasibility study for open-pit mining
operations in the Dominican Republic.
MANUFACTURING AND LIFE SCIENCES
Our manufacturing and life sciences business serves
a broad range of industries, including biotechnology,
pharmaceuticals, heavy manufacturing,
semiconductors and consumer products such as
snack foods and beverages. In 2007, we moved
forward with front-end services, permitting and

12

Industrial & Infrastructure Fluor Corporation 2007 Annual Report

program management for a multi-billion dollar solar
panel plant in Asia. We also completed multiple
snack food manufacturing projects throughout the
United States totaling over $200 million in revenue,
and we expanded our biologics work with Amgen
in Puerto Rico and California. In addition, we are
nearing completion of detailed engineering for a
large-scale cell culture facility in the northeastern
United States for Bristol-Myers Squibb and
completing feasibility studies for the ﬁrst biologics
facility in Puerto Rico.
MILESTONES AND ACCOLADES
In keeping with Fluor’s commitment to the health
and safety of our employees, we are pleased to report
that in 2007 our manufacturing and life sciences
business unit reached 1 million safe work hours
on projects for GlaxoSmithKline in both the United
States and Puerto Rico. In addition to this important
safety milestone, our infrastructure group was twice
honored for its TH 212 project for the Minnesota
Department of Transportation. Not only was it ranked
number one in the nation by Roads & Bridges
magazine on its Top 10 Roads list, but the project
also received the prestigious Minnesota Safety and
Health Achievement Recognition Program award.

STRATEGIES FOR SUCCESS
In 2008 and beyond, we will continue to focus on
large infrastructure projects that require innovative
delivery solutions in the United States, Western
Europe, Canada and the Middle East. As publicprivate partnerships become more commonplace,
especially in the transportation industry, and the
infrastructure industry grows more competitive,
Fluor’s ability to marshal the necessary resources
to execute large projects will become an even
more important advantage. With commodity prices
remaining high, we will continue to pursue large
base-metals projects and examine new markets for
expanding our mining and metals business.

As world economies grow, so do global
needs for basic infrastructure including
transportation, mining, life sciences and
telecommunications projects. Clients turn
to our Industrial & Infrastructure group for
its ability to execute complex projects with
innovation and precision — on schedule
and within budget.

Thanks to the determination of our employees
and partners around the world, our Industrial &
Infrastructure group is effectively parlaying today’s
investment surge into a solid foundation for
future business.

Fluor Corporation 2007 Annual Report Industrial & Infrastructure
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GOVERNMENT

The Strength of Commitment
Our Government group has built strong
relationships with U.S. agencies including
the Federal Emergency Management Agency
(FEMA) and the Departments of Energy,
Defense and Homeland Security. We’re working
to expand our services to the U.S. government,
while leveraging our successes to win new
projects with the governments of the United
Kingdom and Russia.
As anticipated, 2007 was a rebuilding year for
our Government business following the successful
completion of one of the largest environmental
cleanup operations in U.S. history — the 14-year
Fernald project. During the year, we made substantial
progress on our work at the Department of Energy’s
(DOE) Hanford Site, while capitalizing on our
outstanding track record and reputation in pursuing
new opportunities. We are pleased to report that
we were awarded two major long-term government
contracts, which we expect will contribute to this

DEL-JEN, Inc., provides fuels, supply, transportation, civil engineering services
and tenant units to Tyndall AFB in support of the 1st Air Force, 325th Fighter
Wing, 53rd Weapons Evaluation Group.
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segment’s growth in the future. These wins, for the
Army and the DOE, combined with our long-term
relationships with FEMA and other key customers, are
very positive examples of the strength and resiliency of
our Government team.
ENVIRONMENTAL AND NUCLEAR ACTIVITY
Large contracts for the DOE led our business as we
executed on our backlog in 2007. A good part of our
revenue for 2007 was related to our nuclear cleanup
work at the Hanford Site in Washington state, where
we have been working since 1996. During that
time, Fluor has deactivated 84 plutonium-uranium
facilities and 53 ancillary facilities, completed
cleanup work on 282 sites along the river corridor,
removed and disposed of more than 4.7 million tons
of contaminated soil and achieved multiple millionhour safety accomplishments.
Also in 2008, we expect to be moving forward on a
new award for a major management and operations
contract at the Savannah River site near Aiken, South
Carolina. This contract, valued at $4 billion over ﬁve
years, will involve environmental management and
cleanup of legacy materials that accumulated during
the Cold War, nuclear operations, nonproliferation
compliance and laboratory operations. A Fluor-led
team that includes Northrop Grumman Newport
News, Honeywell and Lockheed Martin was selected
for this important project in January 2008.
FEDERAL PROJECTS
In the federal arena, we were awarded a number
of contracts for contingency operations in 2007,
including an Army logistics civilian augmentation
program (LOGCAP IV) contract with a maximum
yearly contract value of $5 billion. LOGCAP provides
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“I’ve spent all of my 23-year career
at the Hanford Site, and I’ve been
with Fluor for the last 12 years.
My job is to ensure that casks
of hazardous waste are properly
received, disassembled, cleaned,
loaded and leak-tested for shipment
to the Waste Isolation Pilot Plant.
These shipments are heavily
scrutinized, so we want to be
perfect in this area to keep things
moving safely and on schedule.”
Cathy Polotto
Lead Nuclear Chemical Operator
Hanford Project

Government
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the military with additional support for missions,
including military construction efforts and disaster
relief. We also won a global contingency construction
contract for the Navy, as well as a prime contract
award for heavy engineering repair and construction
for the Air Force. We also continued our relationship
with FEMA, marking 9 million safe work hours in
support of Hurricane Katrina relief efforts.
DEL-JEN
Our Del-Jen service unit, a leading provider of
outsourced services to the federal government,
once again posted solid revenue growth. Del-Jen
provides everything from facility services and aircraft
refueling at military bases to training programs
through the Department of Labor.
GOVERNMENT STRATEGIES
As we work to replenish our backlog, we plan to
take steps to reduce the more cyclical aspects of our
business. For instance, we are targeting more federal
government projects such as nuclear management &
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operations and cleanup contracts — large projects
that last for several years. We will also focus on longterm base operations contracts, which continues
even when clients curtail spending on large capital
projects. We are pursuing nuclear decommissioning
opportunities in both the United States and the
United Kingdom. Fluor is actively engaged with our
teaming partner Toshiba in a competition for a longterm nuclear decommissioning project at Sellaﬁeld.
We’re interested in expanding our reach within
the DOE to entities such as the National Nuclear
Security Administration. By focusing on these
strategies, we are conﬁdent that our Government
backlog will continue to gain momentum in 2008
and beyond.

POWER

The Strength of Choice
Clean air mandates in the United States and
elsewhere are beginning to reshape the power
landscape, sparking investment in plant betterment
and renewed interest in nuclear power. At the same
time, global demand for power is on the rise —
and critical reserve margins in select regions are
shrinking. These and other drivers are fueling a wave
of investment in power generation of every kind.
Fluor has the workforce and the experience to design
and build facilities of all fuel types to meet our
clients’ needs.
NUCLEAR: OUR NEW BUSINESS LINE
We started 2007 by adding a nuclear new-build
business line to effectively position us for the
renewed interest in nuclear power in the United
States. While this is a new business line within
Power, it is certainly not a new area of expertise for
Fluor. We built nine nuclear plants during the last
nuclear cycle in the 1970s, and we have maintained
many more over the years. Now, as nuclear power
gains momentum, we look forward to leveraging our

mega-project experience and our proven expertise to
help develop the next generation of nuclear power.
We are also focused on delivering EPC services for
technologies that will be chosen by clients in Europe
and South Africa.
In order to work in the nuclear business,
companies must obtain critical “N-stamps” from
the American Society of Mechanical Engineers
(ASME) — certiﬁcations for all aspects of design
and fabrication that signify the applicant has the
appropriate procedures in place to deal with the
unique demands of a nuclear facility. We’re pleased
to report that Fluor was successfully surveyed by the
ASME for all of its nuclear stamps.
We have already made substantial headway on other
key developments in our nuclear business with the
award by Toshiba International Corporation for initial
engineering, procurement and construction services
on two new Advanced Boiler Water Reactors in South
Texas. The initial phase of this award came in the
same quarter that the project’s owners,

Facility renovations, electrical distribution systems and
infrastructure upgrades were successfully completed
for the U.S. Navy at Ford Island, Hawaii. (left)
Fluor is providing engineering, procurement,
construction and commissioning services for the
addition of ﬂue-gas desulphurization systems at two
of South Carolina Electric & Gas Company’s coalﬁred power plants in South Carolina. (right)
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In 2007, we added a nuclear business line
to our Power group, and quickly captured an
award for our ﬁrst nuclear new-build project.
Whether market demand calls for gas-ﬁred,
coal-ﬁred, nuclear or renewable fuels, Fluor
has the experience to provide the facilities
our clients choose.
NRG Energy, Inc., and CPS Energy, submitted the
ﬁrst application in more than 29 years for a nuclear
power construction and operating license (COL) to
the Nuclear Regulatory Commission. Engineering is
under way and full-scale construction is expected to
begin in 2011, once the COL has been granted.
SOLID FUELED PROJECTS STILL VITAL
Solid fueled projects remain an important part
of our Power business. The Luminant Oak Grove
project received its ﬁnal air permit from the Texas
Commission on Environmental Quality in the
second quarter, adding $1.8 billion to our backlog.
This facility, utilizing best available clean coal
technology, is part of Luminant’s effort to reduce
the air emissions levels of their power generation
ﬂeet in Texas.
We were also awarded a key project with the Navajo
Nation for the Desert Rock Energy Company involving

South Texas Project Electric Generating Station awarded a contract to Fluor
for the engineering, procurement and construction related services for two
new nuclear reactors near Bay City, Texas.
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initial program management for two coal-ﬁred power
generation units in northwest New Mexico. Full value
is expected to be booked into backlog in 2008 when
permits are received. Once operational, the $3 billion
project will provide more than $50 million in annual
revenue to the Navajo Nation. It will also provide
thousands of construction jobs and more than 400
permanent jobs for Navajo workers. According to the
Environmental Protection Agency, the Desert Rock
project will have the lowest emissions of any coalﬁred plant in the United States.
The balance of our solid fueled business is focused
on select opportunities in the United States market
as well as Europe and Southeast Asia.
NATURAL GAS UPDATE
Our gas business started the year with a $250
million procurement and construction contract for
St. Clair Power to relocate a gas-ﬁred plant from
Illinois to Ontario, Canada. With a limited number of
air permits granted for coal-ﬁred plants, we expect
an increase in our gas backlog in 2008 as gasﬁred plants ﬁll the gap. Uncertainty with respect to
carbon legislation and pricing is another challenge
that is driving our clients back toward gas-ﬁred
facilities in the near to medium term.
PLANT BETTERMENT REMAINS STRONG
We anticipate continued strength in our plant
betterment backlog as existing coal-ﬁred facilities
in the easternmost 28 states and the District
of Columbia are brought into compliance with
the Clean Air Interstate Rule (CAIR) by 2015,
permanently capping emissions of sulfur dioxide
and nitrogen oxides in these regions. In addition,
the Clean Air Mercury Rule will reduce mercury
emissions in two phases by 2018. We also see
tremendous opportunity for plant betterment
projects in Europe, where the European Large
Combustion Directive mandates stringent reductions
in emissions and enhanced efﬁciency in power
generation by 2015.
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“I’ve been with Fluor for 34 years,
and I am always amazed at the
challenges we’re able to overcome
on tough projects. If I had any
advice for a new graduate entering
the construction ﬁeld, it would
be this: You will never be able to
take the work out of a job. You may
be able to ﬁnd a better way to do
it, but you’ll never eliminate the
work. Don’t be afraid to get your
hands dirty.”
George Dove
Senior Construction Manager
Oak Grove Power Plant Project

Power
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“Since I joined Fluor’s P2S SECO
business in 1989, I’ve continued
to expand my knowledge and
skills in ways I could never have
imagined. I have learned the trade
from the bottom up, and as
I moved up into management,
I got to know more about the
aspects of the business that
I wasn’t exposed to as a ﬁeld
supervisor. Today, I am involved
with the front-end business and
day-to-day tasks that keep projects
on schedule and on budget.”
Jim Abshire
Senior Project Manager
P2S SECO
Lafayette Operations
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GLOBAL SERVICES

The Strength of Collaboration
Our Global Services team is many things to many
clients. We are a force multiplier for companies that
need to ramp up resources quickly. We’re a steadfast
procurement partner that works with world-class
suppliers to provide price and schedule certainty.
We’re efﬁciency experts who know how to help
clients maximize productivity and minimize costs.
Yet no matter what the immediate need may be, we
continually collaborate with our clients to identify
new opportunities and deliver customized integrated
solutions over the long term.
KEY BUSINESS LINES
Global Services adds value to capital projects and
sustaining operations through four business lines
which serve clients in geographically dispersed
locations that span the globe.
Operations & Maintenance
Our Operations & Maintenance business serves
clients in the power, oil and gas, metals, chemicals,
manufacturing and other industrial and commercial
markets. We support existing plants and facilities
with operations, maintenance, facility management,
turnaround, outage and small capital project services.
We also provide new facilities with operational
readiness and other construction support services.
AMECO ®
Now in its 60th year, AMECO offers proven expertise
in the delivery of mobile equipment and tool solutions
to industry and government around the world. Our
Fleet OutsourcingSM programs provide clients with
reliable equipment at a predictable cost, while our
Site ServicesSM solution helps clients maximize
construction efﬁciencies to ﬁnish the job on time and
under budget.

In Indonesia, Fluor provides operations and maintenance services
for this Freeport-McMoRan Copper & Gold Inc. power plant and its
associated transmission and distribution network.

Procurement
Global Services provides our clients with global
procurement and contracting services. Even when
resources are scarce, our robust supplier/contractor
strategic relationship agreements mean predictable
pricing and on-time delivery of goods and services
ranging from structural steel and concrete to advanced
control systems.
TRS ® Stafﬁng Solutions
With 17 ofﬁces worldwide, our TRS business supports
both Fluor and third-party clients with temporary,
direct-hire and contract professional and technical
stafﬁng solutions in industries such as energy,
transportation, chemicals and pharmaceuticals. From
construction personnel to project managers with
specialized and highly sought-after skills, TRS delivers
the experience and expertise to get the job done.
INTEGRATED SOLUTIONS
Whenever we engage a client, we look beyond the
task at hand to assess other ways to add value to
the relationship. We even create new services and
businesses to support our clients when we see it as
Fluor Corporation 2007 Annual Report Global Services
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At Eastman Chemical’s operations in Kingsport, Tennessee, Fluor provides
construction and maintenance support and tool repair services.

a viable long-term opportunity. As an example, we
continue to expand our plant and site engineering
capabilities and improve responsiveness by selectively
opening regional ofﬁces near our clients’ operations.
Thanks to our integrated approach to providing client
services, we now generally deliver two or three of our
key services at each location rather than just one.
MODERATING CYCLICALITY
While other Fluor groups focus on large, complex
projects in their respective markets, Global Services
serves a large number of clients across very diverse
markets. In fact, in 2007 alone, Global Services
operated on over 300 sites around the world. Our
projects are typically booked and initiated in the same
year and extend for many more years, which helps to
moderate the cyclical nature of other Fluor businesses.

Global Services works collaboratively
with our clients and suppliers to deliver
operations and maintenance, construction
equipment, staff augmentation and
procurement services across a diverse set
of industries. We also provide supplemental
services that give other Fluor business
groups a competitive edge and add to Fluor’s
overall service offering.
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AMECO supplies construction equipment and tools for Nexen at the
Long Lake Project near Fort McMurray, Canada.

A WORLD OF OPPORTUNITY
Looking ahead, our opportunities for growth remain as
promising as ever. More and more, we are expanding
our reach and strengthening existing relationships.
Once we’re in a particular region, we look for other
prospects in the area that could beneﬁt from our
service offerings. By doing what we do best, we make
it possible for clients to secure essential resources,
streamline operations, enhance productivity — and
focus on doing what they do best.

OUR EMPLOYEES

The Strength of Dedication
In times like these, when the markets we serve are
all growing, the availability of critical resources is a
top priority. That is why Fluor is committed to doing
what it takes to remain an employer of choice.
OPPORTUNITIES FOR ADVANCEMENT
No other company offers so many exciting career
opportunities. The wide diversity of markets that
Fluor serves offers employees the chance to work
on the world’s most technically challenging and
complex projects — and to do so in all corners
of the globe. Fluor’s investments in training
and strong culture of knowledge sharing enable
individuals to learn and grow, and those who
show strong technical, business and teamwork
skills are progressively moved into roles of greater
responsibility and advancement.
From new hires to our experienced professionals,
we make signiﬁcant efforts to measure and

strengthen employee engagement and to stay
ahead of employment trends that affect an
employer’s attractiveness.
RECOGNITION AND RESPECT
Successfully working on projects of remarkable size
and complexity results in both personal satisfaction
and the admiration from other professionals around
the world. We recognize that the passion our
employees bring to their work everyday is the reason
Fluor is an industry leader, and we work to ensure
our company’s culture supports their endeavors.
Offering challenging assignments, a supportive work
environment and the potential for rewarding careers
are all key components of our Human Resources
strategy. Our employees know the fulﬁllment that
comes from a job well done is worth their dedication
and superior efforts.

Members of the Graduates Advancing to Professionalism (GAP) program in Sugar Land, Texas.

Our Employees
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New Awards and Backlog Data
NEW AWARDS BY SEGMENT
2007

Year Ended December 31

Percent

2006

Percent

2005

Percent

($ in millions)
Oil & Gas

$ 13,540

60%

$ 10,410

54%

$ 4,430

36%

Industrial &
Infrastructure

3,364

15%

4,455

23%

2,350

19%

Global Services

2,237

10%

1,606

9%

2,177

17%

Power

2,226

10%

635

3%

1,025

8%

Government

1,223

5%

2,170

11%

2,535

20%

$ 22,590

100%

$ 19,276

100%

$ 12,517

100%

Total New Awards

NEW AWARDS BY REGION

60% Oil & Gas

2007

Year Ended December 31

Percent

2006

Percent

2005

Percent

10% Power

$ 10,626

47%

$ 9,526

49%

$ 4,892

39%

Europe, Africa and
Middle East

8,734

39%

6,652

35%

5,088

41%

Americas

1,642

7%

2,353

12%

1,256

10%

Asia Paciﬁc
(includes Australia)

1,588

7%

745

4%

1,281

10%

$ 22,590

100%

$ 19,276

100%

$ 12,517

100%

Total New Awards

15% Industrial & Infrastructure
10% Global Services

($ in millions)
United States

2007 CONSOLIDATED
NEW AWARDS

5% Government

2007 CONSOLIDATED
BACKLOG

BACKLOG BY SEGMENT
2007

Year Ended December 31

Percent

2006

Percent

2005

Percent

($ in millions)
Oil & Gas

$ 18,517

61%

$ 11,986

55%

$ 6,044

40%

Industrial &
Infrastructure

6,053

20%

5,438

25%

3,886

26%

Global Services

2,481

8%

2,337

10%

2,463

17%

Power

2,380

8%

1,277

6%

1,112

7%

740

3%

840

4%

1,422

10%

$ 30,171

100%

$ 21,878

100%

$ 14,927

100%

Government
Total Backlog

BACKLOG BY REGION
Year Ended December 31

2007

Percent

2006

Percent

2005

Percent

($ in millions)
United States
Europe, Africa and
Middle East
Asia Paciﬁc
(includes Australia)
Americas
Total Backlog
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$ 13,326

44%

$ 9,010

41%

$ 5,290

35%

12,894

43%

9,080

42%

5,890

40%

2,096

7%

1,096

5%

1,229

8%

1,855

6%

2,692

12%

2,518

17%

$ 30,171

100%

$ 21,878

100%

$ 14,927

100%
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61% Oil & Gas
20% Industrial & Infrastructure
8% Global Services
8% Power
3% Government

Selected Financial Data
CONSOLIDATED OPERATING RESULTS
Year Ended December 31

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

(in millions, except per-share amounts)
Revenue

$16,691.0

$14,078.5

$13,161.0

$ 9,380.3

$ 8,805.7

Earnings from continuing operations before taxes

649.1

382.0

299.6

281.2

268.0

Earnings from continuing operations

533.3

263.5

227.3

186.7

179.5

Loss from discontinued operations

–

–

–

–

Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

–

–

–

–

533.3

263.5

227.3

186.7

Net earnings

(11.6)
(10.4)
157.5

Basic earnings (loss) per share
Continuing operations

6.11

3.05

2.68

2.29

Discontinued operations

–

–

–

–

(0.15)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle

–

–

–

–

(0.13)

6.11

3.05

2.68

2.29

Net earnings

2.25

1.97

Diluted earnings (loss) per share
Continuing operations

5.85

2.95

2.62

2.25

Discontinued operations

–

–

–

–

(0.15)

Cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle

–

–

–

–

(0.13)

Net earnings

$

Return on average shareholders’ equity
Cash dividends per common share

5.85

$

2.95

27.7%
$

0.80

$

15.2%
$

0.80

2.62

$

15.5%
$

0.64

2.25

2.23

$

15.7%
$

0.64

1.95
16.2%

$

0.64

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION
$ 4,059.5

$ 3,323.6

$ 3,108.2

$ 2,723.3

$ 2,205.5

Current liabilities

2,860.1

2,406.3

2,339.3

1,764.0

1,821.0

Working capital

1,199.4

917.3

768.9

959.3

384.5

784.4

692.1

581.5

527.8

569.5

5,796.2

4,874.9

4,574.4

3,969.6

3,441.3

307.2

330.0

330.0

330.0

–

–

192.8

57.6

–

–

Current assets

Property, plant and equipment, net
Total assets
Capitalization
Convertible Senior Notes
Non-recourse project ﬁnance debt
Other debt obligations
Shareholders’ equity
Total capitalization
Total debt as a percent of total capitalization
Shareholders’ equity per common share

17.7

36.8

34.5

147.6

266.2

2,274.5

1,730.5

1,630.6

1,335.8

1,081.5

2,599.4

2,290.1

2,052.7

1,813.4

1,347.7

12.5%
$

Common shares outstanding at year end

25.64

24.4%
$

19.66

20.6%
$

18.72

26.3%
$

15.81

19.7%
$

13.17

88.7

88.0

87.1

84.5

82.1

$22,590.1

$19,276.2

$12,517.4

$13,028.6

$9,976.0

30,170.8

21,877.7

14,926.6

14,765.8

10,607.1

284.2

274.1

213.2

104.4

79.2

(84.2)

$ (303.7)

OTHER DATA
New awards
Backlog at year end
Capital expenditures–continuing operations
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities

$

905.0

$

296.2

$

408.7

$

Salaried employees

25,842

22,078

17,795

17,344

17,564

Craft/hourly employees

15,418

15,482

17,041

17,455

11,447

Total employees

41,260

37,560

34,836

34,799

29,011

Earnings from Continuing Operations in 2007 includes a credit of $123 million ($1.35 per share) relating to the favorable settlement of tax audits for
the years 1996 through 2000. Loss from Discontinued Operations in 2003 relates to the 2001 decision to exit non-core construction equipment
and temporary stafﬁng business.
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President and Chief
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From left to right:
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Alan L. Boeckmann
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Ofﬁcer (1979)

Jeffery L. Faulk
Senior Group President,
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Group President, Global Services
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Group President,
Industrial & Infrastructure (1980)
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Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Ofﬁcer (2001)
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(1970)
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Security & Industrial Relations
(1978)

David T. Seaton
Group President,
Energy & Chemicals (1985)
Stephen B. Dobbs
Senior Group President, Industrial
& Infrastructure, Global Services
and Government (1980)

This ofﬁcer information is for the period ending December 31, 2007. See discussion on page 41 of Form 10-K regarding executive ofﬁcers as of February 29, 2008.
Years in parentheses indicate the year each ofﬁcer joined the company.
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Vilma S. Martinez
Partner at the law
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& Olson; Director
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Companies, Inc. and
Burlington Northern
Santa Fe Corporation
(1993) (2) (3)
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Admiral Joseph
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University; Former
U.S. Ambassador to
the People’s Republic
of China; Director of
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Vice Chairman,
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President and Chief
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Dr. Suzanne H.
Woolsey
Former Chief
Communications
Ofﬁcer for the
National Academies;
Trustee of Van
Kampen Funds, Inc.
(2004) (2) (3)

Years in parentheses indicate the year each director was elected to the board. (1) Executive Committee — Alan L. Boeckmann, Chairman; (2) Audit Committee —
Dean R. O’Hare, Chairman; (3) Governance Committee — Lord Robin W. Renwick, Chairman; (4) Organization and Compensation Committee — Peter J. Fluor, Chairman

Not shown:

David M. Marventano
Senior Vice President,
Government Relations (2003)
Joanna M. Oliva
Vice President and Treasurer
(2001)
Richard P. Carter
President, Fluor Constructors
International (1983)
Victor L. Prechtl
Vice President and Controller
(1981)
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Understanding Our Form 10-K
PROMOTING TRANSPARENCY FOR OUR SHAREHOLDERS
By including the Form 10-K in our Annual Report, we provide investors with more comprehensive
information about our company in one place. The following overview is designed to help you easily
ﬁnd and understand the ﬁnancial information in this document.
FORM 10-K OVERVIEW
Our Form 10-K has four parts:
PART 1: OUR BUSINESS
In-depth descriptions of our business and segments, competition, employees, company risk
factors and properties.
PART 2: OUR FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Contains share performance information, selected ﬁnancial data, management’s discussion of our
results of operations and financial condition and selected data.
PART 3: OUR MANAGEMENT
A listing of our executive ofﬁcers with brief biographies. Also directs readers to our proxy
statement for the details on our board of directors and executive compensation.
PART 4: EXHIBITS
Contains our ﬁnancial statements, a listing of other exhibits, certain executive and directors’ signatures,
and executive ofﬁcer certiﬁcations.

The graph to the right depicts the company’s

$600

total return to shareholders from January
1, 2002, through December 31, 2007,

$500

relative to the performance of the S&P
500 Composite Index and the Dow Jones

$400

Heavy Construction Industry Group Index
(“DJ Heavy”), which is a published industry

$300

index. This graph assumes the investment
of $100 on January 1, 2002, in each of

$200

Fluor Corporation, the S&P 500 Composite
$100

Index and the Dow Jones Heavy Construction
Industry Group Index, and the reinvestment of
dividends paid since that date.
FLUOR
DJ Heavy
S&P 500
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2002

2003

2004

2005

2006

2007

$100.00
$100.00
$100.00

$143.86
$135.25
$128.36

$200.14
$162.81
$142.14

$286.03
$234.14
$149.01

$305.24
$291.17
$172.27

$547.75
$552.09
$181.72
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From time to time, Fluor Corporation makes certain comments and disclosures in reports and
statements, including this annual report on Form 10-K, or statements are made by its officers or directors,
that, while based on reasonable assumptions, may be forward-looking in nature. Under the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, a ‘‘safe harbor’’ may be provided to us for certain of these
forward-looking statements. We wish to caution readers that forward-looking statements, including
disclosures which use words such as the company ‘‘believes,’’ ‘‘anticipates,’’ ‘‘expects,’’ ‘‘estimates’’ and
similar statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties which could cause actual results of
operations to differ materially from expectations.
Any forward-looking statements that we may make are based on our current expectations and beliefs
concerning future developments and their potential effects on us. There can be no assurance that future
developments affecting us will be those anticipated by us. Any forward-looking statements are subject to
the risks, uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results of operations, financial condition,
cost reductions, acquisitions, dispositions, financing transactions, operations, expansion, consolidation and
other events to differ materially from those expressed or implied in such forward-looking statements. The
most significant of these risks, uncertainties and other factors are described in this Form 10-K, including in
Item 1A. — ‘‘Risk Factors.’’ Except as otherwise required by law, we undertake no obligation to publicly
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or
otherwise. Due to known and unknown risks, the company’s actual results may differ materially from its
expectations or projections. While most risks affect only future cost or revenue anticipated by the
company, some risks may relate to accruals that have already been reflected in earnings. The company’s
failure to receive payments of accrued amounts or incurrence of liabilities in excess of amounts previously
recognized could result in a charge against future earnings. As a result, the reader is cautioned to
recognize and consider the inherently uncertain nature of forward-looking statements and not to place
undue reliance on them.
Except as the context otherwise requires, the terms ‘‘Fluor’’ or the ‘‘Registrant’’ as used herein are
references to Fluor Corporation and its predecessors and references to the ‘‘company,’’ ‘‘we,’’ ‘‘us,’’ or
‘‘our’’ as used herein shall include Fluor Corporation, its consolidated subsidiaries and divisions.
PART I
Item 1. Business
Fluor Corporation was incorporated in Delaware on September 11, 2000 prior to a reverse spin-off
transaction that separated us from our coal business which now operates as Massey Energy Company.
However, through various of our predecessors, we have been in business for more than 100 years. Our
principal executive offices are located at 6700 Las Colinas Boulevard, Irving, Texas 75039, telephone
number (469) 398-7000.
Our common stock currently trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol ‘‘FLR’’.
Fluor is a holding company that owns the stock of a number of subsidiaries. Acting through these
subsidiaries, we are one of the largest professional services firms, providing engineering, procurement and
construction management (‘‘EPCM’’) and project management services on a global basis. We serve a
diverse set of industries worldwide including oil and gas, chemical and petrochemicals, transportation,
mining and metals, power, life sciences and manufacturing. We are also a primary service provider to the
United States federal government. We perform operations and maintenance activities for major industrial
clients and, in some cases, operate and maintain their equipment fleet.
Our business is aligned into five principal operating segments. The five segments are Oil & Gas,
Industrial & Infrastructure, Government, Global Services and Power. Fluor Constructors
International, Inc., which is organized and operates separately from our business segments, provides
unionized management and construction services in the United States and Canada, both independently
and as a subcontractor on projects in each of our segments. Financial information on our segments, as
defined under accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, is set forth on page F-31 of
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this annual report on Form 10-K under the caption ‘‘Operating Information by Segment,’’ which is
incorporated herein by reference.
Competitive Strengths
As a fully-integrated world class provider of EPCM services, we believe that our business model allows
us the opportunity to bring to our clients a compelling business offering that combines excellence in
execution, safety, cost containment and experience. In that regard, we believe that our business strategy,
which is based on certain of our core competencies, provides us with some significant competitive
advantages:
Excellence in Execution As an EPCM company with a proven track record of project completion and
client satisfaction, we believe that our ability to engineer, construct and manage complex projects often in
geographically challenging locations gives us a distinct competitive advantage. We strive to complete our
projects on schedule while meeting or exceeding all client specifications. In an increasingly competitive
environment, we are also continually emphasizing cost controls so that our clients achieve not only their
performance requirements but also their budgetary needs.
Financial Strength We believe that we are among the most financially sound companies in our sector.
We strive to maintain a solid financial condition, placing an emphasis on having a strong balance sheet and
an investment grade credit rating. Our financial strength also provides us a valuable competitive advantage
in terms of access to bonding capacity and letters of credit which are critical to our business. Our financial
strength also allows us to fund our strategic initiatives, pay dividends and pursue opportunities for growth.
Finally, as a result of our strong balance sheet, we can better manage unanticipated cash flow variations.
Safety One of our core values and a fundamental business strategy is our constant pursuit of safety.
Both for us and our clients, the maintenance of a safe workplace is a key business driver. In the areas in
which we provide our services, we have delivered and continue to deliver excellent safety performance,
with our safety record being significantly better than the national industry average. In our estimation, a
safe job site decreases risks on a project site, assures a proper environment for our employees and
enhances their morale, reduces project cost and exposures and generally improves client relations. We
believe that our safety record is one of our most distinguishing features.
Global Execution Platform As the largest U.S.-based, publicly-traded EPCM company, we have a
global footprint with employees in more than 70 countries and in almost 200 offices. Our global presence
allows us to build local relationships that permit us to capitalize better on opportunities near these
locations. It also provides comfort to our larger internationally-based customers that we know and
understand the markets where they may elect to use our services and allows us to mobilize quickly to those
locations where our projects arise.
Market Diversity The company serves multiple markets across a broad spectrum of industries. We feel
that our market diversity is a key strength of our company that helps to mitigate the impact of the
cyclicality in the markets we serve. Just as important, our concentrated attention on market diversification
allows us to achieve more consistent growth and deliver solid returns. We believe that our continued
strategy of maintaining a good balance across our entire business portfolio permits us to focus on our more
stable business markets while also remaining ready to capitalize on developing our cyclical markets when
the timing is appropriate. This strategy also allows us to better weather any downturns in a specific market
by emphasizing markets that are strong.
Long Term Client Relationships While we aggressively work towards pursuing and serving new clients,
we also believe that the long term relationships we have built with our major clients, often after decades of
work with many of them, allow us to better understand and be more responsive to our clients’
requirements. These types of relationships also facilitate a better understanding of many of the risks that
we might face with a project or a client, thereby allowing us to better anticipate risks, solve problems and
manage our risk. We have worked towards an almost alliance-like relationship with many of these clients
and, in doing so, we better understand their business needs.
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Risk Management We believe that our ability to assess, understand and gauge project risk, especially in
difficult locations or circumstances or in a lump sum contracting environment, gives us the ability to
selectively enter into markets or accept projects where we feel we can best perform. We have an
experienced management team, particularly in risk management and project execution, that helps us to
better understand potential risks and, therefore, how to manage them. Our risk management capabilities
result in controlled cost and timely performance which in turn leads to clients who are satisfied with the
delivered product.
General Operations
Our services fall into five broad categories: engineering, procurement, construction, maintenance and
project management. We offer these services independently as well as on a fully integrated basis. Our
services can range from basic consulting activities, often at the early stages of a project, to complete,
sole-responsibility, design build contracts.
• In the engineering area, our expertise ranges from traditional engineering disciplines such as piping,
mechanical, electrical, civil, structural and architectural to advanced engineering specialties
including simulation, enterprise integration, integrated automation processes and interactive 3-D
modeling. As part of these services, we often provide conceptual design services, which allow us to
align each project’s function, scope, cost and schedule with the customer’s objectives in order to
optimize project success. Also included within these services are such activities as feasibility studies,
project development planning, technology evaluation, risk management assessment, global siting,
constructability reviews, asset optimization and front-end engineering.
• Our procurement team offers traditional procurement services as well as a new supply chain
solutions model that is aimed at improving product quality and performance while also reducing
project cost and schedule. Our clients benefit from our global sourcing and supply expertise, global
purchasing volume, access, technical knowledge, competitive pricing and attention to service. Our
activities include sourcing, material control, buying, procurement management, expediting, supplier
quality inspection, logistics and field material management.
• In the construction area we mobilize, execute, commission and demobilize projects on a
self-perform or subcontracted basis or through construction management as the owner’s agent.
Generally, we are responsible for the completion of a project, often in difficult locations and under
challenging circumstances. We are frequently designated as a program manager, where a client has
facilities in multiple locations, complex phases in a single project location, or a large-scale
investment in a facility. Depending upon the project, we may be the primary contractor or we may
act as a subcontractor to another party.
• Under our operations and maintenance contracts, our clients ask us to operate and maintain large,
complex facilities for them. We do so through the delivery of total maintenance services, facility
management, plant readiness, commissioning, start-up and maintenance technology, small capital
projects and turnaround and outage services, on a global basis. Among other things, we can provide
key management, staffing and management skills to clients on-site at their facilities. Our operations
and maintenance activities can also include routine and outage/turnaround maintenance services,
general maintenance and asset management, and restorative, repair, predictive and prevention
services.
• Project management is required on every project, with the primary responsibility of managing all
aspects of the effort to deliver projects on schedule and within budget. Fluor is often hired as the
overall program manager on large complex projects where various contractors and subcontractors
are involved and multiple activities need to be integrated to ensure the success of the overall
project. Project management is responsible for developing project execution plans, detailed
schedules, cost forecasts, progress tracking and reporting, and the integration of the engineering,
procurement and construction efforts. Project management is accountable to the Client to deliver
the safety, functionality and financial performance requirements of the project.
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We operate in five basic business segments, as described below:
Oil & Gas
Through our Oil & Gas segment, we have long served the global oil and gas production and
processing industries as an integrated service provider offering a full range of design, engineering,
procurement, construction and project management services to a broad spectrum of energy-related
industries. We serve a number of specific industries including upstream oil and gas production,
downstream refining and integrated petrochemicals. While we perform projects that range greatly in size
and scope, we believe that one of our distinguishing features is that we are one of the few companies that
have the global strength and reach to perform extremely large projects in difficult locations. As the
demand for oil and gas continues to increase, and as the locations of large scale oil and gas projects tend to
become more challenging geographically, geopolitically or otherwise, we believe that clients will continue
to look to us based upon our size, strength and experience. Moreover, as many of our key oil and gas
customers continue to recognize that they need to invest and expend resources to meet oil and gas
demands, we believe that the company has been and will continue to be extremely well-positioned to
capitalize on these growing opportunities.
With each specific project, our role can vary. We may be involved in providing front-end engineering,
program management and final design services, construction management services, self-perform
construction, or oversight of other contractors and we may also assume responsibility for the procurement
of labor, materials, equipment and subcontractors. We have the capacity to design and construct new
facilities, upgrade and revamp existing facilities, rebuild facilities following fires and explosions, and
expand refineries, pipeline and offshore facility installations. We also provide consulting services ranging
from feasibility studies to process assessment to project finance structuring and studies.
In the upstream sector, increasing demand for oil and gas coupled with high oil and gas prices has
resulted in the need for our clients to develop new opportunities. Our typical projects in the upstream
sector revolve around the production, processing and transporting of oil and gas resources, including the
development of major new fields, as well as liquefied natural gas (LNG) projects.
In the downstream sector, demand for refined products is increasing on a global basis and we continue
to pursue significant opportunities. Our clients are modernizing and modifying existing refineries to
increase capacity and satisfy environmental requirements, and we continue to play a strong role in each of
these markets. We also have seen that the ongoing strength of oil and gas prices is facilitating the
development of new refineries on a global basis. We also remain focused on markets such as oil sands
development, as well as in clean fuels, both domestically and internationally, where an increasing number
of countries are implementing stronger environmental policies. As heavier feedstocks become more viable
to refine, we employ our strength in technologies to pursue opportunities that facilitate the removal of
sulfur from this heavier crude.
In the petrochemicals market, we continue to pursue numerous opportunities, especially those
involving the expansion of ethylene and polysilicon production. Particular focus is placed on the Middle
Eastern markets near to where the feedstocks are located, and the Chinese market where there is strong
need for the petrochemical products.
With our partner Grupo ICA, we maintain a joint venture known as ICA Fluor, through which we
continue to participate in the Mexican and Central American oil, gas, power and chemical markets.
Industrial & Infrastructure
The Industrial & Infrastructure segment provides design, engineering, procurement and construction
services, with respect to both new construction and refurbishment, to the transportation, mining and
metals, life sciences, telecommunications, manufacturing, commercial and institutional development,
microelectronics and healthcare sectors. These projects often require state-of-the-art application of our
clients’ processes and intellectual knowledge. We focus on providing our clients with solutions to reduce
and contain cost and to compress delivery schedules. By doing so, we are able to complete our clients’
projects on a quicker, more cost efficient basis.
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In Transportation, we continue to promote our business model of large complex projects. We provide
a broad range of services including consulting, design, planning, financial structuring, engineering and
construction management, domestically and internationally. Our service offerings include roads, highways,
bridges, rail and airports. As demand for these services increases while at the same time government
budgets become increasingly constrained, many of our projects involve the use of so-called public/private
partnerships. Under these arrangements, we are able to develop and finance deals in concert with public
entities for projects such as toll roads which would not have otherwise been commenced had only public
funding been available.
Mining and metals has been a particularly strong area of growth. For many years, mining did not
receive adequate investment; as commodity prices and business and consumer demand has increased,
mining opportunities have similarly increased. The company has traditionally provided the full range of
EPCM services to the mining industry. We believe we are one of the few companies with the size and
experience to pursue large scale mining projects in difficult locations.
Life Sciences, encompassing primarily the pharmaceuticals and biotechnology industries, remains a
key focus of the Industrial & Infrastructure segment. In this area, we provide design, engineering,
procurement, construction and construction management services. We also specialize in providing
validation and commissioning services where we not only bring new facilities into production but we also
keep existing facilities operating. As a fully integrated provider of services to Life Sciences customers, we
can provide all the necessary tools to successfully create and complete projects. The ability to do this on a
large scale basis, especially in a business where time to market is critical, allows us to better serve our
customers and is a key competitive advantage.
In Telecommunications, we provide design, engineering, procurement and construction management
services, especially in the European markets.
In Manufacturing, we provide engineering, design, procurement, consulting, construction and
construction management services to a wide variety of industries. We have seen particular growth in the
consumer electronics arena in areas such as glass manufacturing where a facility can manufacture glass for
flat panel monitors, notebook computers and flat screen televisions. Similarly, we have seen opportunities
for chip fabrication and microelectronic facilities.
We also continue to pursue projects in the Healthcare market. Potential projects include for-profit
and nonprofit healthcare centers as well as university medical centers.
Government
Fluor’s Government Group is a provider of engineering, construction, contingency response,
management and operations services to the United States government. In the United States, we are
primarily focused on the Department of Energy, the Department of Homeland Security and the
Department of Defense. Because the U.S. government is the single largest purchaser of outsourced
services in the world, with a relatively stable year-to-year budget, it represents an attractive and less cyclical
growth opportunity for the company.
Services that we provide to the Department of Energy for their project site in Hanford, Washington
include site management, environmental remediation, decommissioning, engineering and construction. We
have been very successful in addressing the myriad of environmental and regulatory challenges associated
with these types of sites, as evidenced by our successful and timely closure of the Department of Energy’s
superfund site in Fernald, Ohio. We are leveraging our skills and experience to pursue attractive domestic
and international opportunities with the Department of Energy, the National Nuclear Security
Administration and the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority (United Kingdom).
Fluor’s Government Group provides engineering and construction services, as well as contingency
operations support, to the Department of Defense. We support military logistical and infrastructure needs
around the world. In combination with our subsidiary, Del-Jen, Inc., we are a leading provider of
outsourced services to the federal government. We provide operations and maintenance services at military
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bases and education and training services to the Department of Labor, particularly through Job Corps
programs.
The company is also providing significant support to the Department of Homeland Security. We are
particularly involved in supporting the U.S. government’s rapid response capabilities to address security
issues and disaster relief, the latter primarily through our long-standing relationship with the Federal
Emergency Management Agency.
Global Services
The Global Services segment integrates a variety of customized service capabilities that assist
industrial clients in improving the performance of their plants and facilities. Capabilities within Global
Services include operations and maintenance activities, small capital project engineering and execution,
site equipment and tool services, industrial fleet outsourcing, plant turnaround services, temporary staffing
and supply chain solutions.
Support services for large capital projects are provided to clients in concert with other Fluor segments
or on a standalone basis. Continuing operations and sustaining small capital project services are frequently
executed under multi-year alliance style agreements directly between Global Services and its clients.
Clients increasingly demand these services to help achieve substantial operations improvements while they
remain focused on their core business functions.
Global Services’ activities in the operations and maintenance markets include providing facility
start-up and management, plant and facility maintenance, operations support and asset management
services to the oil and gas, chemicals, life sciences, mining and metals, power and manufacturing industries.
We are a leading supplier of operations and maintenance services, providing our service offerings both
domestically and internationally.
Included within Global Services is Plant Performance Services LLC, or P2SSM. P2S is one of the
largest specialty, rapid response service providers in the United States, performing small capital
engineering and construction, specialty welding, electrical and instrumentation, fabrication, mechanical,
turnaround and demolition services.
We also provide Site ServicesSM and Fleet OutsourcingSM through American Equipment
Company, Inc., or AMECO. AMECO provides integrated construction equipment, tool, and fleet service
solutions on a global basis for construction projects and plant sites of both third party clients and clients of
the company. AMECO supports large construction projects and plants at locations throughout North and
South America, South Africa and the Middle East.
Global Services serves the temporary staffing market through TRS Staffing Solutions, Inc. or TRS.
TRS is a global enterprise of staffing specialists that provides the company and third party clients with
recruiting and permanent placement services and the placement of contract technical professionals.
Our supply chain solutions unit provides global procurement resources, processes, systems, market
knowledge and volume-leveraged pricing to the company and third parties. We offer reliable project
deliveries, innovative performance solutions and project savings to the company and its clients through the
combination of industry-leading technologies, our global execution platform and our large spend on goods
and services.
Power
In the Power segment, we provide a full range of services to the gas fueled, solid fueled, renewables,
nuclear and plant betterment marketplaces. Our services include engineering, procurement, construction,
program management, start-up and commissioning and maintenance. In the gas fueled market, we offer a
full range of services for simple and combined cycle reference designs as well as complete solutions for
Integrated Gasification Combined Cycle (IGCC) technologies. In the solid fueled market, we offer a full
range of services for subcritical, supercritical, ultra-supercritical and circulating fluidized bed (CFB)
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technologies through a range of reference designs. In the renewables market, we offer a full range of
EPCM and program management services for all types of facilities. In the emerging nuclear market, we are
strategically positioned to offer Fluor’s extensive nuclear experience on a global basis. Our services include
engineering, construction and quality control. In the plant betterment market, we design, install and
commission emissions equipment in order to assist our clients with environmental guideline compliance.
One of the key markets we focus on is the coal-fired generation market. This business line taps into
one of the world’s largest indigenous fuel sources while delivering proven full scale technology for base
load capacity within compliance of the stated industry emission guidelines. We also focus considerable
effort on the gas fueled power market, where Fluor was an industry leader in the past building cycle. To
assist owners to comply with the current Clean Air Interstate Rule, our plant betterment unit offers
engineering, procurement, construction and commissioning solutions utilizing both conventional and
multi-pollutant technologies. The re-emergence of nuclear power in the U.S. market would significantly
assist in the overall reduction of carbon dioxide emissions and provide economical solutions for capacity
additions. We are positioned for this market in the United States and globally offering a wide range of
proven services. For clients looking to expand their renewables generation portfolio, we provide a full
service solution for biomass fuels. We also provide a comprehensive program management capability for
wind and solar projects.
Other Matters
Backlog
Backlog in the engineering and construction industry is a measure of the total dollar value of work to
be performed on contracts awarded and in progress. The following table sets forth the consolidated
backlog of the Oil & Gas, Industrial & Infrastructure, Government, Global Services and Power segments
at December 31, 2007 and 2006.
December 31, December 31,
2007
2006
(in millions)

Oil & Gas . . . . . . . . . . . .
Industrial & Infrastructure .
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$18,517
6,053
740
2,481
2,380

$11,986
5,438
840
2,337
1,277

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$30,171

$21,878

The following table sets forth our consolidated backlog at December 31, 2007 and 2006 by region.
December 31, December 31,
2007
2006
(in millions)
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$13,326
2,096
12,894
1,855

$ 9,010
1,096
9,080
2,692

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$30,171

$21,878

For purposes of the preceding tables, we include our operations and maintenance activities when we
compute our backlog for our Global Services segment; however, the equipment, temporary staffing and
supply chain solutions operations of our Global Services segment do not report backlog due to the quick
turnaround between the receipt of new awards and the recognition of revenue. With respect to backlog in
our Government segment, if a contract covers multiple years, we only include the amounts for which
Congressional funding has been approved and then only for that portion of the work to be completed in
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the next 12 months. For projects related to proportionately consolidated joint ventures, we include only
our percentage ownership of each joint venture’s backlog.
We expect to perform approximately 50% of our backlog in 2008. The dollar amount of the backlog is
not necessarily indicative of our future revenue or earnings related to the performance of such work.
Although backlog represents only business which is considered to be firm, there can be no assurance that
cancellations or scope adjustments will not occur. Due to additional factors outside of our control, such as
changes in project schedules, we cannot predict the portion of our December 31, 2007 backlog estimated to
be performed annually subsequent to 2008.
For additional information with respect to our backlog, please refer to Item 7. — ‘‘Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation,’’ below.
Types of Contracts
While the basic terms and conditions of the contracts that we perform may vary considerably,
generally we perform our work under two groups of contracts: cost reimbursable contracts, and guaranteed
maximum or fixed-price contracts. In some markets, we are seeing ‘‘hybrid’’ contracts containing both
fixed-price and cost reimbursable elements. As of December 31, 2007, the following table breaks down the
percentage and amount of revenue associated with these types of contracts for our existing backlog:
2007 Backlog
(in millions) Percentage

Cost Reimbursable . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Guaranteed Maximum and Fixed-Price . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

$22,931
7,240

76%
24%

Under cost reimbursable contracts, the client reimburses our cost in performing a project and pays us
a pre-determined fee or a fee based upon a percentage of the cost incurred in completing the project. Our
profit may be in the form of a fee, a simple mark-up applied to labor cost incurred in performing the
contract, or a combination of the two. The fee element may also vary. The fee may be an incentive fee
based upon achieving certain performance factors, milestones or targets; it may be a fixed amount in the
contract; or it may be based upon a percentage of the cost incurred.
Our Government segment, as a prime contractor or a major subcontractor for a number of United
States government programs, generally performs its services under cost reimbursable contracts although
subject to applicable statutes and regulations. In many cases, these contracts include incentive-fee
arrangements. The programs in question often take many years to complete and may be implemented by
the award of many different contracts. Despite the fact that these programs are generally awarded on a
multi-year basis, the funding for the programs is generally approved on an annual basis by Congress. The
government is under no obligation to maintain funding at any specific level, or funds for a program may
even be eliminated thereby significantly curtailing or stopping a program.
Some of our government contracts are known as Indefinite Delivery Indefinite Quantity (IDIQ)
agreements. Under these arrangements, we work closely with the government to define the scope and
amount of work required based upon an estimate of the maximum amount that the government desires to
spend. While the scope is often not initially fully defined or requires any specific amount of work, once the
project scope is determined, additional work may be awarded to us without the need for further
competitive bidding.
Guaranteed maximum price contracts, or GMAX contracts, are performed in a manner similar to cost
reimbursable contracts except that the total fee plus the total cost cannot exceed an agreed upon
guaranteed maximum price. We can be responsible for some or all of the total cost of the project if the cost
exceeds the guaranteed maximum price. Where the total cost is less than the negotiated guaranteed
maximum price, we will receive the benefit of the cost savings based upon a negotiated agreement with the
client.
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Fixed-price contracts include both negotiated fixed-price contracts and lump sum contracts. Under
negotiated fixed-price contracts, we are selected as contractor first, and then we negotiate price with the
client. These types of contracts generally occur where we commence work before a final price is agreed
upon. Under lump sum contracts, we bid on a contract based upon specifications provided by the client
against competitors, agreeing to develop a project at a fixed price. Another type of fixed-price contract is a
so-called unit price contract under which we are paid a set amount for every ‘‘unit’’ of work performed. In
some fixed-price contracts, we can benefit from some of the cost savings depending upon whether the
client is willing to bear some of the risk if the actual cost exceeds the contract award. As a result, if we
perform well, we can benefit from cost savings; however, if the project does not proceed as originally
planned, we cannot recover cost overruns except in certain limited situations.
Competition
We are one of the world’s largest providers of engineering, procurement and construction services.
The markets served by our business are highly competitive and for the most part require substantial
resources and highly skilled and experienced technical personnel. A large number of companies are
competing in the markets served by our business, including U.S.-based companies such as Bechtel
Group, Inc., Jacobs Engineering Group, Inc., KBR Inc., Chicago Bridge and Iron Company N.V., CH2M
Hill Companies Limited, the Shaw Group and URS Corporation, and international companies such as
Foster Wheeler Ltd., Technip, WorleyParsons Limited and AMEC plc.
In the engineering and construction arena, our competition is primarily centered on performance and
the ability to provide the design, engineering, planning, management and project execution skills required
to complete complex projects in a safe, timely and cost-efficient manner. Our engineering, procurement
and construction business derives its competitive strength from our diversity, reputation for quality,
technology, cost-effectiveness, worldwide procurement capability, project management expertise,
geographic coverage and ability to meet client requirements by performing construction on either a union
or an open shop basis, ability to execute projects of varying sizes, strong safety record and lengthy
experience with a wide range of services and technologies.
The various markets served by the Global Services segment, while having some similarities, tend also
to have discrete issues impacting individual units. Each of the markets we serve has a large number of
companies competing in its markets. In the equipment sector, which operates in numerous markets, the
equipment industry is highly fragmented and very competitive, with most competitors operating in specific
geographic areas. The competition for larger capital project services is more narrow and limited to only
those capable of providing comprehensive equipment, tool and management services. Temporary staffing is
a highly fragmented market with over 1,000 companies competing nationally. The key competitive factors
in this business line are price, service, quality, breadth of service and the ability to identify and retain
qualified personnel and geographical coverage. The barriers to entry in operations and maintenance are
both financially and logistically low with the result that the industry is highly fragmented with no single
company being dominant. Competition is generally driven by reputation, price and the capacity to perform.
Key competitive factors in our Government segment are primarily centered on performance and the
ability to provide the design, engineering, planning, management and project execution skills required to
complete complex projects in a safe, timely and cost-efficient manner.
Significant Customers
For 2007, 2006 and 2005, revenue earned directly or indirectly from agencies of the United States
government accounted for 8%, 20% and 21%, respectively, of our total revenue. However, we are not
dependent on any single federal agency or upon any other single customer on an on-going basis, and the
loss of any single customer would not have a material adverse effect on our business. Except for the United
States government, no other single customer accounted for over 10% of our revenue in any of the last
three years.
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Raw Materials
The principal raw materials and resulting products we use in our business include structural steel,
metal plate, concrete and various electrical and mechanical components. These products and components
are subject to raw material (aluminum, copper, nickel, etc.) availability and pricing fluctuations, which we
monitor on a regular basis. Although we are in a tight market, we have access to numerous global sources
and we do not foresee any unavailability of these items that would have a material adverse effect on our
business in the near term. However, the availability of these products, components and raw materials may
vary significantly from year to year due to various factors including customer demand, producer capacity,
market conditions and material shortages.
Research and Development
While we engage in research and development efforts in the development of new products and
services, during the past three fiscal years, we have not incurred cost for company-sponsored or clientsponsored research and development activities which would be material, special or unusual in any of our
business segments.
Patents
We hold patents and licenses for certain items that we use in our operations. However, none is so
essential that its loss would materially affect our business.
Environmental, Safety and Health Matters
We believe, based upon present information available to us, that our accruals with respect to future
environmental cost are adequate and any future cost will not have a material effect on our consolidated
financial position, results of operations, liquidity capital expenditures or competitive position. Some
factors, however could result in additional expenditures or the provision of additional accruals in
expectation of such expenditures. These include the imposition of more stringent requirements under
environmental laws or regulations, new developments or changes regarding site cleanup cost or the
allocation of such cost among potentially responsible parties, or a determination that we are potentially
responsible for the release of hazardous substances at sites other than those currently identified.
Number of Employees
The following table sets forth the number of employees of Fluor and its subsidiaries engaged in our
business segments as of December 31, 2007:
Total
Employees

Salaried Employees:
Oil & Gas . . . . . . . . . . . .
Industrial & Infrastructure
Government . . . . . . . . . . .
Global Services . . . . . . . .
Power . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Other . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
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12,700
3,719
3,462
3,651
553
1,757

Total Salaried . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

25,842

Craft and Hourly Employees . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

15,418

Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

41,260

The number of craft and hourly employees, who provide support throughout the various business
segments, varies in relation to the number and size of projects we have in process at any particular time.
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Available Information
Our website address is www.fluor.com. You may obtain free electronic copies of our annual reports on
Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and all amendments to those
reports on the ‘‘Investor Relations’’ portion of our website, under the heading ‘‘SEC Filings’’ filed under
‘‘Financial Information.’’ These reports are available on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after
we electronically file them with the Securities and Exchange Commission. These reports, and any
amendments to them, are also available at the internet website of the Securities and Exchange
Commission, http://www.sec.gov. The public may also read and copy any materials we file with the
Securities and Exchange Commission at the SEC’s Public Reference Room located at 100 F Street, N.E.,
Washington, D.C., 20549. In order to obtain information about the operation of the Public Reference
Room, you may call 1-800-732-0330. We also maintain various documents related to our corporate
governance including our Corporate Governance Guidelines, our Board Committee Charters and our
Codes of Conduct at the ‘‘Investor Relations’’ portion of our website, www.fluor.com, under ‘‘Corporate
Governance.’’
Item 1A. Risk Factors
We are vulnerable to the cyclical nature of the markets we serve.
The demand for our services and products is dependent upon the existence of projects with
engineering, procurement, construction and management needs. Although downturns can impact our
entire business, our oil and gas, petrochemicals and mining and metals segments exemplify businesses that
are cyclical in nature and have historically been affected by a decrease in worldwide demand for these
projects. Industries such as these and many of the others we serve have historically been and will continue
to be vulnerable to general downturns. During economic downturns, our clients may demand more
favorable terms. In addition, our government clients may face budget deficits that prohibit them from
funding proposed and existing projects. As a result, our past results have varied considerably and may
continue to vary depending upon the demand for future projects in these industries.
We bear the risk of cost overruns in approximately 24% of the dollar value of our contracts. We may
experience reduced profits or, in some cases, losses under these contracts if cost increase above our estimates.
We conduct our business under various types of contractual arrangements. In terms of dollar-value,
the majority of our contracts allocate the risk of cost overruns to our client by requiring our client to
reimburse us for our cost. Approximately 24% of the dollar-value of our contracts are currently guaranteed
maximum price or fixed-price contracts, where we bear a significant portion of the risk for cost overruns.
Under these fixed-price contracts, contract prices are established in part on cost and scheduling estimates
which are based on a number of assumptions, including assumptions about future economic conditions,
prices and availability of labor, equipment and materials. If these estimates prove inaccurate, or
circumstances change such as unanticipated technical problems, difficulties in obtaining permits or
approvals, changes in local laws or labor conditions, weather delays, cost of raw materials, or our suppliers’
or subcontractors’ inability to perform, cost overruns may occur, and we could experience reduced profits
or, in some cases, a loss for that project.
Our continued success requires us to hire and retain qualified personnel.
Over the past year, the demand for employees who engage and are experienced in the services we
perform has continued to grow as our customers have increased their capital expenditures and the use of
our services. The success of our business is dependent upon being able to attract and retain personnel,
including engineers, project management and craft employees, who have the necessary and required
experience and expertise. Competition for these kinds of personnel is intense. In addition, as some of our
key personnel approach retirement age, we need to provide for smooth transitions, and our operations and
results may be negatively affected if we are not able to do so.
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Our backlog is subject to unexpected adjustments and cancellations and is, therefore, an uncertain indicator of
our future earnings.
As of December 31, 2007, our backlog was approximately $30.2 billion. We cannot guarantee that the
revenue projected in our backlog will be realized or profitable. Projects may remain in our backlog for an
extended period of time. In addition, project cancellations or scope adjustments may occur, from time to
time, with respect to contracts reflected in our backlog and could reduce the dollar amount of our backlog
and the revenue and profits that we actually earn. Many of our contracts have termination for convenience
provisions in them. Therefore, project terminations, suspensions or scope adjustments may occur from
time to time with respect to contracts in our backlog. Finally, poor project or contract performance could
also impact our backlog and profits.
If we guarantee the timely completion or performance standards of a project, we could incur additional cost to
cover our guarantee obligations.
In some instances and in many of our fixed-price contracts, we guarantee a customer that we will
complete a project by a scheduled date. We sometimes provide that the project, when completed, will also
achieve certain performance standards. From time to time, we may also assume a project’s technical risk,
which means that we may have to satisfy certain technical requirements of a project despite the fact that at
the time of project award, we may not have previously produced the system or product in question. If we
subsequently fail to complete the project as scheduled, or if the project subsequently fails to meet
guaranteed performance standards, we may be held responsible for cost impacts to the client resulting
from any delay or the cost to cause the project to achieve the performance standards, generally in the form
of contractually agreed-upon liquidated damages. To the extent that these events occur, the total cost of
the project could exceed our original estimates and we could experience reduced profits or, in some cases,
a loss for that project.
Our government contracts may be terminated at any time. Also, if we do not comply with restrictions and
regulations imposed by the government, our government contracts may be terminated and we may be unable to
enter into future government contracts. The termination of our government contracts could significantly reduce
our expected revenue.
We enter into significant government contracts, from time to time, such as those that we have with the
U.S. Department of Energy at Hanford. Government contracts are subject to various uncertainties,
restrictions and regulations, including oversight audits by government representatives and profit and cost
controls, which could result in withholding or delay of payments to us. Government contracts are also
exposed to uncertainties associated with Congressional funding. The government is under no obligation to
maintain funding at any specific level and funds for a program may even be eliminated. Our government
clients may terminate or decide not to renew our contracts with little or no prior notice.
In addition, government contracts are subject to specific procurement regulations and a variety of
other socio-economic requirements. For example, we must comply with the Federal Acquisition Regulation
(‘‘FAR’’), the Truth in Negotiations Act, the Cost Accounting Standards (‘‘CAS’’), the Service Contract Act
and Department of Defense security regulations. We must also comply with various other government
regulations and requirements as well as various statutes related to employment practices, environmental
protection, recordkeeping and accounting. If we fail to comply with any of these regulations, requirements
or statutes, our existing government contracts could be terminated, and we could be temporarily suspended
or even debarred from government contracting or subcontracting.
We also run the risk of the impact of government audits, investigations and proceedings, and so-called
‘‘qui tam’’ actions brought by individuals or the government under the Federal False Claims Act that, if an
unfavorable result occurs, could impact our profits and financial condition, as well as our ability to obtain
future government work. For example, government agencies such as the U.S. Defense Contract Audit
Agency (the ‘‘DCAA’’) routinely review and audit government contractors. If these agencies determine
that a rule or regulation has been violated, a variety of penalties can be imposed including criminal and
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civil penalties all of which would harm our reputation with the government or even debar us from future
government activities. The DCAA has the ability to review how we have accounted for cost under the FAR
and CAS, and if they believe that we have engaged in inappropriate accounting or other activities,
payments to us may be disallowed.
If one or more of our government contracts are terminated for any reason including for convenience,
if we are suspended from government contract work, or if payment of our cost is disallowed, we could
suffer a significant reduction in expected revenue and profits.
We maintain a workforce based upon current and anticipated workloads. If we do not receive future contract
awards or if these awards are delayed, significant cost may result.
Our estimates of future performance depend on, among other matters, whether and when we will
receive certain new contract awards. While our estimates are based upon our good faith judgment, these
estimates can be unreliable and may frequently change based on newly available information. In the case
of large-scale domestic and international projects where timing is often uncertain, it is particularly difficult
to predict whether and when we will receive a contract award. The uncertainty of contract award timing
can present difficulties in matching our workforce size with our contract needs. If an expected contract
award is delayed or not received, we could incur cost resulting from reductions in staff or redundancy of
facilities that would have the effect of reducing our profits.
Intense competition in the engineering and construction industry could reduce our market share and profits.
We serve markets that are highly competitive and in which a large number of multinational companies
compete. Among our competitors are U.S. companies such as Bechtel Group, Inc., Jacobs Engineering
Group, Inc., KBR Inc., Chicago Bridge and Iron Company N.V., CH2M Hill Companies Limited, the Shaw
Group and URS Corporation, and international companies such as Foster Wheeler Ltd., Technip,
WorleyParsons Limited and AMEC plc. In particular, the engineering and construction markets are highly
competitive and require substantial resources and capital investment in equipment, technology and skilled
personnel. Competition also places downward pressure on our contract prices and profit margins. Intense
competition is expected to continue in these markets, presenting us with significant challenges in our
ability to maintain strong growth rates and acceptable profit margins. If we are unable to meet these
competitive challenges, we could lose market share to our competitors and experience an overall reduction
in our profits.
The nature of our engineering and construction business exposes us to potential liability claims and contract
disputes which may reduce our profits.
We engage in engineering and construction activities for large facilities where design, construction or
systems failures can result in substantial injury or damage to third parties. In addition, the nature of our
business results in clients, subcontractors and vendors occasionally presenting claims against us for
recovery of cost they incurred in excess of what they expected to incur, or for which they believe they are
not contractually liable. We have been and may in the future be named as a defendant in legal proceedings
where parties may make a claim for damages or other remedies with respect to our projects or other
matters. These claims generally arise in the normal course of our business. When it is determined that we
have liability, we may not be covered by insurance or, if covered, the dollar amount of these liabilities may
exceed our policy limits. Our professional liability coverage is on a ‘‘claims-made’’ basis covering only
claims actually made during the policy period currently in effect. In addition, even where insurance is
maintained for such exposures, the policies have deductibles resulting in our assuming exposure for a layer
of coverage with respect to any such claims. Any liability not covered by our insurance, in excess of our
insurance limits or, if covered by insurance but subject to a high deductible, could result in a significant loss
for us, which claims may reduce our profits and cash available for operations.
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Our failure to recover adequately on claims against project owners for payment could have a material effect
on us.
We occasionally bring claims against project owners for additional cost exceeding the contract price or
for amounts not included in the original contract price. These types of claims occur due to matters such as
owner-caused delays or changes from the initial project scope, which result in additional cost, both direct
and indirect. Often, these claims can be the subject of lengthy arbitration or litigation proceedings, and it is
often difficult to accurately predict when these claims will be fully resolved. When these types of events
occur and unresolved claims are pending, we may invest significant working capital in projects to cover cost
overruns pending the resolution of the relevant claims. A failure to promptly recover on these types of
claims could have a material adverse impact on our liquidity and financial results.
If we are unable to form teaming arrangements, our ability to compete for and win certain contracts may be
negatively impacted.
In both the private and public sectors, either acting as a prime contractor or as a subcontractor, we
may join with other firms to form a team to compete for a single contract. Because a team can offer
stronger combined qualifications than any firm standing alone, these teaming arrangements can be very
important to the success of a particular contract bid process or proposal. The failure to maintain such
relationships in certain markets, such as the nuclear energy market, may impact our ability to win work.
The success of our joint ventures depend on the satisfactory performance by our joint venture partners of their
joint venture obligations. The failure of our joint venture partners to perform their joint venture obligations
could impose on us additional financial and performance obligations that could result in reduced profits or, in
some cases, significant losses for us with respect to the joint venture.
We enter into various joint ventures as part of our engineering, procurement and construction
businesses, including ICA Fluor and project-specific joint ventures. The success of these and other joint
ventures depends, in large part, on the satisfactory performance by our joint venture partners of their joint
venture obligations. If our joint venture partners fail to satisfactorily perform their joint venture
obligations as a result of financial or other difficulties, the joint venture may be unable to adequately
perform or deliver its contracted services. Under these circumstances, we may be required to make
additional investments and provide additional services to ensure the adequate performance and delivery of
the contracted services. These additional obligations could result in reduced profits or, in some cases,
significant losses for us with respect to the joint venture.
We are dependent upon third parties to complete many of our contracts.
Much of the work performed under our contracts is actually performed by third-party subcontractors
we hire. We also rely on third-party equipment manufacturers or suppliers to provide much of the
equipment and materials used for projects. If we are unable to hire qualified subcontractors or find
qualified equipment manufacturers or suppliers, our ability to successfully complete a project could be
impaired. If the amount we are required to pay for subcontractors or equipment and supplies exceeds what
we have estimated, especially in a lump sum or a fixed-price type contract, we may suffer losses on these
contracts. If a supplier, manufacturer or subcontractor fails to provide supplies, equipment or services as
required under a negotiated contract for any reason, we may be required to source these supplies,
equipment or services on a delayed basis or at a higher price than anticipated, which could impact contract
profitability.
We may have additional tax liabilities.
We are subject to income taxes in the United States and numerous foreign jurisdictions. Significant
judgment is required in determining our worldwide provision for income taxes. In the ordinary course of
our business, there are many transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. We are regularly under audit by tax authorities. Although we believe that our tax estimates are
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reasonable, the final outcome of tax audits and related litigation could be materially different from that
which is reflected in our financial statements.
We have international operations that are subject to foreign economic and political uncertainties. Unexpected
and adverse changes in the foreign countries in which we operate could result in project disruptions, increased
cost and potential losses.
Our business is subject to fluctuations in demand and to changing domestic and international
economic and political conditions which are beyond our control. As of December 31, 2007, approximately
56% of our projected backlog consisted of engineering and construction revenue to be derived from
facilities to be constructed in other countries; we expect that a significant portion of our revenue and
profits will continue to come from international projects for the foreseeable future.
Operating in the international marketplace exposes us to a number of special risks including:
• abrupt changes in foreign government policies and regulations;
• embargoes;
• trade restrictions;
• tax increases;
• currency exchange rate fluctuations;
• changes in labor conditions and difficulties in staffing and managing international operations;
• United States government policies; and
• international hostilities.
The lack of a well-developed legal system in some of these countries may make it difficult to enforce
our contractual rights. We also face significant risks due to civil strife, acts of war, terrorism and
insurrection. Our level of exposure to these risks will vary with respect to each project, depending on the
particular stage of each such project. For example, our risk exposure with respect to a project in an early
development stage will generally be less than our risk exposure with respect to a project in the middle of
construction. To the extent that our international business is affected by unexpected and adverse foreign
economic and political conditions, we may experience project disruptions and losses. Project disruptions
and losses could significantly reduce our overall revenue and profits.
We work in international locations where there are high security risks, which could result in harm to our
employees or unanticipated cost.
Some of our services are performed in high risk locations, such as Afghanistan, Iraq and Haiti, where
the country or location is subject to political, social or economic risks, or war or civil unrest. In those
locations where we have employees or operations, we may incur substantial security cost to maintain the
safety of our personnel. Moreover, despite these activities, in these locations, we cannot guarantee the
safety of our personnel.
Past and future environmental, safety and health regulations could impose significant additional cost on us
that reduce our profits.
We are subject to numerous environmental laws and health and safety regulations. Our projects can
involve the handling of hazardous and other highly regulated materials which, if improperly handled or
disposed of, could subject us to civil and criminal liabilities. It is impossible to reliably predict the full
nature and effect of judicial, legislative or regulatory developments relating to health and safety
regulations and environmental protection regulations applicable to our operations. The applicable
regulations, as well as the technology and length of time available to comply with those regulations,
continue to develop and change. In addition, past activities could also have a material impact on us. For
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example, when we sold our mining business formerly conducted through St. Joe Minerals Corporation, we
retained responsibility for certain non-lead related environmental liabilities, but only to the extent that
such liabilities were not covered by St. Joe’s comprehensive general liability insurance. While we are not
currently aware of any material exposure arising from our former St. Joe’s business or otherwise, the cost
of complying with rulings and regulations or satisfying any environmental remediation requirements for
which we are found responsible could be substantial and could reduce our profits.
A substantial portion of our business is generated either directly or indirectly as a result of federal,
state, local and foreign laws and regulations related to environmental matters. A reduction in the number
or scope of these laws or regulations, or changes in government policies regarding the funding,
implementation or enforcement of such laws and regulations, could significantly reduce the size of one of
our markets and limit our opportunities for growth or reduce our revenue below current levels.
If we experience delays and/or defaults in customer payments, we could suffer liquidity problems or we could
be unable to recover all expenditures.
Because of the nature of our contracts, we sometimes commit resources to projects prior to receiving
payments from the customer in amounts sufficient to cover expenditures as they are incurred. Delays in
customer payments may require us to make a working capital investment. If a customer defaults in making
its payments on a project in which we have devoted significant resources, it could have a material negative
effect on our results of operations or liquidity.
Our use of the percentage-of-completion method of accounting could result in a reduction or reversal of
previously recorded revenue or profits.
Under our accounting procedures, we measure and recognize a large portion of our profits and
revenue under the percentage-of-completion accounting methodology. This methodology allows us to
recognize revenue and profits ratably over the life of a contract by comparing the amount of the cost
incurred to date against the total amount of cost expected to be incurred. The effect of revisions to revenue
and estimated cost is recorded when the amounts are known and can be reasonably estimated, and these
revisions can occur at any time and could be material. On a historical basis, we believe that we have made
reasonably reliable estimates of the progress towards completion on our long term contracts. However,
given the uncertainties associated with these types of contracts, it is possible for actual cost to vary from
estimates previously made, which may result in reductions or reversals of previously recorded revenue and
profits.
We could be adversely affected by violations of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar worldwide
anti-bribery laws.
The U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (‘‘FCPA’’) and similar anti-bribery laws in other jurisdictions
generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper payments to non-U.S.
officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. Our policies mandate compliance with these
anti-bribery laws. We operate in many parts of the world that have experienced governmental corruption to
some degree and, in certain circumstances, strict compliance with anti-bribery laws may conflict with local
customs and practices. We train our staff concerning FCPA issues, and we also inform our partners,
subcontractors, agents and others who work for us or on our behalf that they must comply with FCPA
requirements. We also have procedures and controls in place to monitor internal and external compliance.
We cannot assure you that our internal controls and procedures always will protect us from the reckless or
criminal acts committed by our employees or agents. If we are found to be liable for FCPA violations
(either due to our own acts or our inadvertence, or due to the acts or inadvertence of others), we could
suffer from criminal or civil penalties or other sanctions which could have a material adverse effect on our
business.
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Our failure to satisfy International Trade Compliance regulations may adversely affect us.
Fluor’s global operations require importing and exporting goods and technology across international
borders on a regular basis. Fluor’s policy mandates strict compliance with U.S. and foreign international
trade laws. Nonetheless, we cannot provide assurance that our policies and procedures will always protect
us from acts by our employees that would violate U.S. and/or foreign laws. Such improper actions could
subject the company to civil or criminal penalties, including substantial monetary fines, or other adverse
actions including denial of import or export privileges, and could damage our reputation and, therefore,
our ability to do business.
We may need to raise additional capital in the future for working capital, capital expenditures and/or
acquisitions, and we may not be able to do so on favorable terms or at all, which would impair our ability to
operate our business or achieve our growth objectives.
To the extent that cash flow from operations, together with available borrowings under our credit
facilities, are insufficient to make future investments, make acquisitions or provide needed additional
working capital, we may require additional financing from other sources. Our ability to obtain such
additional financing in the future will depend in part upon prevailing capital market conditions, as well as
conditions in our business and our operating results; and those factors may affect our efforts to arrange
additional financing on terms that are satisfactory to us. If adequate funds are not available, or are not
available on acceptable terms, we may not be able to make future investments, take advantage of
acquisitions or other opportunities, or respond to competitive challenges.
We continue to expand our business in areas where bonding is required, but bonding capacity is limited.
We continue to expand our business in areas where the underlying contract must be bonded, especially
in the transportation infrastructure arena. These bonds indemnify the customer if we fail to perform our
obligations under the contract. Failure to provide a bond on terms required by a customer may result in an
inability to compete for or win a project. Historically, we have had a strong bonding capacity but, as is
typically the case, bonding is at the surety’s sole discretion. In addition, because of the overall lack of
worldwide bonding capacity, we may find it difficult to find sureties who will provide the contract-required
bonding. In addition, these contracts are often very large and extremely complex, which often necessitates
the use of a joint venture, often with a competitor, to bid on and perform these types of contracts,
especially since it may be easier to jointly pursue the necessary bonding. However, entering into these types
of joint ventures or partnerships exposes us to the credit and performance risks of third parties, many of
whom are not as financially strong as us. If our joint ventures’ partners fail to perform, we could suffer
negative results.
It can be very difficult or expensive to obtain the insurance we need for our business operations.
As part of business operations, we maintain insurance both as a corporate risk management strategy
and in order to satisfy the requirements of many of our contracts. Although we have in the past been
generally able to cover our insurance needs, there can be no assurances that we can secure all necessary or
appropriate insurance in the future.
As a holding company, we are dependent on our subsidiaries for cash distributions to fund debt payments.
Because we are a holding company, we have no true operations or significant assets other than the
stock we own of our subsidiaries. We depend on dividends, loans and other distributions from these
subsidiaries to be able to pay our debt and other financial obligations. Contractual limitations and legal
regulations may restrict the ability of our subsidiaries to make such distributions or loans to us or, if made,
may be insufficient to cover our financial obligations, or to pay interest or principal when due on our debt.
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Any future acquisitions may not be successful.
We expect to continue to pursue selective acquisitions of businesses. We cannot assure you that we will
be able to locate suitable acquisitions or that we will be able to consummate any such transactions on terms
and conditions acceptable to us, or that such transactions will be successful. Acquisitions may bring us into
businesses we have not previously conducted and expose us to additional business risks that are different
from those we have traditionally experienced. We also may encounter difficulties diligencing or integrating
acquisitions and successfully managing the growth we expect to experience from these acquisitions.
In the event we make acquisitions using our stock as consideration, we could dilute share ownership.
As we have announced, we intend to grow our business not only organically but also potentially
through acquisitions. One method of paying for acquisitions or to otherwise fund our corporate initiatives
is through the issuance of additional equity securities. If we do issue additional equity securities, the
issuance could have the effect of diluting our earnings per share and shareholders’ percentage ownership.
Delaware law and our charter documents may impede or discourage a takeover or change of control.
Fluor is a Delaware corporation. Various anti-takeover provisions under Delaware law impose
impediments on the ability of others to acquire control of us, even if a change of control would be
beneficial to our shareholders. In addition, certain provisions of our bylaws may impede or discourage a
takeover. For example:
• our Board of Directors is divided into three classes serving staggered three-year terms;
• vacancies on the Board of Directors can only be filled by other directors;
• there are various restrictions on the ability of a shareholder to nominate a director for election; and
• our Board of Directors can authorize the issuance of preference shares.
These types of provisions could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of us, even if
the acquisition would be beneficial to our shareholders. Accordingly, shareholders may be limited in the
ability to obtain a premium for their shares.
Systems and information technology interruption could adversely impact our ability to operate.
As a global company, we are heavily reliant on computer, information and communications
technology and related systems in order to properly operate. From time to time, we experience system
interruptions and delays. If we are unable to continually add software and hardware, effectively upgrade
our systems and network infrastructure and take other steps to improve the efficiency of and protect our
systems, systems operation could be interrupted or delayed. In addition, our computer and
communications systems and operations could be damaged or interrupted by natural disasters, power loss,
telecommunications failures, acts of war or terrorism, acts of God, computer viruses, physical or electronic
break-ins and similar events or disruptions. Any of these or other events could cause system interruption,
delays and loss of critical data, could delay or prevent operations, and could adversely affect our operating
results.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None.
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Item 2. Properties
Major Facilities
Operations of Fluor and its subsidiaries are conducted at both owned and leased properties totaling
approximately 7.5 million square feet. The properties referenced below are used for general office and
engineering purposes. Our executive offices are located at 6700 Las Colinas Boulevard, Irving, Texas. As
our business and the mix of structures are constantly changing, the extent of utilization of the facilities by
particular segments cannot be accurately stated. In addition, certain owned or leased properties of Fluor
and its subsidiaries are leased or subleased to third party tenants. The following table describes the
location and general character of the major existing facilities:
Location

United States and Canada:
Aliso Viejo, California . . . . . . . . .
Calgary, Alberta . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Charlotte, North Carolina . . . . . . .
Dallas, Texas . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Greenville, South Carolina . . . . . .
Houston (Sugar Land), Texas . . . .
Irvine, California . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Irving, Texas . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Long Beach, California . . . . . . . . .
Mt. Laurel, New Jersey . . . . . . . . .
Richland, Washington . . . . . . . . . .
San Juan, Puerto Rico . . . . . . . . .
Vancouver, British Columbia . . . . .
The Americas:
Mexico City, Mexico . . . . . . . . . . .
Santiago, Chile . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Europe, Africa and Middle East:
Abu Dhabi, United Arab Emirates
Ahmadi, Kuwait . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Al Khobar, Saudi Arabia . . . . . . .
Asturias, Spain . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Camberley, England . . . . . . . . . . .
Dublin, Ireland . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Gliwice, Poland . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Haarlem, Netherlands . . . . . . . . . .
London, England . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Madrid, Spain . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Moscow, Russia . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Sandton, South Africa . . . . . . . . .
Asia and Asia Pacific:
Jakarta, Indonesia . . . . . . . . . . . .
Manila, Philippines . . . . . . . . . . . .
New Delhi, India . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Perth, Australia . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Shanghai, China . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Singapore . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
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In addition to the properties referenced above, we also lease or own a number of sales, administrative
and field construction offices, warehouses and equipment yards strategically located throughout the world.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings
Fluor and its subsidiaries, as part of their normal business activities, are parties to a number of legal
proceedings and other matters in various stages of development. While we cannot predict the outcome of
these proceedings, in our opinion and based on reports of counsel, any liability arising from these matters
individually and in the aggregate will not have a material adverse effect upon the consolidated financial
position or the results of operations of the company, after giving effect to provisions already recorded.
For information on matters in dispute, see the section entitled — ‘‘Litigation and Matters in Dispute
Resolution’’ in Item 7. — ‘‘Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operation,’’ below.
Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
The company did not submit any matters to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of
2007.
Executive Officers of the Registrant
Information regarding the company’s executive officers is set forth under the caption ‘‘Executive
Officers of the Registrant’’ in Part III, Item 10, of this Form 10-K and is incorporated herein by this
reference.
PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities
Our common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol ‘‘FLR.’’ The
following table sets forth for the quarters indicated the high and low sales prices of our common stock, as
reported in the Consolidated Transactions Reporting System, and the cash dividends paid per share of
common stock.
Common Stock
Price Range
High
Low

Year Ended December 31, 2007
Fourth Quarter . . . . . . . . . .
Third Quarter . . . . . . . . . . .
Second Quarter . . . . . . . . . .
First Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . .
Year Ended December 31, 2006
Fourth Quarter . . . . . . . . . .
Third Quarter . . . . . . . . . . .
Second Quarter . . . . . . . . . .
First Quarter . . . . . . . . . . . .

Dividends
Per Share
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.
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$172.15
145.90
112.73
95.00

$126.45
104.30
89.78
75.22

$0.20
0.20
0.20
0.20
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.
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.
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$ 88.01
94.95
103.85
88.96

$ 74.04
73.51
82.13
74.99

$0.20
0.20
0.20
0.20

On January 31, 2008, we announced an increase in our quarterly dividend payable April 2, 2008 to
$0.25 per share. However, any future cash dividends will depend upon our results of operations, financial
condition, cash requirements, availability of surplus and such other factors as our Board of Directors may
deem relevant. See Item 1A. — ‘‘Risk Factors.’’
At February 26, 2008, there were 88,593,022 shares outstanding and approximately 7,862 shareholders
of record of the company’s common stock.
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Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The following table provides information as of the three months ending December 31, 2007 about
purchases by the company of equity securities that are registered by the company pursuant to Section 12 of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the ‘‘Exchange Act’’):

Period

October 1 — October 31, 2007
November 1 — November 30, 2007
December 1 — December 31, 2007
Total
(1)

Total Number
of Shares
Purchased

Average Price
Paid per
Share

Total Number of
Shares Purchased as
Part of Publicly
Announced
Plans or Programs

Maximum
Number of
Shares that May
Yet Be Purchased
Under Plans or
Programs (1)

—
—
—

N/A
N/A
N/A

—
—
—

4,138,400
4,138,400
4,138,400

—

N/A

—

4,138,400

On September 20, 2001, the company announced that the Board of Directors had approved the
repurchase of up to five million shares of our common stock. That authorization is ongoing and does
not have an expiration date.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data
The following table presents selected financial data for the last five years. This selected financial data
should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes included in
Item 15 of this Form 10-K. Amounts are expressed in millions, except for per share and employee
information:
Year Ended December 31,
2006
2005
2004

2007

2003

CONSOLIDATED OPERATING RESULTS
Revenue
Earnings from continuing operations before taxes
Earnings from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

$16,691.0
649.1
533.3
—
—

$14,078.5
382.0
263.5
—
—

$13,161.0
299.6
227.3
—
—

$ 9,380.3
281.2
186.7
—
—

Net earnings
Basic earnings (loss) per share
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

533.3

263.5

227.3

186.7

157.5

6.11
—
—

3.05
—
—

2.68
—
—

2.29
—
—

2.25
(0.15)
(0.13)

Net earnings
Diluted earnings (loss) per share
Continuing operations
Discontinued operations
Cumulative effect of change in accounting principle

6.11

3.05

2.68

2.29

1.97

5.85
—
—

2.95
—
—

2.62
—
—

2.25
—
—

2.23
(0.15)
(0.13)

5.85

2.95

2.62

2.25

1.95

27.7%
0.80
$

15.2%
0.80
$

15.5%
0.64
$

15.7%
0.64
$

16.2%
0.64

Net earnings
Return on average shareholders’ equity
Cash dividends per common share

$

$ 8,805.7
268.0
179.5
(11.6)
(10.4)

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL POSITION
Current assets
Current liabilities

$ 4,059.5
2,860.1

$ 3,323.6
2,406.3

$ 3,108.2
2,339.3

$ 2,723.3
1,764.0

$ 2,205.5
1,821.0

Working capital

1,199.4

917.3

768.9

959.3

384.5

Property, plant and equipment, net
Total assets
Capitalization
Convertible Senior Notes
Non-recourse project finance debt
Other debt obligations
Shareholders’ equity

784.4
5,796.2

692.1
4,874.9

581.5
4,574.4

527.8
3,969.6

569.5
3,441.3

307.2
—
17.7
2,274.5

330.0
192.8
36.8
1,730.5

330.0
57.6
34.5
1,630.6

330.0
—
147.6
1,335.8

—
—
266.2
1,081.5

Total capitalization
Total debt as a percent of total capitalization
Shareholders’ equity per common share
Common shares outstanding at year end

2,599.4
2,290.1
2,052.7
1,813.4
1,347.7
12.5%
24.4%
20.6%
26.3%
19.7%
$ 25.64
$ 19.66
$ 18.72
$ 15.81
$ 13.17
88.7
88.0
87.1
84.5
82.1

OTHER DATA
New awards
Backlog at year end
Capital expenditures — continuing operations
Cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Salaried employees
Craft/hourly employees
Total employees

$22,590.1
30,170.8
284.2
905.0
25,842
15,418

$19,276.2
21,877.7
274.1
296.2
22,078
15,482

$12,517.4
14,926.6
213.2
408.7
17,795
17,041

41,260

37,560

34,836

$13,028.6
14,765.8
104.4
(84.2)
17,344
17,455
34,799

$ 9,976.0
10,607.1
79.2
(303.7)
17,564
11,447
29,011

Earnings from Continuing Operations in 2007 includes a credit of $123 million ($1.35 per share) relating to the favorable settlement
of tax audits for the years 1996 through 2000. See page F-15 in the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional discussion. Loss
from Discontinued Operations in 2003 relates to the 2001 decision to exit non-core construction equipment and temporary staffing
business. See Management’s Discussion and Analysis on pages 23 to 39 and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements on pages F-7
to F-34 for additional information relating to significant items affecting the results of operations.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Introduction
The following discussion and analysis is provided to increase understanding of, and should be read in
conjunction with, the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying Notes. For purposes of
reviewing this document, ‘‘operating profit’’ is calculated as revenue less cost of revenue excluding:
corporate administrative and general expense; interest expense; interest income; domestic and foreign
income taxes; and other non-operating income and expense items.
Results of Operations
Summary of Overall Company Results
Consolidated revenue in 2007 was $16.7 billion compared with $14.1 billion in 2006. This increase is
primarily the result of the 56 percent higher volume of work performed in the Oil & Gas segment in 2007
compared with 2006. The company believes that high demand in the global oil and gas industry is driving a
long-term cycle of investment that will continue to develop over the next several years. In addition, revenue
increased in the Industrial & Infrastructure, Global Services and Power segments while the Government
segment experienced a significant decline in revenue in 2007 compared with 2006. The revenue decline in
the Government segment was primarily due to the substantial completion of environmental work on a
large Department of Energy (‘‘DOE’’) project and hurricane relief efforts for the Federal Emergency
Management Agency (‘‘FEMA’’) in 2006 and lower embassy and Iraq construction work in 2007. Revenue
in the Power segment in 2007 increased significantly compared with 2006 primarily due to work on a coal
fired power plant in Texas that was released for full execution in 2007. The company believes that the
power market is entering an expansion phase due to higher demand for power generation facilities.
Consolidated revenue in 2006 increased by 7 percent compared with 2005. This increase was the
primary result of higher project execution activities in the Oil & Gas, Global Services and Power segments
and work performed for support of FEMA for hurricane relief efforts that started in 2005.
Earnings before taxes were $649 million in 2007, $382 million in 2006 and $300 million in 2005.
Earnings before taxes for 2007 increased by 70 percent compared with 2006 primarily from the 44 percent
overall improvement in business segment operating profit and a significant increase in net interest income
from higher cash balances and interest rates in 2007. All business segments, except Government, had
improvements in operating profit primarily due to increases in revenue from work performed. Operating
Profit in the Government segment improved primarily due to the absence of charges associated with
Embassy projects which significantly impacted results in 2006 as discussed below. Incentive and stock-price
based compensation expense, that is included in corporate administrative and general expense, was higher
in 2007 compared with 2006 and 2005.
Earnings before taxes for 2006 increased by 28 percent compared with 2005. The Oil & Gas and
Global Services segments reported higher operating profit benefiting from favorable conditions in oil and
gas markets. The Industrial & Infrastructure segment returned to profitability in 2006 on improved project
execution performance and the absence of provisions required in 2005 on certain projects in dispute
resolution. Partially offsetting these operating profit improvements during 2006 was significantly lower
operating profit from the Government segment. Operating profit was reduced primarily due to provisions
totaling $183 million on fixed-price projects in the Government segment which largely offset earnings from
hurricane relief work for FEMA. The 2006 provisions were for losses on certain fixed-price embassy
projects totaling $154 million and the balance for the air base project in Afghanistan due to difficulties
with a subcontractor. See further discussion of the embassy and Afghanistan provisions under Government
below.
The effective tax rate for 2007 was 17.8 percent which includes the impact of the final resolution with
the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (‘‘IRS’’) of a tax audit relating to tax years 1996 through 2000. The
reduction in tax expense associated with the settlement totaled $123 million. The settlement lowered the
effective tax rate for 2007 by 19 percentage points. The 2007 effective rate compares with effective rates of
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31 percent and 24 percent for 2006 and 2005, respectively. Variability in effective tax rates in recent years
and further discussion of the 2007 settlement with the IRS are discussed below under Corporate, Tax and
Other Matters.
The company had net earnings of $5.85 per share in 2007 compared with $2.95 per share in 2006 and
$2.62 per share in 2005. The significant increase in 2007 earnings per share includes the impact of the
$123 million ($1.35 per share) settlement with the IRS discussed above. Thus, earnings per share increased
53 percent in 2007 excluding the impact of the settlement compared with 2006.
Consolidated new awards for 2007 were $22.6 billion, compared with $19.3 billion in 2006, and
$12.5 billion in 2005. The Oil & Gas, Global Services and Power segments had increases in new awards
during 2007, partially offset by decreases in new awards in the Industrial & Infrastructure and Government
segments. The Oil & Gas and Industrial & Infrastructure segments had increases in new awards during
2006, partially offset by lower new awards in the Global Services, Government and Power segments.
Approximately 53 percent of consolidated new awards for 2007 were for projects located outside of the
United States.
Consolidated backlog at December 31, 2007 of $30.2 billion has more than doubled over the last two
years due to strong demand for capital investment in Oil & Gas markets and large awards in Industrial &
Infrastructure and Power. As of December 31, 2007, approximately 56 percent of consolidated backlog
relates to projects located outside of the United States.
For a more detailed discussion of operating performance of each business segment, corporate
administrative and general expense and other items, see Segment Operations and Corporate and Tax
Matters below.
Discussion of Critical Accounting Policies
The company’s discussion and analysis of its financial condition and results of operations is based
upon its Consolidated Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States. The company’s significant accounting policies are
described in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. The preparation of the Consolidated
Financial Statements requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. Estimates are based on information available as of the date of the financial statements, and
accordingly, actual results in future periods could differ from these estimates. Significant judgments and
estimates used in the preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements apply the following critical
accounting policies.
Engineering and Construction Contracts Engineering and construction contract revenue is recognized
on the percentage-of-completion method based on contract cost incurred to date compared with total
estimated contract cost. This method of revenue recognition requires the company to prepare estimates of
cost to complete contracts in progress. In making such estimates, judgments are required to evaluate
contingencies such as potential variances in schedule and the cost of materials, labor cost and productivity,
the impact of change orders, liability claims, contract disputes and achievement of contractual
performance standards. Changes in total estimated contract cost and losses, if any, are recognized in the
period they are determined. Pre-contract costs are expensed as incurred. The majority of the company’s
engineering and construction contracts provide for reimbursement of cost plus a fixed or percentage fee. In
the highly competitive markets served by the company, there is an increasing trend for cost-reimbursable
contracts with incentive-fee arrangements. As of December 31, 2007, 76 percent of the company’s backlog
is cost reimbursable while 24 percent is for guaranteed maximum, fixed or unit price contracts. In certain
instances, the company provides guaranteed completion dates and/or achievement of other performance
criteria. Failure to meet schedule or performance guarantees could result in unrealized incentive fees or
liquidated damages. In addition, increases in contract cost can result in non-recoverable cost which could
exceed revenue realized from the projects.
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Claims arising from engineering and construction contracts have been made against the company by
clients, and the company has made claims against clients for cost incurred in excess of current contract
provisions. The company recognizes certain significant claims for recovery of incurred cost when it is
probable that the claim will result in additional contract revenue and when the amount of the claim can be
reliably estimated. Recognized claims amounted to $246 million and $200 million at December 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively. Unapproved change orders are accounted for in revenue and cost when it is
probable that the cost will be recovered through a change in the contract price. In circumstances where
recovery is considered probable, but the revenue cannot be reliably estimated, cost attributable to change
orders is deferred pending determination of the impact on contract price.
Backlog in the engineering and construction industry is a measure of the total dollar value of work to
be performed on contracts awarded and in progress. Although backlog reflects business that is considered
to be firm, cancellations or scope adjustments may occur. Backlog is adjusted to reflect any known project
cancellations, deferrals and revised project scope and cost, both upward and downward.
Engineering and Construction Partnerships and Joint Ventures Certain contracts are executed jointly
through partnerships and joint ventures with unrelated third parties. The company accounts for its
interests in the operations of these ventures on a proportionate consolidation basis. Under this method of
accounting, the company consolidates its proportionate share of venture revenue, cost and operating profit
in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings and generally uses the one-line equity method of accounting in
the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The most significant application of the proportionate consolidation
method is in the Oil & Gas, Industrial & Infrastructure and Government segments.
The company’s accounting for project specific joint venture or consortium arrangements is closely
integrated with the accounting for the underlying engineering and construction project for which the joint
venture was established. The company engages in project specific joint venture or consortium
arrangements in the ordinary course of business to share risks and/or to secure specialty skills required for
project execution. Frequently, these arrangements are characterized by a 50 percent or less ownership or
participation interest that requires only a small initial investment. Execution of a project is generally the
single business purpose of these joint venture arrangements. When the company is the primary contractor
responsible for execution, the project is accounted for as part of normal operations and included in
consolidated revenue using appropriate contract accounting principles.
Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘‘FASB’’) Interpretation No. 46 (Revised), ‘‘Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities’’ (‘‘FIN 46-R’’) provides the principles to consider in determining when variable
interest entities must be consolidated in the financial statements of the primary beneficiary. In general, a
variable interest entity is an entity used for business purposes that either (a) does not have equity investors
with voting rights or (b) has equity investors that are not required to provide sufficient financial resources
for the entity to support its activities without additional subordinated financial support. FIN 46-R requires
a variable interest entity to be consolidated by a company if that company is subject to a majority of the
risk of loss from the variable interest entity’s activities or is entitled to receive a majority of the entity’s
residual returns or both. A company that consolidates a variable interest entity is called the primary
beneficiary of that entity.
Contracts that are executed jointly through partnerships and joint ventures are proportionately
consolidated in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (‘‘EITF’’) Issue 00-1, ‘‘Investor Balance Sheet
and Income Statement Display under the Equity Method for Investments in Certain Partnerships and
Other Ventures’’ (‘‘EITF 00-1’’) and Statement of Position 81-1, ‘‘Accounting for Performance of
Construction Type and Certain Production Type Contracts’’ (‘‘SOP 81-1’’). The company evaluates the
applicability of FIN 46-R to partnerships and joint ventures at the inception of its participation to ensure
its accounting is in accordance with the appropriate standards, and will reevaluate applicability upon the
occurrence of certain events.
Deferred Taxes and Tax Contingencies Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected
future tax consequences of events that have been recognized in the company’s financial statements or tax
returns. At December 31, 2007, the company had deferred tax assets of $589 million which were partially
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offset by a valuation allowance of $59 million and further reduced by deferred tax liabilities of $70 million.
The valuation allowance reduces certain deferred tax assets to amounts that are more likely than not to be
realized. This allowance primarily relates to the deferred tax assets on certain net operating and capital
loss carryforwards for U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries, certain reserves on investments, and certain foreign
tax credit carryforwards. The company evaluates the realizability of its deferred tax assets by assessing its
valuation allowance and by adjusting the amount of such allowance, if necessary. The factors used to assess
the likelihood of realization are the company’s forecast of future taxable income and available tax planning
strategies that could be implemented to realize the net deferred tax assets. Failure to achieve forecasted
taxable income in the applicable taxing jurisdictions could affect the ultimate realization of deferred tax
assets and could result in an increase in the company’s effective tax rate on future earnings.
In the first quarter of 2007, the company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, ‘‘Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes’’ (‘‘FIN 48’’), an interpretation of FASB Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (‘‘SFAS’’) No. 109, ‘‘Accounting for Income Taxes’’ (‘‘SFAS 109’’). FIN 48 clarifies the
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in enterprises’ financial statements in accordance
with SFAS 109. The interpretation prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the
financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax
return. Also, the interpretation provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties,
accounting in interim periods, disclosure and transition.
As a result of the adoption of FIN 48, the company recognized a cumulative-effect adjustment of
$45 million, increasing its liability for unrecognized tax benefits, interest and penalties and reducing the
January 1, 2007 balance of retained earnings. As of the date of adoption, including the impact of
recognizing the increase in liability noted above, the company’s unrecognized tax benefits totaled
$351 million of which $166 million, if recognized, would affect the company’s effective tax rate.
The company recognizes potential interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within
its global operations in income tax expense. As of December 31, 2007, the accrual totaled $26 million for
the potential payment of interest and penalties.
Retirement Benefits The company accounts for its defined benefit pension plans in accordance with
SFAS No. 87, ‘‘Employers’ Accounting for Pensions,’’ as amended (‘‘SFAS 87’’). As permitted by SFAS 87,
changes in retirement plan obligations and assets set aside to pay benefits are not recognized as they occur
but are recognized over subsequent periods. Assumptions concerning discount rates, long-term rates of
return on plan assets and rates of increase in compensation levels are determined based on the current
economic environment in each host country at the end of each respective annual reporting period. The
company evaluates the funded status of each of its retirement plans using these current assumptions and
determines the appropriate funding level considering applicable regulatory requirements, tax deductibility,
reporting considerations and other factors. Assuming no changes in current assumptions, the company
expects to fund between $50 million and $75 million for the calendar year 2008, which is expected to satisfy
the minimum funding requirement. If the discount rate were reduced by 25 basis points, plan liabilities
would increase by approximately $32 million.
In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, ‘‘Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit
Pension and Other Postretirement Plans’’ (‘‘SFAS 158’’). This statement amends SFAS 87 and requires that
the funded status of plans, measured as the difference between plan assets at fair value and the pension
benefit obligations, be recognized in the statement of financial position and that various items be
recognized in other comprehensive income before they are recognized in periodic pension expense. The
statement was adopted in 2006 and resulted in a $180 million after-tax charge to accumulated other
comprehensive loss, which reduced shareholders’ equity.
Segment Operations
The company provides professional services on a global basis in the fields of engineering,
procurement, construction and maintenance (‘‘EPCM’’) and is organized into five business segments:
Oil & Gas, Industrial & Infrastructure, Government, Global Services and Power. The Oil & Gas segment
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provides design, engineering, procurement, construction and project management professional services for
upstream oil and gas production, downstream refining and certain petrochemical markets. The
Industrial & Infrastructure segment provides design, engineering, procurement and construction
professional services for transportation projects, mining, life sciences facilities, telecommunications
projects, manufacturing facilities, commercial and institutional, microelectronics and healthcare facilities.
The Government segment provides engineering, construction, contingency response, management and
operations services to the United States government. The Global Services segment includes operations and
maintenance activities, small capital project engineering and execution, site equipment and tool services,
industrial fleet outsourcing, plant turnaround services, temporary staffing and materials and subcontract
procurement. The Power segment provides professional services to the gas fueled, solid fueled, renewables,
nuclear and plant betterment marketplaces.
Oil & Gas
Revenue and operating profit for the Oil & Gas segment are summarized as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006
2005

(in millions)

Revenue
Operating profit

$8,369.9

$5,368.0

$5,291.2

432.7

305.7

242.0

Revenue in 2007 compared with 2006 and 2005 has increased substantially as a result of higher levels
of project execution activities from the significant levels of new project awards experienced over the last
three years. Operating profit margin in the Oil & Gas segment was 5.2 percent in 2007 compared with
5.7 percent in 2006 and 4.6 percent in 2005. The operating margin in 2007 includes the impact of a higher
volume of lower margin construction related activities as a number of large projects have moved from the
engineering phase into on-site execution.
New awards in the Oil & Gas segment were $13.5 billion in 2007, $10.4 billion in 2006 and $4.4 billion
in 2005. The world-wide demand for oil and gas exploration and expansion of refining capacity continues at
a high level. The segment is participating in this expanding market that includes very large projects in
diverse geographical locations, which are very well suited for Fluor’s global execution and project
management capabilities and strong financial position. New project awards in 2007 included a $2 billion
award for the utility and offsite facilities for a new refinery in the Middle East and refinery expansion
projects in Spain and the United States amounting to $1.3 billion and $1.5 billion, respectively. New project
awards in 2006 included a $1.8 billion refinery expansion in the United States, a $2.2 billion project in
Saudi Arabia and a project in excess of $1.0 billion in Qatar. New project awards in 2005 included
$1.3 billion for two large international petrochemical projects and $1.0 billion for a gas complex in the
United Arab Emirates.
Backlog for the Oil & Gas segment was $18.5 billion at December 31, 2007, up sequentially from
$12.0 billion at December 31, 2006 and $6.0 billion at December 31, 2005. The 2007 and 2006 growth in
backlog results principally from the continued strength of new awards and positive project scope related
cost adjustments to existing projects.
Total assets in the Oil & Gas segment increased to $891 million at December 31, 2007 from
$629 million at December 31, 2006 and $575 million at December 31, 2005 primarily due to the continued
increase in the level of project execution activities over the periods.
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Industrial & Infrastructure
Revenue and operating profit for the Industrial & Infrastructure segment are summarized as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006
2005

(in millions)

Revenue
Operating profit

$3,385.0

$3,171.1

101.0

76.4

$3,200.4
(16.7)

Revenue increased during 2007 compared with 2006 primarily as a result of continued strong
execution activities on mining and infrastructure projects. Although revenue remained fairly constant for
2006 and 2005, the mix of new business in 2006 shifted somewhat from manufacturing facilities to large
infrastructure and mining projects that generally have longer execution periods.
Operating profit and margin percentages have increased during 2007 compared with 2006, largely on
the strength of performance on mining and infrastructure projects. The improvement during 2006
compared with 2005 includes the favorable impacts of successful project performance, reduced provisions
on disputed projects, improved margins on more recent projects and overhead spending reductions.
Operating results for the segment have been impacted in all three years by loss provisions relating to
specific projects.
The segment participates in a 50/50 joint venture that is executing a fixed-price transportation
infrastructure project in California. The project continues to be subject to circumstances including ownerdirected scope changes leading to quantity growth, cost escalation, additional labor and schedule delays,
resulting in additional cost. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, provisions of $25 million, $30 million and
$24 million, respectively, were recorded due to increasing estimated cost. The company continues to
evaluate the impact of these circumstances on estimated total project cost, as well as claims for recoveries
and other contingencies on the project. To date, the joint venture has submitted claims totaling
approximately $155 million to the client. Cost of $101 million has been incurred by the joint venture
against these claims as of December 31, 2007 and the company has recognized its $51 million
proportionate share of this cost in revenue including $22 million in 2007. The project opened to traffic in
November 2007 and is expected to be completed in mid-2008. During 2007, the customer withheld
liquidated damages totaling $49 million from amounts otherwise due the joint venture. The company
believes that any amounts that are withheld for liquidated damages will ultimately be recovered by the
joint venture and has therefore not recognized any reduction in project revenue because of the
withholdings.
In addition to the charge in 2005 arising from the transportation infrastructure project discussed
above, the segment recorded provisions totaling $82 million involving several other projects which
contributed to the operating loss in that year. The provisions recognized included settlements involving
projects that had been the subject of dispute resolution activities including two resort hotel projects and
two life sciences projects. The projects were bid under fixed-price or guaranteed maximum commercial
terms where the risk of variances in cost estimates remain with the company. Dispute resolution activities
were concluded on these matters and settlements finalized during 2005.
The company is involved in arbitration proceedings in connection with its London Connect Project, a
$500 million lump-sum project to design and install a telecommunications network that allows reception
and transmissions throughout the London Underground system. The company has recognized $42 million
in 2007 and an aggregate of $116 million in claims revenue relating to incurred costs attributed to delay
and disruption claims that are the subject of the arbitration proceedings. In addition, the company was
assessed and has paid $54 million representing its share of liquidated damages. This payment has not been
recognized as a reduction in project revenue because it is expected that amounts assessed will be
substantially recovered upon resolution of the company’s claims.
New awards in the Industrial & Infrastructure segment were $3.4 billion during 2007, $4.5 billion in
2006 and $2.3 billion during 2005. New awards during 2007 continued to be concentrated in the mining
sector and also included a $1.3 billion transportation infrastructure project in Virginia. New awards during
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2006 increased across most of the segment’s business lines, with new mining projects representing
approximately 45 percent of the total. The lower level of new awards in 2005 included the impact of
reduced spending by life sciences customers and the timing of receipt of large mining awards.
Backlog for the Industrial & Infrastructure segment increased to $6.1 billion at the end of 2007 from
$5.4 billion at the end of 2006. For 2005, ending backlog was $3.9 billion.
Total assets in the Industrial & Infrastructure segment were $576 million, $686 million and
$490 million at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The decrease in total assets from 2007 to
2006 is primarily due to the deconsolidation of the National Roads Telecommunication Services project in
the United Kingdom. See Variable Interest Entities below for further discussion of this project.
Government
Revenue and operating profit for the Government segment are summarized as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006
2005

(in millions)

Revenue
Operating profit

$1,308.2

$2,859.9

$2,708.2

29.3

17.7

83.7

Revenue in the last three years includes reconstruction activity in Iraq and work for environmental
restoration, engineering, construction, site operations and maintenance services at two major DOE sites:
the Fernald Environmental Management Project (‘‘Fernald’’) in Ohio, which was completed in 2006, and
the ongoing Hanford Environmental Management Project in Washington. Revenue during 2006 and 2005
also includes significant amounts relating to hurricane relief activities in support of the Federal Emergency
Management Agency (‘‘FEMA’’).
As expected, a substantial decrease in revenue occurred in 2007 compared with 2006. The decrease
was primarily the result of the significant contributions from FEMA hurricane relief and the Fernald
environmental project during the 2006 period. The Fernald contract is substantially complete and the
volume of FEMA task orders was significantly lower in 2007 and the second half of 2006. Work in Iraq was
also lower in 2007.
The six percent increase in revenue in 2006 compared with 2005 resulted from the continuation of
hurricane relief activities in support of FEMA, which commenced in the second half of 2005, partially
offset by reduced Iraq reconstruction and DOE project activity. The level of FEMA activity increased
during early 2006, but began to decline in the third and fourth quarters of the year, as the company’s work
on hurricane relief efforts was completed. The decline in DOE activity resulted largely from the
completion of the Fernald project at the end of October 2006.
Operating profit during 2007 and 2006 include provisions totaling $21 million and $29 million,
respectively, on a fixed-priced contract at the Bagram Air Base in Afghanistan. These charges relate to
subcontractor execution issues and liquidated damages due to the resulting delay in project completion. In
addition, operating profit in 2006 was negatively impacted by loss provisions totaling $154 million on
certain embassy projects. The company recognized provisions for estimated cost overruns on certain of the
embassy projects totaling $56 million in 2005.
The company has been performing work on 11 embassy projects over the last four years for the United
States Department of State under fixed-price contracts. These projects have been adversely impacted by
higher cost due to schedule extensions, scope changes causing material deviations from the Standard
Embassy Design, increased cost to meet client requirements for additional security-cleared labor, site
conditions at certain locations, subcontractor and teaming partner difficulties and the availability and
productivity of construction labor. As of December 31, 2007, all embassy projects were complete with the
exception of the project in Haiti where periods of civil unrest have resulted in significant unanticipated
schedule delays and cost increases. In addition, at the site in Haiti, increased cost has resulted from
collapsible soil conditions, additional client imposed requirements, subsequent increases in material
quantities and the availability and productivity of construction labor. As of December 31, 2007, the
physical completion of the Haiti embassy has progressed to approximately 95 percent and is estimated to
be completed in early 2008.
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During 2007, claims for recovery of cost associated with requirements for additional security-cleared
labor on three of the embassies were settled. Claims for equitable adjustment submitted or identified to
date on three of the projects remain open and total approximately $59 million. As the first formal step in
dispute resolution, the majority of these claims have now been certified in accordance with federal
contracting requirements. As of December 31, 2007, aggregate cost totaling $47 million relating to these
claims has been incurred and recognized in revenue. Additional claims continue to be evaluated.
New awards in the Government segment were $1.2 billion during 2007, compared with $2.2 billion
during 2006 and $2.5 billion in 2005. Backlog and new awards in 2007 do not include amounts for the
Logistics Augmentation Program (LOGCAP) IV contract, awarded in the second quarter, pending
resolution of protest proceedings and subsequent award of task orders. The decrease in new awards in
2007 was due to the significant decrease in emergency response work for FEMA and reconstruction
activities in Iraq. Many projects performed on behalf of U.S. government clients under multi-year contracts
provide for annual funding. As a result, new awards for the Government segment only reflect the annual
award of work to be performed over the ensuing 12 months for annually-funded contracts.
Backlog during 2007 decreased to $740 million from $840 million in 2006 and $1.4 billion in 2005. The
decline in backlog in 2006 compared to 2005 is the result of progress towards completion on the Fernald
and Iraq contracts. FEMA awards have generally been performed very quickly and therefore have not
significantly impacted backlog from one period to the next. The company is no longer pursuing projects in
the embassy market.
Total assets in the Government segment were $285 million at December 31, 2007, down from
$597 million at December 31, 2006. This decrease was primarily due to the billing and collection of
substantially all of the previously unbilled fees on the Fernald project and progress towards completion on
the FEMA and Iraq reconstruction contracts. During 2006, segment assets decreased from $905 million at
December 31, 2005. This decrease was the principal result of progress towards completion on the FEMA
and Iraq reconstruction contracts.
Global Services
Revenue and operating profit for the Global Services segment are summarized as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006
2005

(in millions)

Revenue
Operating profit

$2,460.0

$2,137.9

$1,577.7

201.4

152.4

113.7

The 2007 and 2006 increases in revenue reflect continued growth across the segment’s various service
lines. The segment continues to implement a disciplined growth strategy through widespread expansion of
existing core competencies and regional deployment of new services and business models.
Operating profit increases for 2007 and 2006 reflect the strong business environment extending across
most of Global Services’ markets. Additionally, in 2006, operating profit was favorably impacted by
hurricane recovery activities. Operating profit margin in the Global Services segment was 8.2 percent,
7.1 percent and 7.2 percent for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 respectively.
The equipment, temporary staffing and supply chain solutions business lines do not report backlog
due to the short turnaround between the receipt of new awards and the recognition of revenue.
Accordingly, new awards and backlog for the segment relate to the operations and maintenance activities
only. In recent years, Global Services has derived larger percentages of its revenue and operating profit
from short-duration operations and maintenance activities and from other business not reported in
backlog.
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New awards in the Global Services segment were $2.2 billion during 2007, $1.6 billion during 2006 and
$2.2 billion during 2005. New awards during 2007 include new work and renewals for key clients. New
awards in 2005 included two large multi-year operations and maintenance awards.
Backlog for the Global Services segment was $2.5 billion at December 31, 2007. During 2006, backlog
for the Global Services segment declined to $2.3 billion, compared with $2.5 billion at the end of 2005.
Contributing to the 2006 backlog decline was the execution in 2006 of a substantial portion of a fixed
duration contract.
Total assets in the Global Services segment increased to $856 million at December 31, 2007, up from
$721 million at December 31, 2006 and $640 million at December 31, 2005 as the principal result of
investments in equipment and working capital to support revenue growth.
Power
Revenue and operating profit for the Power segment are summarized as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006
2005

(in millions)

Revenue
Operating profit

$1,167.9

$541.6

$383.6

38.0

4.3

13.3

Revenue in 2007 increased compared to 2006 and 2005 primarily due to higher volume of work
performed on a new project awarded in 2007 and continuing activities on projects awarded in 2006 and
2005. Revenue levels in 2006 and 2005 were negatively impacted by the reduced level of construction of
new power plants following the completion of the most recent building cycle in 2003.
Operating profit margin in the Power segment increased to 3.3 percent during 2007 from 0.8 percent
during 2006. The 2007 increase in operating profit is the result of higher levels of project execution
activities. The lower 2006 operating profit was the combined result of a charge associated with the final
resolution of a project dispute, a loss on another project, a concentration of projects that were in the early
stages where profit recognition is generally lower and higher overhead spending in anticipation of
increasing revenue in an expanding market. The 2005 operating results include the negative impact of a
loss on one project, partly offset by successful project close-out activities on a number of other projects.
Projects in the Power segment are often bid and awarded on a fixed-price basis. This method of contracting
provides opportunities for margin improvement resulting from successful execution, but also exposes the
segment to the risk of cost overruns due to factors such as material cost and labor productivity variances or
schedule delays.
The power market is entering an expansion phase that the company believes will translate to higher
operating performance for the segment. New awards in the Power segment are typically large in amount,
but occur on an irregular basis. New awards of $2.2 billion in 2007 include a $1.7 billion award for the Oak
Grove coal-fired power units in Texas for Luminant, a unit of Energy Future Holdings Corporation. New
awards of $635 million during 2006 included a plant retrofit project in South Carolina. New awards of
$1.0 billion during 2005 included a contract for the installation of three flue-gas desulphurization units at a
coal-fired power facility in Kentucky and a 200 megawatt power plant in Nevada.
Backlog for the Power segment increased to $2.4 billion at December 31, 2007 from $1.3 billion at
December 31, 2006 and from $1.1 billion at December 31, 2005, reflecting growth in the number of
projects in progress.
Total assets in the Power segment increased to $150 million at December 31, 2007 from $137 million
at December 31, 2006 and $94 million at December 31, 2005, due to additional working capital associated
with the higher level of project execution activities.
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Corporate, Tax and Other Matters
Corporate For the three years ended December 31, 2007, corporate administrative and general
expenses were $193.9 million, $178.8 million and $143.7 million, respectively. The increase in 2007 is
primarily due to higher incentive and stock-price based compensation cost as a result of the increase in the
company’s stock price. Corporate administrative and general expense includes non-operating income of
$2.6 million during 2007, non-operating expense of $5 million relating principally to an investment
impairment provision during 2006 and non-operating income of $9 million for the year 2005. The 2005
amount relates primarily to gains from sales of portfolio properties including the corporate headquarters
building discussed below. The 2006 increase in corporate administrative and general expense includes
$13.1 million from the adoption of the new share-based compensation accounting standard compared with
2005. Additionally, during 2006, expenses recorded with respect to the relocation of the corporate
headquarters increased by $8.5 million.
In May 2005, the company announced its decision to relocate its corporate headquarters from
Southern California to the Dallas/Fort Worth metropolitan area. The relocation was completed in the
second quarter of 2006. Approximately 120 employees in Southern California who did not relocate to
Texas left the company. The cost of these employee displacements was accrued ratably starting in the third
quarter of 2005 through the date of the employee departures. All other relocation and hiring cost was
charged to expense as incurred. Total relocation cost included in corporate administrative and general
expense was $14.2 million and $5.7 million during 2006 and 2005, respectively.
The corporate facility in California was sold in 2005. The cost to construct the new Texas headquarters
totaled $60 million and was funded from available cash resources including proceeds from the sale of the
former headquarters facility.
Net interest income was $40.5 million, $4.3 million and $7.4 million for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Net interest income significantly increased in 2007 primarily as a result
of higher cash balances and interest rates during the year. The 2006 decrease was the net result of interest
expense on outstanding commercial paper balances during the first six months of 2006 that were required
to support project execution activities, an increase in the interest rates on those commercial paper
borrowings and the consolidation of non-recourse project finance debt starting in the fourth quarter of
2005, partially offset by higher cash balances and investment interest rates during the second half of 2005.
Higher interest income in 2005 related principally to larger available cash balances and higher short-term
interest rates.
Tax The effective tax rates on the company’s pretax earnings were 17.8 percent, 31.0 percent and
24.1 percent for the years 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. In connection with the IRS examination of the
company’s income tax returns for the tax years beginning November 1, 1995 through December 31, 2000,
the IRS proposed numerous adjustments that, if sustained, would have resulted in significant additional
taxes and penalties. The company filed protests with IRS Appeals contesting many of the proposed
adjustments and reached an agreement with IRS Appeals, which was reviewed and approved in December
2007 by the Congressional Joint Committee on Taxation. As a result of the IRS Appeals settlement, the
company recognized a $123 million reduction to income tax expense in 2007.
The 2006 effective tax rate includes a favorable benefit of the extraterritorial income exclusion and the
reversal of certain valuation allowances resulting from the realization of associated tax benefits, partially
offset by the unfavorable impact of tax rate changes on certain state deferred taxes.
The comparatively low 2005 tax rate was primarily attributable to a favorable audit settlement for the
1993 through 1995 tax years with the Internal Revenue Service, tax benefits associated with the dividends
made pursuant to the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the ‘‘AJCA’’) as more fully discussed below and
the reversal of certain valuation allowances resulting from the realization of tax benefits associated with
such items on the tax returns. These items include certain net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards.
In addition, the increased foreign activities of the company during the year also produced increased
extraterritorial income exclusion tax benefit. These aforementioned favorable tax rate variances were
partially offset by the tax effect recorded on certain foreign earnings which the company had previously
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planned to reinvest overseas indefinitely. During 2005, the company reviewed its intent with respect to
such foreign earnings and decided to forego this permanent reinvestment plan. Accordingly, the 2005 tax
rate reflects the U.S. tax effect on these earnings.
The AJCA created a one-time incentive for U.S. corporations to repatriate certain qualified foreign
earnings by providing an 85 percent dividends received deduction, subject to specific reinvestment
guidelines and certain limitations. In August 2005, the company’s Domestic Reinvestment Plan (the
‘‘Plan’’) prepared pursuant to the AJCA was approved by the company’s Chief Executive Officer. The Plan
was ratified by the Executive Committee of the company’s Board of Directors on August 29, 2005. In
September 2005, approximately $89 million was repatriated from certain foreign subsidiaries of the
company, including certain previously taxed income and the base year amount as provided under the
repatriation provision of the AJCA. The results of operations for 2005 included a tax benefit of
$3.8 million attributable to the dividends received deduction, net of the foreign tax credits given up in
exchange for such deduction.
Litigation and Matters in Dispute Resolution
Conex International v. Fluor Enterprises, Inc.
In November 2006, a Jefferson County, Texas, jury reached an unexpected verdict in the case of Conex
International (‘‘Conex’’) v. Fluor Enterprises Inc. (‘‘FEI’’), ruling in favor of Conex and awarding
$98.8 million in damages related to a 2001 construction project.
In 2001, Atofina (now part of Total Petrochemicals Inc.) hired Conex International to be the
mechanical contractor on a project at Atofina’s refinery in Port Arthur, Texas. FEI was also hired to
provide certain engineering advice to Atofina on the project. There was no contract between Conex and
FEI. Later in 2001 after the project was complete, Conex and Atofina negotiated a final settlement for
extra work on the project. Conex sued FEI in September 2003 alleging damages for interference and
misrepresentation and demanding that FEI should pay Conex the balance of the extra work charges that
Atofina did not pay in the settlement. Conex also asserted that FEI interfered with Conex’s contract and
business relationship with Atofina. The jury verdict awarded damages for the extra work and the alleged
interference.
The company has appealed the decision and believes, based on the advice of counsel, that it is
probable that any judgment based on this verdict would be overturned. The company strongly believes that
the judgment based on this verdict is supported neither by the facts nor the law, and will pursue all possible
avenues for reconsideration or appeal. Accordingly, the company did not recognize a charge reflecting the
verdict amount.
Fluor Daniel International and Fluor Arabia Ltd. v. General Electric Company, et al
In October 1998, Fluor Daniel International and Fluor Arabia Ltd. filed a complaint in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of New York against General Electric Company and certain
operating subsidiaries as well as Saudi American General Electric, a Saudi Arabian corporation. The
complaint seeks damages in connection with the procurement, engineering and construction of the Rabigh
Combined Cycle Power Plant in Saudi Arabia. Subsequent to a motion to compel arbitration of the matter,
the company initiated arbitration proceedings in New York under the American Arbitration Association
international rules. The evidentiary phase of the arbitration has been concluded. In January 2005 the
arbitration panel indicated that it would be rendering its decision in two phases; the first to be a decision
on entitlement and second, a decision on damages. On May 4, 2005 the arbitration panel issued a partial
award on entitlement issues which confirmed Fluor’s entitlement to recovery of certain of its claims for
cost incurred in construction of the plant. On April 10, 2007, the arbitration panel issued a partial final
award stipulating the amount of entitlement to recovery of certain claims and awarding interest on the net
amounts due Fluor. An award on the amount of interest due Fluor is expected in 2008. The company does
not expect that the final resolution of the arbitration will have a material effect on its consolidated
financial position or results of operations.
As of December 31, 2007, a number of matters relating to completed and in progress projects are in
the dispute resolution process. These include an Infrastructure Joint Venture Project and the London
Connect Project, which are discussed above under ‘‘— Industrial & Infrastructure’’ and certain Embassy
Projects, which are discussed above under ‘‘— Government’’.
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Financial Position and Liquidity
Cash provided by operating activities during 2007 was $905 million compared with $296 million in
2006 and $409 million in 2005. During 2007, cash generated by operating activities resulted from earnings
sources and reduced working capital excluding cash, which includes the billing and collection of fees on the
Fernald project. During 2006, cash generated by operating activities resulted primarily from earnings
sources. The 2005 amount includes $245 million collected in connection with the close-out of a project in
Venezuela.
The levels of operating assets and liabilities vary from year to year and are affected by the mix, stage
of completion and commercial terms of engineering and construction projects. The increase in new awards
over the last three years will continue to result in periodic start-up activities where the use of cash is
greatest on projects for which cash is not provided by advances from clients. As work progresses on
individual projects and client payments on invoiced amounts begin, cash used in start-up activities is
recovered and cash flows tend to stabilize through project completion. Liquidity is also provided by
substantial advance billings on contracts in progress. As customer advances are used in project execution
and not replaced by advances on new projects, the company’s cash position will be reduced. In the event
there is net investment in operating assets that exceeds available cash balances the company maintains
short-term borrowing facilities to satisfy any periodic net operating cash outflows.
Cash from operating activities is used to provide contributions to the company’s defined contribution
and defined benefit plans. While contributions to defined contribution plans have fluctuated over the past
three years in response to increases in the number of eligible employees, contributions to the defined
benefit plans have shown more variability, at $62 million in 2007 compared with $41 million in 2006 and
$89 million in 2005. The large contributions in 2005 were due in part to the variability of actual returns on
plan assets coupled with the business objective to utilize available resources to maintain or achieve full
funding of accumulated benefits in most of the plans. One plan that was not fully funded in 2004 received a
contribution totaling $60 million during 2005, which provided full funding to the level of accumulated
benefits as of the end of that year. As of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 all plans were funded to the
level of accumulated benefits.
Cash flows from investing activities during 2005 included $45 million from the sale of real estate assets
and a residual property interest. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, $60 million, $39 million and $25 million,
respectively were received from the disposal of primarily construction equipment associated with the
equipment operations in the Global Services segment.
Cash utilized by investing activities in 2007, 2006 and 2005 included capital expenditures of
$284 million, $274 million and $213 million, respectively. Expenditures during 2007 include significant
amounts relating to equipment operations and investments in computer infrastructure upgrades. Capital
expenditures include $36 million in 2006 and $24 million in 2005 for construction of the new corporate
headquarters facility in Texas, but otherwise relate primarily to the equipment operations in the Global
Services segment that support engineering and construction projects. The increase in these capital
expenditures over the past three years related largely to the ongoing renewal and replacement in the
construction equipment operations, investments in computer infrastructure upgrades, rental equipment to
support reconstruction activity in Iraq in 2005 and hurricane recovery in the United States during 2005.
Capital expenditures in future periods will include equipment purchases for the equipment operations of
the Global Services segment, renewal and refurbishment of other facilities and computer infrastructure in
support of the company’s continuing investment in automated systems. New engineering and construction
joint ventures of the Industrial & Infrastructure segment in the United Kingdom during 2005 required
capital contributions totaling approximately $30 million.
During 2006, the company amended and restated its Senior Credit Facility, increasing the size from
$800 million to $1.5 billion and extending the maturity to 2011.
During 2004, the company issued $330 million of 1.5 percent Convertible Senior Notes (the ‘‘Notes’’)
due 2024, realizing net proceeds of $323 million. Proceeds from the Notes were used to pay off the
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then-outstanding commercial paper and $100 million was used to obtain ownership of engineering and
corporate office facilities in California through payoff of the lease financing. Ownership of the Calgary,
Canada facilities was also obtained during 2004 through the payoff of $28.6 million of lease financing using
available Canadian cash balances.
In December 2004, the company irrevocably elected to pay the principal amount of the Notes in cash.
Notes are convertible if the specified trading price of the company’s common stock (the ‘‘trigger price’’) is
achieved and maintained for a specified period. During the fourth quarter of 2005 and throughout 2006
and 2007, the trigger price was achieved for the specified number of days and the Notes have therefore
been classified as short-term debt as of December 31, 2007 and 2006. During 2007, holders converted
$22.8 million of the Notes in exchange for the principal balance owed in cash plus 251,731 shares of the
company’s common stock. The company does not know the timing or principal amount of the remaining
Notes that may be presented for conversion in the future. Available cash balances will be used to satisfy
any principal payments. Shares of the company’s common stock will be issued to satisfy any appreciation
between the conversion price and the market price on the date of conversion.
In December 2004, the company filed a ‘‘shelf’’ registration statement for the issuance of up to
$500 million of any combination of debt securities or common stock, the proceeds from which could be
used for debt retirement, the funding of working capital requirements or other corporate purposes.
Pursuant to the shelf registration statement, the company subsequently entered into a distribution
agreement for up to 2,000,000 shares of common stock. During 2005, the company sold 758,367 shares
under this distribution agreement, realizing net proceeds of $41.8 million. No shares were issued in 2007 or
2006 under this distribution agreement.
During 2007 and 2006, non-recourse project financing provided $101.7 and $127.3 million of financing
cash flow, respectively, related to the National Roads Telecommunications Services Project. During 2005,
an equity bridge loan and non-recourse project financing provided $16.8 million and $57.6 million,
respectively, of financing cash flow. These amounts relate to the activities of a joint venture that was
previously consolidated in the company’s financial statements. See below under Variable Interest Entities —
National Roads Telecommunications Services Project for further discussion of this matter.
A warrant for the purchase of 460,000 shares was exercised in 2006, yielding proceeds of $16.6 million.
Proceeds from stock option exercises provided cash flow of $12.5 million, $15.2 million and $50.6 million
during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The company has a common stock repurchase program,
authorized by the Board of Directors, to purchase shares in open market or negotiated transactions.
During 2007, 2,800 shares of company stock were repurchased by the company under its stock repurchase
program. No purchases were made during 2006 or 2005. The maximum number of shares that could be
purchased under the existing repurchase program is 4.1 million shares.
Quarterly cash dividends declared totaled $0.16 per share in 2005. In the first quarter of 2006, the
company’s Board of Directors authorized an increase in the quarterly dividend payable April 3, 2006 to
$0.20 per share. Declared dividends are typically paid during the month following the quarter in which they
are declared. However, for the dividend paid to shareholders as of January 3, 2006, payment by the
company to the disbursing agent occurred in the month of December 2005, resulting in two cash payments
by the company in the fourth quarter of 2005. In the first quarter of 2008, the company’s Board of
Directors authorized an increase in the quarterly dividend payable April 2, 2008 to $0.25 per share. The
payment and level of future cash dividends will be subject to the discretion of the company’s Board of
Directors.
During 2007 and 2006, exchange rates for functional currencies for most of the company’s
international operations strengthened against the U.S. dollar resulting in unrealized translation gains that
are reflected in the cumulative translation component of other comprehensive income. During 2005 the
exchange rates for these currencies weakened against the U.S. dollar, and unrealized translation losses
occurred. Unrealized gains of $53.8 million in 2007, $10.3 million in 2006 and unrealized losses of
$32.9 million in 2005 primarily relate to cash balances held in currencies other than the U.S. dollar.
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Because most of the cash held in foreign currencies will be used for project related expenditures in those
currencies, the company’s exposure to realized exchange gains and losses is considered nominal.
Liquidity is provided by cash generated from operations, advance billings on contracts in progress and
access to financial markets. As customer advances are reduced through use in project execution and if not
replaced by advances on new projects, the company’s cash position could be reduced. For the next
12 months, cash generated from operations supplemented by borrowings under credit facilities and the
issuance of debt or equity securities are expected to be sufficient to fund operations.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements (including Contractual Obligations) The company maintains a variety
of commercial commitments that are generally made available to provide support for various commercial
provisions in its engineering and construction contracts. The company has $2.2 billion in committed and
uncommitted lines of credit to support letters of credit. Letters of credit are provided to clients in the
ordinary course of business in lieu of retention or performance and completion guarantees on engineering
and construction contracts. At December 31, 2007, the company had utilized $994 million of its credit
capacity. In addition, the company has $113 million in credit lines for general purposes in addition to the
amount above. The company also posts surety bonds as generally required by commercial terms, primarily
on state and local government projects to guarantee its performance on contracts.
Contractual Obligations at December 31, 2007 are summarized as follows:
Contractual Obligations

Total

Amount of Commitment Expiration Per Period
1 year or less 2-3 years 4-5 years Over 5 years

$ in millions

Debt:
1.5% Convertible Senior Notes
5.625% Municipal bonds
Interest on debt obligations(1)
Operating leases(2)
Uncertain tax contingencies(3)
Joint venture contributions
Pension minimum funding(4)
Other post-employment benefits
Other compensation related obligations(5)

$ 307
18
16
306
73
27
234
47
354

$307
—
6
48
—
3
17
6
47

$ —
—
2
97
—
6
104
13
65

$ —
—
2
53
—
17
113
11
47

$ —
18
6
108
73
1
—
17
195

Total

$1,382

$434

$287

$243

$418

(1)

Interest is based on the borrowings that are presently outstanding and the timing of payment indicated in the
above table. Interest relating to possible future debt issuances is excluded since an accurate outlook of interest
rates and amounts outstanding cannot be reasonably predicted.

(2)

Operating leases are primarily for engineering and project execution office facilities in Sugar Land, Texas, the
United Kingdom and various other U.S and international locations, equipment used in connection with long-term
construction contracts and other personal property.

(3)

Uncertain tax contingencies are positions taken or expected to be taken on an income tax return that may result
in additional payments to tax authorities. The total amount of uncertain tax contingencies is included in the
‘‘Over 5 years’’ column as the company is not able to reasonably estimate the timing of potential future payments.
If a tax authority agrees with the tax position taken or expected to be taken or the applicable statute of limitations
expires, then additional payments will not be necessary.

(4)

The company generally provides funding to its U.S. and non-U.S. pension plans based on the minimum required
by applicable regulations. In determining the minimum required funding, the company utilizes current actuarial
assumptions and exchange rates to forecast estimates of amounts that may be payable for up to five years in the
future. In management’s judgment, minimum funding estimates beyond a five year time horizon cannot be
reliably estimated. Where minimum funding as determined for each individual plan would not achieve a funded
status to the level of accumulated benefit obligations, additional discretionary funding may be provided from
available cash resources.

(5)

Principally deferred executive compensation.
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Variable Interest Entities
National Roads Telecommunications Services (‘‘NRTS’’) Project
In 2005, the company’s Industrial & Infrastructure segment was awarded a $544 million project by a
joint venture, GeneSYS Telecommunications Limited (‘‘GeneSYS’’), in which the company owns a
45 percent interest and HSBC Infrastructure Fund Management Limited owns a 55 percent interest. The
project was entered into with the United Kingdom Secretary of State for Transport (the ‘‘Highways
Agency’’) to design, build, maintain and finance a significant upgrade to the integrated transmission
network throughout England’s motorways. GeneSYS financed the engineering and construction (‘‘E&C’’)
of the upgraded telecommunications infrastructure with approximately $279 million of non-recourse debt
(the ‘‘term loan facility’’) from a consortium of lenders (the ‘‘Banks’’) along with joint venture member
equity contributions and subordinated debt which were financed during the construction period utilizing
equity bridge loans from outside lenders. During September 2007, the joint venture members paid their
required permanent financing commitments in the amount of $44 million and were issued Subordinated
Notes by GeneSYS. These funds were used by GeneSYS to repay the temporary construction term
financing including the company’s equity bridge loan. In early October 2007, the newly constructed
network achieved operational status and was fully accepted by the Highways Agency on December 20,
2007, thereby concluding the E&C phase and entering the operations and maintenance phase of the
project.
Based on a qualitative analysis of the variable interests of all parties involved at the formation of
GeneSYS, under the provisions of FIN 46-R, the company was initially determined to be the primary
beneficiary of the joint venture. The company’s consolidated financial statements included the accounts of
GeneSYS, and, accordingly, the non-recourse debt provided by the Banks from the inception of the
venture. Effective October 1, 2007, the company no longer consolidates the accounts of GeneSYS because
it is no longer the primary beneficiary of the joint venture.
FIN 46-R requires that the initial determination of whether an entity is a variable interest entity
(‘‘VIE’’) shall be reconsidered under certain conditions. One of those conditions is when the entity’s
governing documents or contractual arrangements are changed in a manner that changes the
characteristics or adequacy of the entity’s equity investment at risk. Such an event occurred in September
2007 upon the infusion of capital by the joint venture members which resulted in permanent financing
through issuance of Subordinated Notes by GeneSYS that replaced the temporary equity bridge loans that
had been provided by outside lenders. This refinancing of temporary debt with permanent debt constituted
a change in the governing documents of GeneSYS that required reconsideration of GeneSYS as a variable
interest entity.
Based on the new capitalization structure of GeneSYS, the adequacy of the equity at risk in GeneSYS
was evaluated and found to be inadequate to finance its operations without additional subordinated
financial support. Accordingly, upon reconsideration, GeneSYS continues to be a variable interest entity.
Because the company holds a variable interest in the entity through its equity and debt investments, a
qualitative evaluation was undertaken to determine if it was the primary beneficiary. In this evaluation, the
company considered all parties that have direct or implicit variable interests based on the contractual
arrangements existing at the time of reconsideration. Based on this evaluation, the company has
determined that it is no longer the primary beneficiary of GeneSYS. Accordingly, GeneSYS is not
consolidated in the company’s accounts at December 31, 2007 and is being accounted for on the equity
method of accounting.
The company’s maximum exposure to loss relating to its investment in GeneSYS is its aggregate
$20 million equity and debt investment plus any un-remitted earnings. The term loan is an obligation of
GeneSYS and will never be a debt repayment obligation of the company because it is non-recourse to the
joint venture members.
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Interstate 495 Capital Beltway Project
In December 2007, the company was awarded the $1.3 billion Interstate 495 Capital Beltway
high-occupancy toll (‘‘HOT’’) lanes project in Virginia. The project is a public-private partnership between
the Virginia Department of Transportation (‘‘VDOT’’) and Capital Beltway Express LLC, a joint venture
in which the company has a ten percent interest and Transurban (USA) Inc. has a 90 percent interest
(‘‘Fluor-Transurban’’). Under the agreement, VDOT will own and oversee the addition of traffic lanes,
interchange improvements and construction of HOT lanes on 14 miles of the I-495 Capital Beltway in
northern Virginia. Fluor-Transurban, as concessionaire, will develop, design, finance, construct, maintain
and operate the improvements and HOT lanes under an 80 year concession agreement. The construction
will be financed through grant funding from VDOT, non-recourse borrowings from issuance of public
tax-exempt bonds, a non-recourse loan from the Federal Transportation Infrastructure Finance Innovation
Act (TIFIA) which is administered by the U.S. Department of Transportation and equity contributions
from the joint venture members.
The construction of the improvements and HOT lanes will be performed by a construction joint
venture in which the company has a 65 percent interest and Lane Construction has a 35 percent interest
(‘‘Fluor-Lane’’). Transurban (USA) Inc. will perform the operations and maintenance upon completion of
the improvements and commencement of operations of the toll lanes.
Fluor-Transurban has been determined to be a variable interest entity under the provisions of
FIN 46-R. Pursuant to the requirements of the Interpretation, the company evaluated its interest in FluorTransurban including its project execution obligations and risks relating to its interest in Fluor-Lane and
has determined based on a qualitative analysis that it is not the primary beneficiary of Fluor-Transurban.
The company’s maximum exposure to loss relating to its investment in Fluor-Transurban is its $35 million
aggregate equity investment commitment, of which $9 million has been funded, plus any un-remitted
earnings. The company will never have repayment obligations associated with any of the debt because it is
non-recourse to the joint venture members. The company will account for its ownership interest in FluorTransurban on the equity method of accounting. The company will fully consolidate Fluor-Lane in its
consolidated financial statements.
Guarantees In the ordinary course of business, the company enters into various agreements providing
financial or performance assurances to clients on behalf of certain unconsolidated partnerships, joint
ventures and other jointly executed contracts. These agreements are entered into primarily to support the
project execution commitments of these entities. The guarantees have various expiration dates ranging
from mechanical completion of the facilities being constructed to a period extending beyond contract
completion in certain circumstances. The maximum potential payment amount of an outstanding
performance guarantee is the remaining cost of work to be performed by or on behalf of third parties
under engineering and construction contracts. The amount of guarantees outstanding measured on this
basis totals $3.2 billion as of December 31, 2007. Amounts that may be required to be paid in excess of
estimated cost to complete contracts in progress are not estimable. For cost reimbursable contracts,
amounts that may become payable pursuant to guarantee provisions are normally recoverable from the
client for work performed under the contract. For lump sum or fixed price contracts, this amount is the
cost to complete the contracted work less amounts remaining to be billed to the client under the contract.
Remaining billable amounts could be greater or less than the cost to complete. In those cases where costs
exceed the remaining amounts payable under the contract the company may have recourse to third parties,
such as owners, co-venturers, subcontractors or vendors for claims. The carrying value of the liability for
guarantees is not material.
Financial guarantees, made in the ordinary course of business on behalf of clients and others in
certain limited circumstances, are entered into with financial institutions and other credit grantors and
generally obligate the company to make payment in the event of a default by the borrower. Most
arrangements require the borrower to pledge collateral in the form of property, plant and equipment
which is deemed adequate to recover amounts the company might be required to pay. There are no
material guarantees outstanding as of December 31, 2007.
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Inflation Although inflation and cost trends affect the company, its engineering and construction
operations are generally protected by the ability to fix cost at the time of bidding or to recover cost
increases in cost reimbursable contracts. The company has taken actions to reduce its dependence on
external economic conditions; however, management is unable to predict with certainty the amount and
mix of future business.
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Discussions about Market Risk
The company invests excess cash in short-term securities, primarily time deposits, that carry a floating
money market rate of return. Additionally, a substantial portion of the company’s cash balances are
maintained in foreign countries. All of the company’s long-term debt instruments carry a fixed rate
coupon. The company’s exposure to interest rate risk on fixed rate debt is not material due to the low
interest rates on these obligations.
The company does not currently use derivatives, such as swaps, to alter the interest characteristics of
its short-term securities or its debt instruments. The company generally utilizes currency options and
forward exchange contracts to hedge foreign currency transactions entered into in the ordinary course of
business and does not engage in currency speculation. At December 31, 2007, the company had forward
foreign exchange contracts of less than 8 months duration, to exchange major world currencies. The total
gross notional amount of these contracts at December 31, 2007 was $65 million.
During 2007, exchange rates for functional currencies for most of the company’s international
operations strengthened against the U.S. dollar, resulting in unrealized translation gains that are reflected
in the cumulative translation component of other comprehensive income.
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data
The information required by this Item is submitted as a separate section of this Form 10-K. See
Item 15 — ‘‘Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules’’ beginning on page F-1, below.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Based on their evaluation as of December 31, 2007, which is the end of the period covered by this
annual report on Form 10-K, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) or 15d-15(e) of the Exchange
Act) are effective, based upon an evaluation of those controls and procedures required by paragraph (b) of
Rule 13a-15 or Rule 15d-15 of the Exchange Act.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
financial reporting and for the assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.
The company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
under the Exchange Act, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of consolidated financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the U.S.
In connection with the preparation of the company’s annual consolidated financial statements,
management of the company has undertaken an assessment of the effectiveness of the company’s internal
control over financial reporting based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (‘‘the COSO
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Framework’’). Management’s assessment included an evaluation of the design of the company’s internal
control over financial reporting and testing of the operational effectiveness of the company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Based on this assessment, management has concluded that the company’s
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2007.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the company’s
consolidated financial statements included in this annual report on Form 10-K, has issued an attestation
report on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting which appears below.
Attestation Report of the Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Fluor Corporation
We have audited Fluor Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Fluor Corporation’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and
operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have
a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk
that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, Fluor Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on the COSO criteria.
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We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), the consolidated balance sheets of Fluor Corporation as of December 31, 2007 and
2006, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, cash flows, and shareholders’ equity for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007 of Fluor Corporation and our report dated
February 29, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Dallas, Texas
February 29, 2008
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the fourth quarter
of the fiscal year ending December 31, 2007 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
Item 9B. Other Information
None.
PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
The information required by Item 401 of Regulation S-K (except for information pertaining to our
executive officers, which information is set forth below) is hereby incorporated by reference from the
information contained in the section entitled ‘‘Election of Directors — Biographical Information’’ in our
Proxy Statement for our 2008 annual meeting of shareholders. Disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to
Item 405 of Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference from the information contained in the section
entitled ‘‘Stock Ownership and Stock-Based Holdings of Executive Officers and Directors — Section 16(a)
Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance’’ in our Proxy Statement. Information regarding the Audit
Committee is hereby incorporated by reference from the information contained in the section entitled
‘‘Corporate Governance — Board of Directors Meetings and Committees — Audit Committee’’ in our
Proxy Statement.
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Executive Officers of the Registrant
The following information is being furnished with respect to the company’s executive officers:
Name

Ray F. Barnard . . . .
Alan L. Boeckmann
David E. Constable .
Stephen B. Dobbs . .

Age

.
.
.
.

49
59
46
51

Jeffery L. Faulk . . . . . . . . . . . . . .
Garry W. Flowers . . . . . . . . . . . . .

57
56

H. Steven Gilbert . . . . . . . . . . . . .

60

Kirk D. Grimes . . . .
Carlos M. Hernandez
John L. Hopkins . . . .
Victor L. Prechtl . . .
David T. Seaton . . . .
Gary G. Smalley . . . .
D. Michael Steuert . .
Dwayne Wilson . . . .

50
53
54
61
46
49
59
49

(1)
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.
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.
.

Position with the Company

(1)

Chief Information Officer
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Group President, Power
Senior Group President, Industrial & Infrastructure,
Government and Global Services
Senior Group President, Energy & Chemicals and Power
Senior Vice President, HSE, Security & Industrial
Relations
Senior Vice President, Human Resources and
Administration
Group President, Global Services
Chief Legal Officer and Secretary
Group President, Government
Vice President and Controller
Group President, Energy & Chemicals
Vice President, Internal Audit
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Group President, Industrial & Infrastructure

Except where otherwise indicated, all references are to positions held with Fluor Corporation or one of its
subsidiaries. All of the officers listed in the preceding table serve in their respective capacities at the
pleasure of the Board of Directors.

Ray F. Barnard
Mr. Barnard has been Chief Information Officer since February 2002. Prior to that, from 2000 - 2002,
he was Senior Vice President of TradeMC, a developer and promoter of supplier networks for the
procurement of capital goods in which the company had an ownership interest. Prior to that, he was Vice
President, IBM Corporation from 1999 to 2000 and Executive Vice President of ENSCO Corporation from
1988 to 1999. Mr. Barnard joined the company in 2000.
Alan L. Boeckmann
Mr. Boeckmann has been Chairman and Chief Executive Officer since February 2002 and a member
of the Board of Directors since 2001. Prior to that, he was President and Chief Operating Officer from
February 2001 to February 2002; President and Chief Executive Officer of Fluor Daniel from March 1999
to February 2001; and Group President, Energy & Chemicals, from 1996 to 1999. Mr. Boeckmann joined
the company in 1979 with previous service from 1974 to 1977.
David E. Constable
Mr. Constable has been Group President, Power since October 2005 and was Senior Vice President,
Sales for Energy & Chemicals from 2003 to 2005. Prior to that, he was President, Operations &
Maintenance and Telecommunications business lines from 2000 to 2003. Mr. Constable joined the
company in 1982.
Stephen B. Dobbs
Mr. Dobbs has been Senior Group President, Industrial & Infrastructure, Government and Global
Services since March 2007. Prior to that, he was Group President, Industrial and Infrastructure from
September 2005 to March 2007; President, Infrastructure from 2002 to September 2005; and President,
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Transportation from 2001 to 2002. Prior to that, he was Vice President, Sales, Infrastructure from 1999 to
2001. Mr. Dobbs joined the company in 1980.
Jeffery L. Faulk
Mr. Faulk has been Senior Group President, Energy & Chemicals and Power since March 2007. Prior
to that, he was Group President, Energy & Chemicals from September 2005 to March 2007; and Group
President, Oil, Gas & Power from October 2003 to September 2005. Prior to that, he was President and
Chief Executive Officer of Duke/Fluor Daniel from 2001 to October 2003; and Senior Vice President,
Operations, Energy & Chemicals and Vice President, Operations, Oil & Gas from 1996 to 2001. Mr. Faulk
joined the company in 1973.
Garry W. Flowers
Mr. Flowers has been Senior Vice President, HSE, Security & Industrial Relations since November
2003. Prior to that, he was Vice President, Industrial Relations from December 1995 to November 2003.
Mr. Flowers joined the company in 1978.
H. Steven Gilbert
Mr. Gilbert has been Senior Vice President, Human Resources and Administration since February
2002 and was Senior Vice President, Business and Work Process Integration from 1999 to February 2002.
Mr. Gilbert joined the company in 1970.
Kirk D. Grimes
Mr. Grimes has been Group President, Global Services since October 2003. Prior to that, he was
Group Executive, Oil & Gas from February 2001 to October 2003 and President, Telecommunications
from 1998 to February 2001. Mr. Grimes joined the company in 1980.
Carlos M. Hernandez
Mr. Hernandez has been Chief Legal Officer and Secretary since October 2007. Prior to joining the
company in October 2007, he was General Counsel and Secretary of ArcelorMittal USA, Inc., from April
2005 to October 2007, and General Counsel and Secretary of International Steel Group Inc., from
September 2004 to April 2005, prior to its acquisition by Mittal Steel Company. Prior to that, he was
General Counsel of Fleming Companies, Inc.from March 2000 to August 2004. Fleming Companies, Inc.
filed for bankruptcy protection under Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code on April 1, 2003.
John L. Hopkins
Mr. Hopkins has been Group President, Government since October 2003. Prior to that, he was Group
Executive, Sales, Marketing and Strategic Planning from February 2002 to October 2003 and Group
Executive, Fluor Global Services from September 2001 to February 2002. Prior to that, he was President
and Chief Executive Officer of TradeMC, a developer and promoter of supplier networks for the
procurement of capital goods in which the company had an ownership interest, from March 2000 to
September 2001. Mr. Hopkins joined the company in 1984.
Victor L. Prechtl
Mr. Prechtl has been Vice President and Controller since 1994. He joined the company in 1981.
David T. Seaton
Mr. Seaton has been Group President, Energy & Chemicals, since March 2007. Prior to that, he was
Senior Vice President, Sales for Energy & Chemicals and Chairman, Fluor Sales Board from September
2005 to March 2007; Senior Vice President, Chemicals Business Line from October 2004 to September
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2005; Senior Vice President, Sales for Energy & Chemicals from March 2002 to October 2004; and Vice
President, Sales from February 2000 to March 2002. Mr. Seaton joined the company in 1985.
Gary G. Smalley
Mr. Smalley will serve as Vice President and Controller, effective March 1, 2008. He has been Vice
President of Internal Audit since September 2002. Prior to that, he served in a number of financial
management roles, including Controller of South Latin America and Controller of Australia. Mr. Smalley
joined the company in 1991.
D. Michael Steuert
Mr. Steuert has been Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since May 2001. Prior to
joining the company in 2001, he was Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Litton
Industries, Inc., a major defense contractor, from 1999 to May 2001.
Dwayne Wilson
Mr. Wilson has been Group President, Industrial & Infrastructure since March 2007. Prior to that, he
was Senior Vice President and General Manager, Mining & Metals from March 2004 to March 2007;
President, Industrial & Infrastructure, Mining and Minerals from March 2002 to March 2004; and Vice
President, Operations from February 2000 to January 2002. Mr. Wilson joined the company in 1980.
Code of Ethics
We have long maintained and enforced a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to all Fluor
officers and employees, including our chief executive officer, chief financial officer, and principal
accounting officer and controller. A copy of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, as amended, has
been posted on the ‘‘Investor Relations’’ portion of our website, www.fluor.com. Shareholders may request
a free copy of our Code of Business Conduct and Ethics from:
Fluor Corporation
Attention: Investor Relations
6700 Las Colinas Boulevard
Irving, Texas 75039
(469) 398-7220
We have disclosed and intend to continue to disclose any changes or amendments to our code of
ethics or waivers from our code of ethics applicable to our chief executive officer, chief financial officer,
and principal accounting officer and controller by posting such changes or waivers to our website.
Corporate Governance
We have adopted Corporate Governance Guidelines, which are available on our website at
www.fluor.com under the ‘‘Investor Relations’’ portion of our website. Shareholders may also request a free
copy of our Corporate Governance Guidelines from the address and phone number set forth under ‘‘Code
of Ethics’’ above.
Certifications
In 2007, we submitted to the New York Stock Exchange certifications of our Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer and our Chief Legal Officer that they were not aware of any violation by Fluor
Corporation of the New York Stock Exchange’s corporate governance listing standards. In addition, we
have filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, as an exhibit to this Form 10-K with respect to
fiscal year 2007, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Section 302 certifications regarding the quality of our public
disclosure.
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Item 11. Executive Compensation
Information required by this item is included in the ‘‘Executive Compensation,’’ ‘‘Directors
Compensation’’ and ‘‘Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation’’ sections of our
Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters
The information required by this item is included in the ‘‘Stock Ownership and Stock-Based Holdings
of Executive Officers and Directors,’’ ‘‘Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners,’’ ‘‘Executive
Compensation’’ and ‘‘Equity Compensation Plan Information’’ sections of our Proxy Statement, which
information is incorporated herein by reference.
Equity Compensation Plan Information
The following table provides information as of December 31, 2007 with respect to the shares of
common stock that may be issued under the Company’s equity compensation plans:

Plan Category

Equity compensation plans
approved by shareholders (1) . . .
Equity compensation plans not
approved by shareholders (2) . . .
Total . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .

(a)
(b)
(c)
Number of securities to be Weighted average Number of securities available for
issued upon exercise of
exercise price of
future issuance under equity
outstanding options,
outstanding options,
compensation plans (excluding
warrants and rights
warrants and rights
securities listed in column (a))

705,203

$81.71

2,200,920

66,830

$32.49

—

772,033

$77.45

2,200,920

(1)

Consists of the 2000 Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended in 2006, under
which no securities are currently issuable upon exercise of outstanding options, warrants or rights,
66,648 shares issuable under the company’s 2000 Executive Performance Incentive Plan (the ‘‘2000
Plan’’), and 638,555 shares issuable under the company’s 2003 Executive Performance Incentive Plan,
as amended in 2005. The 2000 Plan was a broad-based plan that provided for the issuance of up to
12,000,000 shares of common stock pursuant to stock options, restricted stock, incentive awards or
stock units. Any person who was a full-time ‘‘exempt’’ employee or prospective employee of the
company or any consultant or advisor of the company was eligible for the grant of awards under the
2000 Plan. The 2000 Plan was terminated when the company’s 2003 Executive Performance Incentive
Plan was approved by shareholders at the company’s annual shareholders meeting in 2003.

(2)

Consists 66,830 shares issuable under the company’s 2001 Key Employee Performance Incentive Plan
(the ‘‘2001 Plan’’). The 2001 Plan was a broad-based plan that provided for the issuance of up to
3,600,000 shares of common stock pursuant to stock options, restricted stock, incentive awards or
stock units. Any person who was a full-time ‘‘exempt’’ employee or prospective employee of the
company or any consultant or advisor of the company was eligible for the grant of awards under the
2001 Plan. No awards under the 2001 Plan were granted to executive officers of the company. The
2001 Plan was terminated when the company’s 2003 Executive Performance Incentive Plan was
approved by shareholders at the company’s annual shareholders meeting in 2003.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
Information required by this item is included in the ‘‘Certain Relationships and Related Transactions’’
and ‘‘Determination of Independence of Directors’’ sections of the ‘‘Corporate Governance’’ portion of
our Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
Information required by this item is included in the ‘‘Ratification of Appointment of Auditor’’ section
of our Proxy Statement, which information is incorporated herein by reference.
PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(a) Documents filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K:
1.

Financial Statements:

Our consolidated financial statements at December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 and for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007 and the notes thereto, together with the report of
the independent registered public accounting firm on those consolidated financial statements are hereby
filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K, beginning on page F-1.
2.

Financial Statement Schedules:

No financial statement schedules are presented since the required information is not present or not
present in amounts sufficient to require submission of the schedule, or because the information required is
included in the consolidated financial statements and notes thereto.
3.

Exhibits:

Exhibit

Description

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the registrant (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10/A (Amendment No. 1) filed
on November 22, 2000).

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 15, 2007).

4.1

Indenture between Fluor Corporation and Bank of New York, as trustee, dated as of February 17,
2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on February 17, 2004).

4.2

First Supplemental Indenture between Fluor Corporation and The Bank of New York, as trustee,
dated as of February 17, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on February 17, 2004).

10.1

Distribution Agreement between the registrant and Fluor Corporation (renamed Massey Energy
Company) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on December 7, 2000).

10.2

Tax Sharing Agreement between the registrant and Fluor Corporation (renamed Massey Energy
Company) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on December 7, 2000).

10.3

Fluor Corporation 2000 Executive Performance Incentive Plan, as amended and restated as of
March 30, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed on May 5, 2005).

10.4

Fluor Corporation 2000 Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended and
restated on November 1, 2007.*

10.5

Fluor Corporation Executive Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended and restated effective
April 21, 2003.*
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10.6

Fluor Corporation Deferred Directors’ Fees Program, as amended and restated effective
January 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2003).

10.7

Directors’ Life Insurance Summary (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the registrant’s
Registration Statement on Form 10/A (Amendment No. 1) filed on November 22, 2000).

10.8

Fluor Executives’ Supplemental Benefit Plan.*

10.9

Fluor Corporation Retirement Plan for Outside Directors (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.15 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10/A (Amendment No. 1) filed
on November 22, 2000).

10.10

Executive Severance Plan.*

10.11

2001 Key Employee Performance Incentive Plan, as amended and restated as of March 30, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
filed on May 5, 2005).

10.12

2001 Fluor Stock Appreciation Rights Plan, as amended and restated on November 1, 2007.*

10.13

Fluor Corporation 2003 Executive Performance Incentive Plan, as amended and restated as of
March 30, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q filed on May 5, 2005).

10.14

Form of Compensation Award Agreements for grants under the Fluor Corporation 2003
Executive Performance Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the
registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2004).

10.15

Offer of Employment Letter dated May 7, 2001 from Fluor Corporation to D. Michael Steuert
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed
on March 15, 2004).

10.16

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of September 7, 2006, among Fluor
Corporation, BNP Paribas, as Administrative Agent and an Issuing Lender, Citicorp USA, Inc., as
Syndication Agent, Bank of America, N.A. and The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd., as
Co-Documentation Agents, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.16 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 6, 2006).

10.17
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10.18
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Board of Directors and Shareholders of Fluor Corporation
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Fluor Corporation as of December 31,
2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, cash flows, and shareholders’ equity
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Fluor Corporation at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the consolidated
results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
As discussed in the Income Taxes Note to the consolidated financial statements, in 2007 the Company
changed its method of accounting for income taxes. As discussed in the Stock Plans and the Retirement
Benefits Notes to the consolidated financial statements, in 2006 the Company changed its method of
accounting for stock-based compensation and defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans,
respectively.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States), Fluor Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 29, 2008
expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Dallas, Texas
February 29, 2008
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FLUOR CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

2007

TOTAL REVENUE

Year Ended December 31,
2006

2005

$16,691,033

$14,078,506

$13,161,051

15,888,587

13,522,033

12,725,123

TOTAL COST OF REVENUE
OTHER (INCOME) AND EXPENSES
Corporate administrative and general expense
Interest expense
Interest income

193,862
24,015
(64,524)

Total cost and expenses

178,817
23,013
(27,347)

143,723
16,289
(23,666)

16,041,940

13,696,516

12,861,469

649,093
115,774

381,990
118,538

299,582
72,309

EARNINGS BEFORE TAXES
INCOME TAX EXPENSE
NET EARNINGS

$

533,319

$

263,452

$

227,273

BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE

$

6.11

$

3.05

$

2.68

DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

$

5.85

$

2.95

$

2.62

SHARES USED TO CALCULATE EARNINGS PER SHARE
Basic
Diluted
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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87,252
91,089

86,337
89,196

84,820
86,656

FLUOR CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(in thousands, except share amounts)

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Accounts and notes receivable, net
Contract work in progress
Deferred taxes
Other current assets
Total current assets
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Land
Buildings and improvements
Machinery and equipment
Construction in progress
Less accumulated depreciation
Net property, plant and equipment
OTHER ASSETS
Goodwill
Investments
Deferred taxes
Deferred compensation trusts
Other
Total other assets
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade accounts payable
Convertible senior notes
Equity bridge loan
Non-recourse project finance debt
Advance billings on contracts
Accrued salaries, wages and benefits
Other accrued liabilities
Total current liabilities
LONG-TERM DEBT DUE AFTER ONE YEAR
NON-RECOURSE PROJECT FINANCE DEBT
NONCURRENT LIABILITIES
CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Capital stock
Preferred — authorized 20,000,000 shares ($0.01 par value), none issued
Common — authorized 150,000,000 shares ($0.01 par value); issued and
outstanding — 88,682,320 and 88,041,301 shares in 2007 and 2006, respectively
Additional capital
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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December 31,
2007

December 31,
2006

$1,175,144
539,242
946,565
977,945
151,028
269,576
4,059,500

$ 976,050
—
904,364
921,062
182,522
339,588
3,323,586

45,919
352,265
971,190
29,820
1,399,194
614,807
784,387

39,438
310,021
869,520
14,068
1,233,047
540,921
692,126

78,089
184,973
309,141
275,317
104,772
952,292
$5,796,179

77,636
143,638
143,272
246,965
247,647
859,158
$4,874,870

$ 985,247
307,222
—
—
772,485
507,198
287,942
2,860,094

$ 804,050
329,999
19,126
23,376
531,548
389,694
308,474
2,406,267

17,704
—
643,922

17,686
169,443
551,002

—

—

887
706,128
(74,172)
1,641,616
2,274,459
$5,796,179

880
654,137
(148,332)
1,223,787
1,730,472
$4,874,870

FLUOR CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006
2005

(in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net earnings
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to cash provided (utilized) by
operating activities:
Depreciation of fixed assets
Amortization of intangibles
Restricted stock and stock option amortization
Minority interest
Adjust deferred compensation trust assets to fair value
Adjust deferred compensation obligation to fair value
Funding of deferred compensation trust
Taxes paid on vested restricted stock
Tax settlement with IRS
Deferred taxes
Stock option tax benefit
Retirement plan accrual, net of contributions
Decrease (increase) in unbilled fees receivable
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Gain on sale of real estate
Equity in earnings of investees
Insurance proceeds
Currency translation
Other items
Cash provided by operating activities

$ 533,319

$ 263,452

$ 227,273

144,862
1,947
32,318
(6,472)
(17,352)
29,623
(11,000)
(12,243)
(123,144)
(52,215)
(20,257)
(26,763)
118,162
311,988
—
(16,104)
—
13,559
4,814
905,042

124,142
2,016
34,719
(14,884)
(22,939)
25,224
(19,000)
(14,649)
—
987
(12,639)
(5,191)
(5,085)
(62,387)
—
(16,804)
9,345
5,295
4,559
296,161

101,998
2,126
18,493
(14,183)
(14,742)
18,595
(3,500)
(10,774)
—
(55,677)
16,904
(56,890)
(38,897)
237,666
(14,618)
(15,624)
—
3,505
7,020
408,675

(284,240)
(995,002)
455,760
(9,281)
—
60,396
(17,190)
(3,875)
(793,432)

(274,055)
—
—
(371)
—
39,326
—
(2,717)
(237,817)

(213,207)
—
—
(13,215)
45,049
24,731
—
(2,490)
(159,132)

101,665
(23,376)
(19,126)
—
(22,777)
—
35,143
12,537
20,257
—
(70,399)
(201)

127,284
—
—
—
—
—
—
31,770
12,639
—
(52,863)
(447)

57,558
—
—
16,798
—
(129,940)
—
50,550
—
41,820
(68,665)
(219)

33,723

118,383

(32,098)

53,761
199,094

10,307
187,034

(32,946)
184,499

976,050
$1,175,144

789,016
$ 976,050

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Capital expenditures
Purchases of marketable securities
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities
Investments
Proceeds from sale of real estate and residual property interest
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment
Deconsolidation of variable interest entity
Other items
Cash utilized by investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issuance of non-recourse project financing
Repayment of non-recourse project financing
Repayment of equity bridge loan
Equity bridge loan
Repayment of convertible debt
Increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings, net
Capital contribution from joint venture partners
Stock options and warrants exercised
Stock option tax benefit
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock
Dividends paid
Other items
Cash provided (utilized) by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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604,517
$ 789,016

FLUOR CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2004
Comprehensive income
Net earnings
Foreign currency translation adjustment (net
of deferred taxes of $9,270)
Pension plan adjustment (net of deferred
taxes of $13,078)

Unamortized Accumulated
Executive
Other
Additional Stock Plan Comprehensive
Shares Amount Capital
Expense
Income (Loss)

Retained
Earnings

84,538

$845

$507,133

$ 858,601 $1,335,792

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(24,383)

—

—

—

—

—

30,516

—

$ (33,757)

$

2,970
—

227,273

Total other comprehensive income
Dividends ($0.64 per share)
Issuance of common stock
Exercise of stock options
Stock option tax benefit
Amortization of executive stock plan expense
Restricted stock cancelled for withholding tax
Cancellation of restricted stock
Issuance of restricted stock
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2005
Comprehensive income
Net earnings
Foreign currency translation adjustment (net
of deferred taxes of $13,351)

Exercise of stock options and warrants
Stock option tax benefit
Reclassification upon adoption of new
accounting standard
Amortization of executive stock plan expense
Restricted stock cancelled for withholding tax
Cancellation of restricted stock
Issuance of restricted stock
BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2006
Comprehensive income
Net earnings
Foreign currency translation adjustment (net
of deferred taxes of $33,947)
Pension plan adjustment (net of deferred
taxes of $10,535)

—
758
1,525
—
—
(184)
(37)
488

—
8
15
—
—
(2)
—
5

—
41,812
50,535
16,904
—
(10,772)
(1,406)
25,695

—
—
—
—
18,493
—
1,187
(25,700)
$ (39,777)

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
$

9,103

(55,414)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

87,088

$871

$629,901

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2007

(24,383)
30,516

—

—

—

—

—

263,452

—

—

—

—

22,725

—

(55,414)
41,820
50,550
16,904
18,493
(10,774)
(219)
—

$1,030,460 $1,630,558
263,452
22,725
286,177

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

900
—

8
—

31,762
12,639

—
—

—
—

—
—

31,770
12,639

—
—
(169)
(49)
271

—
—
(1)
—
2

(39,777)
34,719
(14,649)
(456)
(2)

39,777
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—

—
34,719
(14,650)
(456)
—

$

—

(180,160)
—

$(148,332)

—
(70,125)

(180,160)
(70,125)

88,041

$880

$654,137

$1,223,787 $1,730,472

—

—

—

—

—

533,319

533,319

—

—

—

—

56,600

—

56,600

—

—

—

—

17,560

—

Total other comprehensive income
Dividends ($0.80 per share)
Exercise of stock options and warrants
Stock option tax benefit
Issuance of common stock upon conversion of
debt
Amortization of executive stock plan expense
Restricted stock cancelled for withholding tax
Cancellation of restricted stock
Issuance of restricted stock
Repurchase of common stock
Cumulative impact of adopting FIN 48

227,273

233,406

Total other comprehensive income
Pension plan adjustment (net of deferred
taxes of $108,162)
Dividends ($0.80 per share)

Total

17,560
607,479

—
333
—

—
3
—

—
12,534
20,257

—
—
—

—
—
—

(70,698)
—
—

(70,698)
12,537
20,257

252
—
(132)
(6)
197
(3)
—

3
—
(1)
—
2
—
—

(3)
31,713
(12,128)
(93)
(2)
(287)
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—
(44,792)

—
31,713
(12,129)
(93)
—
(287)
(44,792)

88,682

$887

$706,128

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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$

—

$ (74,172)

$1,641,616 $2,274,459

FLUOR CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Major Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation
The financial statements include the accounts of the company and its subsidiaries. The equity method
of accounting is used for investment ownership ranging from 20 percent to 50 percent. Investment
ownership of less than 20 percent is generally accounted for on the cost method. Joint ventures and
partnerships in which the company has the ability to exert significant influence, but does not control, are
accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Certain contracts are executed jointly through
partnerships and joint ventures with unrelated third parties. The company recognizes its proportionate
share of joint venture revenue, cost and operating profit in its Consolidated Statement of Earnings and
generally uses the one-line equity method of accounting in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The company
evaluates the applicability of Financial Accounting Standards Board (‘‘FASB’’) Interpretation No. 46
(Revised) ‘‘Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities’’ (‘‘FIN 46-R’’) to partnerships and joint ventures at
the inception of its participation and at the time of reconsideration events to ensure its accounting is in
accordance with the appropriate standards.
All significant intercompany transactions of consolidated subsidiaries are eliminated. Certain amounts
in 2006 and 2005 have been reclassified to conform to the 2007 presentation.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect reported
amounts. These estimates are based on information available as of the date of the financial statements.
Therefore, actual results could differ from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include securities with maturities of 90 days or less at the date of purchase.
Securities with maturities beyond 90 days, when present, are classified as marketable securities within
current assets.
Marketable Securities
Marketable securities consist primarily of time deposits placed with investment grade banks with
original maturities greater than 90 days, which by their nature are typically held to maturity, and are
classified as such because the company has the intent and ability to hold them to maturity.
Held-to-maturity securities are carried at amortized cost.
Engineering and Construction Contracts
The company recognizes engineering and construction contract revenue using the
percentage-of-completion method, based primarily on contract cost incurred to date compared with total
estimated contract cost. Customer-furnished materials, labor and equipment and, in certain cases
subcontractor materials, labor and equipment, are included in revenue and cost of revenue when
management believes that the company is responsible for the ultimate acceptability of the project.
Contracts are segmented between types of services, such as engineering and construction, and accordingly,
gross margin related to each activity is recognized as those separate services are rendered. Changes to total
estimated contract cost or losses, if any, are recognized in the period in which they are determined.
Pre-contract costs are expensed as incurred. Revenue recognized in excess of amounts billed is classified as
current assets under contract work in progress. Amounts billed to clients in excess of revenue recognized to
date are classified as current liabilities under advance billings on contracts. The company anticipates that

F-7

FLUOR CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
substantially all incurred cost associated with contract work in progress at December 31, 2007 will be billed
and collected in 2008. The company recognizes certain significant claims for recovery of incurred cost
when it is probable that the claim will result in additional contract revenue and when the amount of the
claim can be reliably estimated. Unapproved change orders are accounted for in revenue and cost when it
is probable that the cost will be recovered through a change in the contract price. In circumstances where
recovery is considered probable but the revenue cannot be reliably estimated, cost attributable to change
orders is deferred pending determination of contract price.
Depreciation and Amortization
Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Assets are depreciated principally using the
straight-line method over the following ranges of estimated useful service lives, in years:
December 31,
2007
2006

Estimated
Useful
Service
Lives

(cost in thousands)

Buildings
Leasehold improvements
Machinery and equipment*
Furniture and fixtures
*

$298,049
54,216
844,946
126,244

$281,389
28,632
766,916
102,604

20
6
2
1

–
–
–
–

40
10
10
10

Approximately 50 percent of the machinery and equipment is construction equipment that is depreciated over service lives
ranging from 2 to 5 years.

Leasehold improvements are amortized over the shorter of their economic lives or the lease terms.
Goodwill is not amortized but is subject to annual impairment tests. For purposes of impairment
testing, goodwill is allocated to the applicable reporting units based on the current reporting structure.
During 2007, the company completed its annual goodwill impairment tests in the first quarter and has
determined that none of the goodwill is impaired.
Intangibles arising from business acquisitions are amortized over the useful lives of those assets,
ranging from one to nine years.
Income Taxes
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of events
that have been recognized in the company’s financial statements or tax returns.
Judgment is required in determining the consolidated provision for income taxes as the company
considers its worldwide taxable earnings and the impact of the continuing audit process conducted by
various tax authorities. The final outcome of these audits by foreign jurisdictions, the Internal Revenue
Service and various state governments could differ materially from that which is reflected in the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
In June 2006, the FASB issued FASB No. 48, ‘‘Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes’’
(‘‘FIN 48’’), an interpretation of FASB Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (‘‘SFAS’’), No. 109
‘‘Accounting for Income Taxes’’ (‘‘SFAS 109’’). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income
taxes recognized in enterprises’ financial statements in accordance with SFAS 109. The interpretation
prescribes a recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and
measurement of a tax position taken or expected to be taken in a tax return. Also, the interpretation
provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, accounting in interim periods,
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FLUOR CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
disclosure and transition. This interpretation is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2006, and the company adopted this interpretation in the first quarter of 2007.
As a result of the adoption of FIN 48, the company recognized a cumulative-effect adjustment of
$45 million, increasing its liability for unrecognized tax benefits, interest and penalties and reducing the
January 1, 2007 balance of retained earnings. As of the date of adoption, including the impact of
recognizing the increase in liability noted above, the company’s unrecognized tax benefits totaled
$351 million of which $166 million, if recognized, would affect the company’s effective tax rate.
The company recognizes potential interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits within
its global operations in income tax expense. As of December 31, 2007, the accrual totaled $26 million for
the potential payment of interest and penalties.
Earnings Per Share
Basic earnings per share (‘‘EPS’’) is calculated by dividing net earnings by the weighted average
number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS reflects the assumed exercise or
conversion of all dilutive securities, using the treasury stock method. Potentially dilutive securities include
employee stock options and restricted stock, a warrant for the purchase of 460,000 shares prior to its
exercise in September 2006 and the 1.5 percent Convertible Senior Notes (see Financing Arrangements
below for information about the Convertible Senior Notes.) Dilutive securities included in the
determination of shares used to compute diluted EPS are as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006
2005
(shares in thousands)

Employee stock options and restricted stock
Conversion equivalent of dilutive convertible debt
Warrant

776
3,061
—

701
1,966
192

1,007
643
186

Total

3,837

2,859

1,836

Derivatives and Hedging
The company uses currency options and forward exchange contracts to hedge certain foreign currency
transactions entered into in the ordinary course of business. At December 31, 2007, the company had
approximately $65 million of forward exchange contracts outstanding relating to engineering and
construction contract obligations. The company does not engage in currency speculation. The forward
exchange contracts generally require the company to exchange various foreign currencies at maturity, at
rates agreed to at inception of the contracts. If the counterparties to the exchange contracts do not fulfill
their obligations to deliver the contracted currencies, the company could be at risk for any currency related
fluctuations. The contracts are of varying duration, none of which extend beyond July 2008. The company
formally documents its hedge relationships at the inception of the agreements, including identification of
the hedging instruments and the hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategies for
undertaking the hedge transaction. The company also formally assesses, both at inception and at least
quarterly thereafter, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in
offsetting changes in the fair value of the hedged items. All existing fair value hedges are determined to be
highly effective. As a result, the impact to earnings due to hedge ineffectiveness is immaterial for 2007,
2006 and 2005.
The company limits exposure to foreign currency fluctuations in most of its engineering and
construction contracts through provisions that require client payments in U.S. dollars or other currencies
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corresponding to the currency in which cost is incurred. As a result, the company generally does not need
to hedge foreign currency cash flows for contract work performed. Under certain limited circumstances,
foreign currency payment provisions could be deemed embedded derivatives under SFAS No. 133,
‘‘Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,’’ as amended (‘‘SFAS 133’’). As of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, the company had no significant embedded derivatives in any of its contracts.
Concentrations of Credit Risk
The majority of accounts receivable and all contract work in progress are from clients in various
industries and locations throughout the world. Most contracts require payments as the projects progress or
in certain cases advance payments. The company generally does not require collateral, but in most cases
can place liens against the property, plant or equipment constructed or terminate the contract if a material
default occurs. The company maintains adequate reserves for potential credit losses and such losses have
been minimal and within management’s estimates.
Cash and marketable securities are deposited with major banks throughout the world. Such deposits
are limited to high quality institutions and limited amounts are invested in any single institution to
minimize concentration of counterparty credit risk. The company has not incurred any credit risk losses
related to these deposits.
Stock Plans
The company applies the provisions of SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004) ‘‘Accounting for Share-Based
Payment’’ (‘‘SFAS 123-R’’) in its accounting and reporting for stock-based compensation. SFAS 123-R
requires all share-based payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be
recognized in the income statement based on their fair values. Recorded compensation cost for new stock
option grants is measured using the requirements of SFAS 123-R for 2007 and 2006. For preceding years,
recorded expense was measured using the intrinsic value method prescribed by Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25, ‘‘Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees’’, and related Interpretations
(‘‘APB 25’’), that is, the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of the company’s stock at the date of the
grant over the amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock. All unvested options outstanding under
the company’s option plans have grant prices equal to the market price of the company’s stock on the dates
of grant. Compensation cost for restricted stock is determined based on the fair value of the stock at the
date of grant. Compensation cost for stock appreciation rights and performance equity units is determined
based on the change in the fair market value of the company’s stock during the period.
Upon adoption of SFAS 123-R in 2006, the company elected the modified prospective method of
application and, accordingly, did not restate the previously reported financial condition, operating results
or the presentation of cash flows. In addition, the elimination of additional capital associated with unvested
restricted shares resulted in an offsetting reversal of unamortized executive stock plan expense. The
presentation of cash flows for 2007 and 2006 have been modified to reflect the benefits of tax deductions
for stock compensation in excess of recognized compensation cost as financing cash flows, with an
offsetting amount in operating cash flows, as now required.
Previously, under APB 25, no compensation cost was recognized for unvested stock options where the
grant price was equal to the market price on the date of grant and the vesting provisions were based only
on the passage of time. Had the company recorded compensation expense using the accounting method
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recommended by SFAS 123-R, net earnings and earnings per share would have been reduced to the pro
forma amounts as follows:
Year Ended
December 31,
2005
(in thousands)

Net earnings
As reported
Stock-based employee compensation expense, net of tax
Pro forma

$227,273
(1,914)
$225,359

Basic net earnings per share
As reported
Pro forma
Diluted net earnings per share
As reported
Pro forma

$

2.68

$

2.66

$

2.62

$

2.60

Upon adoption of SFAS 123-R in 2006, stock-based compensation for new awards granted to
retirement eligible employees is recognized over the period from the grant date to the date eligibility for
vesting upon retirement is achieved. As part of the adoption of SFAS 123-R in 2006, the impact of the
accelerated expense recognition for retirement eligible participants for those share-based awards granted
during the year ended December 31, 2006 resulted in recognition of approximately $2.9 million and
$8.5 million for stock options and restricted stock awards, respectively, in additional compensation expense
for an aggregate after-tax impact of $0.08 per diluted share. Compensation expense associated with awards
granted prior to 2006 continue to be recognized using historical straight-line amortization practices based
on award specific vesting periods.
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
SFAS No. 130, ‘‘Reporting Comprehensive Income,’’ establishes standards for reporting and
displaying comprehensive income and its components in the consolidated financial statements. The
company reports the cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments, adjustments related to
recognition of minimum pension liabilities and, starting in 2006, unrecognized net actuarial losses on such
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pension plans, as components of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). The after-tax
components of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), net are as follows:
Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income
(Loss), Net

Foreign Currency
Translation

Pension and Postretirement
Benefit Obligation

Balance at December 31, 2004
Current period change

$ 33,486
(24,383)

$ (30,516)
30,516

Balance at December 31, 2005
Current period change

9,103
22,725

—
(180,160)

9,103
(157,435)

Balance at December 31, 2006
Current period change

31,828
56,600

(180,160)
17,560

(148,332)
74,160

Balance at December 31, 2007

$ 88,428

$(162,600)

$ (74,172)

(in thousands)

$

2,970
6,133

During 2007 and 2006, exchange rates for functional currencies for most of the company’s
international operations strengthened against the U.S. dollar resulting in unrealized translation gains that
are reflected in the foreign currency translation component of other comprehensive income. During 2005
the exchange rates for these currencies weakened against the U.S dollar and unrealized translation losses
occurred. Most of these unrealized gains or losses relate to cash balances held in currencies other than the
U.S. dollar.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, ‘‘Fair Value Measurements’’ (‘‘SFAS 157’’).
SFAS 157 establishes a common definition for fair value to be applied, establishes a framework for
measuring fair value in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and expands disclosure
about such fair value measurements. In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, ‘‘The Fair Value
Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities-including an amendment of FASB Statement
No. 115’’ (‘‘SFAS 159’’). SFAS 159 allows an entity the irrevocable option to elect fair value for the initial
and subsequent measurement of certain financial assets and liabilities under an instrument-by-instrument
election. SFAS 157 and SFAS 159 are both effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007.
Management does not expect the adoption of SFAS 157 or SFAS 159 to have a material impact on the
company’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141R, ‘‘Business Combinations’’ (‘‘SFAS 141R’’).
SFAS 141R replaces SFAS 141 and establishes principles and requirements for how an acquirer recognizes
and measures in its financial statements the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assumed, any
noncontrolling interest in the acquiree and the goodwill acquired. This standard is effective for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2008.
In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, ‘‘Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated
Financial Statements’’ (‘‘SFAS 160’’). SFAS 160 establishes accounting and reporting standards for
ownership interests in subsidiaries held by parties other than the parent, the amount of consolidated net
income attributable to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest, changes in a parent’s ownership
interest and the valuation of retained noncontrolling equity investments when a subsidiary is
deconsolidated. This standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
The changes in operating assets and liabilities as shown in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
comprise:
2007

Year Ended December 31,
2006
2005

(in thousands)

(Increase) decrease in:
Accounts and notes receivable
Contract work in progress
Other current assets
Long-term receivables
Increase (decrease) in:
Accounts payable
Advance billings on contracts
Accrued liabilities
(Increase) decrease in operating assets and liabilities
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest
Income taxes

$ (77,510) $ (68,058) $(103,603)
(56,883)
189,588
(33,963)
(49,258)
(65,385)
(2,591)
(69,716) (139,262)
(29,225)
181,197
250,681
133,477
$311,988

(199,836)
56,050
164,516
$ (62,387) $

$ 33,504
216,630

$ 13,915
127,055

280,976
85,603
40,469
237,666

$ 14,307
114,804

Income Taxes
The income tax expense (benefit) included in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006
2005
(in thousands)

Current:
Federal
Foreign
State and local
Total current

$ 55,193
115,251
20,431
190,875

Deferred:
Federal
Foreign
State and local
Total deferred

(54,807)
(17,357)
(2,937)
(75,101)

Total income tax expense

$ 115,774
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3,836
98,117
13,551
115,504
(20,081)
12,682
10,433
3,034

$118,538

$ 39,028
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A reconciliation of U.S. statutory federal income tax expense to income tax expense is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006
2005
(in thousands)

U.S. statutory federal tax expense

$ 227,183

Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from:
State and local income taxes
Other permanent items, net
Rate change-state deferreds
Valuation allowance / (reversal), net
IRS settlement 1996-2000
Other tax return adjustments and settlements
Extraterritorial income exclusion/Foreign Sales Corporation tax
benefit
Other, net
Total income tax expense

$133,697

15,060
2,217
—
12,943
(123,144)
(9,382)

4,768
4,805
10,822
(15,769)
—
(12,258)

$104,854
3,476
5,575
—
(20,405)
—
(15,682)

(828)
(6,788)
(7,163)
(8,275)
(739)
1,654
$ 115,774 $118,538 $ 72,309

Deferred taxes reflect the tax effects of differences between the amounts recorded as assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts recorded for income tax purposes. The tax
effects of significant temporary differences giving rise to deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
December 31,
2007
2006
(in thousands)

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued liabilities not currently deductible:
Employee compensation and benefits
Employee time-off accrual
Project and non-project reserves
Workers’ compensation insurance accruals
Tax basis of investments in excess of book basis
Net operating loss carryforwards
Capital loss carryforwards
Lease related expenditures
Unrealized currency loss
Residual U.S. tax on unremitted non-U.S. earnings
Foreign tax credit carryforwards
Other
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets, net
Deferred tax liabilities:
Residual U.S. tax on unremitted non-U.S. earnings
Translation adjustments
Book basis of property, equipment and other capital costs in excess of tax
basis
Other
Total deferred tax liabilities
Net deferred tax assets

$182,454 $185,900
56,066
32,487
136,047
124,425
12,226
12,989
47,620
55,044
28,295
30,134
5,678
7,223
1,306
7,781
6,737
4,050
9,847
—
74,769
—
27,634
9,833
588,679
469,866
(59,057) (46,114)
$529,622 $423,752
$

— $ (66,247)
(53,449) (19,420)
(10,933)
(5,071)
(69,453)

$460,169
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The company has non-U.S. net operating loss carryforwards, related to various jurisdictions, of
approximately $58 million at December 31, 2007. Of the total losses, $45 million can be carried forward
indefinitely and $13 million will begin to expire in various jurisdictions starting in 2009.
The company has non-U.S. capital loss carryforwards of approximately $11 million, and U.S capital
loss carryforwards of $5 million at December 31, 2007. The U.S. capital loss carryfoward begins to expire in
2011; whereas, the non-U.S. capital losses may be carried forward indefinitely.
The company maintains a valuation allowance to reduce certain deferred tax assets to amounts that
are more likely than not to be realized. This allowance primarily relates to the deferred tax assets
established for certain net operating and capital loss carryforwards for U.S. and non-U.S. subsidiaries,
certain reserves on investments, and certain foreign tax credit carryforwards. The net increase in the
valuation allowance during 2007 was primarily due to increased U.S. and non-U.S. capital loss
carryforwards, utilization of net operating loss carryforwards, and changes in judgment regarding the
realizability of U.S. foreign tax credit carryforwards.
Until 2005, residual income taxes of approximately $5 million were not provided on approximately
$14 million of undistributed earnings of a foreign joint venture because the company intended to keep
those earnings reinvested overseas indefinitely. During 2005, the company reviewed its intent with respect
to such foreign earnings and decided to forego this permanent reinvestment plan. Accordingly, the 2005
income tax expense reflects the $5 million tax effect on these earnings.
The company conducts business globally and, as a result, the company or one or more of its
subsidiaries files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction and various state and foreign
jurisdictions. In the normal course of business the company is subject to examination by taxing authorities
throughout the world, including such major jurisdictions as Australia, Canada, the Netherlands, South
Africa, the United Kingdom and the United States. Although the company believes its reserves for its tax
positions are reasonable, the final outcome of tax audits could be materially different, both favorably and
unfavorably. With few exceptions, the company is no longer subject to U.S. federal, state and local, or
non-U.S. income tax examinations for years before 2001.
In connection with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (‘‘IRS’’) examination of the company’s income
tax returns for the tax years beginning November 1, 1995 through December 31, 2000, the IRS proposed
numerous adjustments that, if sustained, would have resulted in significant additional taxes and penalties.
The company filed protests with IRS Appeals contesting many of the proposed adjustments and reached
an agreement with IRS Appeals, which was reviewed and approved by the Congressional Joint Committee
on Taxation, that was finalized in December 2007. As a result of the IRS Appeals settlement, the company
recognized a $123 million reduction to tax expense in 2007.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
(in thousands)

Balance as of January 1, 2007
Change in tax positions of prior years
Change in tax positions of current year
Reduction in tax positions for statute expirations
Reduction in tax positions for audit settlements

$ 351,024
10,844
22,861
(7,450)
(123,144)

Balance at December 31, 2007

$ 254,135

The company does not anticipate any significant changes to the unrecognized tax benefits within the
next twelve months. Approximately $72.8 million of unrecognized tax benefits, if recognized, would
favorably impact the effective tax rate.
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The company recognizes accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in income
tax expense. The company has $25.6 million and $66.8 million in interest and penalties accrued at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
United States and foreign earnings before taxes are as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006
2005
(in thousands)

United States
Foreign

$248,718
400,375

$158,106
223,884

$ 28,176
271,406

Total

$649,093

$381,990

$299,582

Operating profit in the U.S. in 2007 increased significantly primarily due to operations in the Oil &
Gas segment. During 2006, U.S. operating profit increased significantly compared with 2005 primary due
to the level of work performed by the Government segment for the Federal Emergency Management
Agency (‘‘FEMA’’) for hurricane relief efforts while losses on certain international embassy projects
contributed to the reduced foreign operating profit.
Retirement Benefits
The company sponsors contributory and non-contributory defined contribution retirement and
defined benefit pension plans for eligible employees. The defined benefit pension plans are primarily
related to domestic and international engineering and construction salaried employees and U.S. craft
employees. Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are based on a percentage of the
employee’s compensation. Expense recognized for these plans of approximately $74 million, $59 million
and $51 million in the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, is primarily related to
domestic engineering and construction operations. Contributions to defined benefit pension plans are at
least the minimum annual amount required by applicable regulations. During 2007, the company
contributed $40 million to the domestic defined benefit cash balance plan and an aggregate $22 million to
non-U.S. pension plans. Payments to retired employees under these plans are generally based upon length
of service, age and/or a percentage of qualifying compensation.
During the third quarter of 2005, the company implemented a plan design change to a non-U.S.
defined benefit plan, retroactive to January 1, 2005 and revised certain assumptions for the plan. The
impact of these changes was a reduction of $7.7 million to net periodic pension expense for that year.
Net periodic pension expense for defined benefit pension plans includes the following components:
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006
2005
(in thousands)

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on assets
Amortization of transition asset
Amortization of prior service cost
Recognized net actuarial loss

$ 39,032 $ 34,753 $ 31,423
53,068
43,637
41,533
(70,085) (60,650) (52,580)
—
9
12
(96)
(107)
(109)
16,870
18,274
15,631

Net periodic pension expense

$ 38,789
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The ranges of assumptions indicated below cover defined benefit pension plans in Australia,
Germany, the United Kingdom, the Netherlands and the United States. These assumptions are based on
the then current economic environment in each host country at the end of each respective annual reporting
period.
2007

December 31,
2006

2005

For determining benefit obligations at year-end:
Discount rates
Rates of increase in compensation levels

5.50-6.50%
3.00-4.00%

4.50-6.00%
3.00-4.00%

4.00-5.50%
3.00-4.00%

For determining net periodic cost for the year:
Discount rates
Rates of increase in compensation levels
Expected long-term rates of return on assets

4.50-6.00%
3.00-4.00%
5.00-8.00%

4.00-5.50%
3.00-4.00%
5.00-8.00%

5.00-5.75%
3.00-4.00%
5.00-8.00%

The company evaluates the funded status of each of its retirement plans using the above assumptions
and determines the appropriate funding level considering applicable regulatory requirements, tax
deductibility, reporting considerations and other factors. The funding status of the plans is sensitive to
changes in long-term interest rates and returns on plan assets, and funding obligations could increase
substantially if interest rates fall dramatically or returns on plan assets are below expectations. Assuming
no changes in current assumptions, the company expects to fund approximately $50 million to $75 million
for the calendar year 2008, which is expected to be in excess of the minimum funding required. If the
discount rate were reduced by 25 basis points, plan liabilities would increase by approximately $32 million.
Determination of the discount rate includes consideration of yield curves on non-callable high quality
bonds having maturities that are consistent with the expected timing of future payments to plan
participants.
The following table sets forth the weighted average target and actual allocations of plan assets:
U.S. Defined Benefit Plans
Plan Assets
December 31,
Target
Allocation
2007
2006

Non-U.S. Defined Benefit Plans
Plan Assets
December 31,
Target
Allocation
2007
2006

Asset category:
Equity securities
Debt securities
Real estate
Other
Total

44%
40%
0%
16%

42%
42%
0%
16%

57%
40%
1%
2%

45%
50%
2%
3%

41%
48%
2%
9%

42%
44%
3%
11%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

The investment of assets in defined benefit plans is based on the expected long-term capital market
outlook. Asset return assumptions utilizing historical returns, correlations and investment manager
forecasts are established for each major asset category including public U.S. and international equities,
private equities and fixed income securities. Investment allocations are determined by each Plan’s
Investment Committee and/or Trustees. Long-term allocation guidelines are set and expressed in terms of
a target and target range allocation for each asset class to provide portfolio management flexibility. The
asset allocation is diversified to maintain risk at a reasonable level without sacrificing return. Factors
including the future growth in the number of plan participants and forecasted benefit obligations, inflation
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and the rate of salary increases are also considered in developing asset allocations and target return
assumptions. In the case of certain foreign plans, asset allocations may be governed by local requirements.
While most of the company’s plans are not prohibited from investing in the company’s capital stock or debt
securities, there are no such direct investments at the present time.
The following benefit payments for defined benefit pension plans, which reflect expected future
service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013 — 2017

$ 49,244
53,805
55,899
60,318
63,768
362,366

Measurement dates for all of the company’s defined benefit pension plans are December 31. The
following table sets forth the change in benefit obligation, plan assets and funded status of all of the plans:
December 31,
2007
2006
(in thousands)

Change in pension benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Employee contributions
Currency translation
Actuarial (gain) loss
Benefits paid

$1,005,962 $ 884,418
39,032
34,753
53,068
43,637
7,389
5,873
34,206
55,653
(24,202)
18,898
(38,560)
(37,270)

Benefit obligation at end of year

1,076,895

Change in plan assets
Fair value at beginning of year
Actual return on plan assets
Company contributions
Employee contributions
Currency translation
Benefits paid

986,496
65,762
62,236
7,390
34,895
(38,560)

Fair value at end of year

1,118,219

Funded status

$

41,324

1,005,962
838,533
85,031
41,426
5,873
52,903
(37,270)
986,496
$ (19,466)

The total accumulated benefit obligation for all of the plans as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 is
$970.1 million and $924.8 million, respectively.
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Defined benefit pension plan amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as follows:
December 31,
2007
2006
(in thousands)

Pension assets
Accrued benefit cost included in noncurrent liabilities
Other comprehensive loss

$ 41,324
—
253,804

$

—
(19,466)
279,928

Upon the adoption of SFAS No. 158, ‘‘Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and other
Postretirement Plans’’ (‘‘SFAS 158’’), in 2006, the unrecognized net actuarial loss and an immaterial
amount of unrecognized prior service cost were charged to accumulated other comprehensive loss. During
2008, approximately $12.8 million of the amount of accumulated other comprehensive loss shown above is
expected to be recognized as components of net periodic pension expense.
As of December 31, 2006, aggregate projected benefit obligations of $997 million were in excess of
plan assets of $972 million for selected defined benefit pension plans.
In addition to the company’s defined benefit pension plans, the company and certain of its subsidiaries
provide health care and life insurance benefits for certain retired employees. The health care and life
insurance plans are generally contributory, with retiree contributions adjusted annually. The accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation at December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was determined in accordance with
the current terms of the company’s health care plans, together with relevant actuarial assumptions and
health care cost trend rates projected at annual rates ranging from 9 percent in 2008 down to 5 percent in
2011 and beyond. The effect of a 1 percent annual increase in these assumed cost trend rates would
increase the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation and interest cost by approximately $0.9 million
and $0.1 million, respectively. The effect of a 1 percent annual decrease in these assumed cost trend rates
would decrease the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation and interest cost by approximately
$0.9 million and $0.1 million, respectively.
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost includes the following components:
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006
2005
(in thousands)

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on assets
Amortization of prior service cost
Actuarial adjustment
Recognized net actuarial loss

$

Net periodic postretirement benefit cost

$2,308
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1,406
—
—
—
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$

—
1,541
—
—
—
1,120

$2,661

$

—
1,712
—
—
—
1,032
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The following table sets forth the change in benefit obligation of the company’s postretirement benefit
plans:
Year Ended
December 31,
2007
2006
(in thousands)

Change in postretirement benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year
Service cost
Interest cost
Employee contributions
Actuarial (gain) loss
Benefits paid

$ 25,321 $ 30,094
—
—
1,407
1,541
4,959
5,477
3,879
(1,415)
(11,233) (10,376)

Benefit obligation at end of year

$ 24,333

Funded status

$(24,333) $(25,321)

$ 25,321

Unrecognized net actuarial losses totaling $11.4 million and $8.4 million at December 31, 2007 and
2006, respectively, are classified in accumulated other comprehensive loss. At December 31, 2007 and
2006, $4 million of the accrued postretirement benefit obligation is classified in current liabilities and the
balance is classified in noncurrent liabilities.
The discount rate used in determining the postretirement benefit obligation was 6.25 percent at
December 31, 2007 and 6 percent at December 31, 2006. The discount rate used for postretirement
obligations is determined based on the same considerations discussed above that impact defined benefit
plans in the United States. Benefit payments, as offset by employee contributions, are not expected to
change significantly in the future.
The preceding information does not include amounts related to benefit plans applicable to employees
associated with certain contracts with the U.S. Department of Energy because the company is not
responsible for the current or future funded status of these plans.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The estimated fair values of the company’s financial instruments are as follows:
December 31, 2007
Carrying Value
Fair Value

December 31, 2006
Carrying Value
Fair Value

(in thousands)

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Notes receivable, including noncurrent portion

$1,175,144
539,242
17,782

$1,175,144
539,242
17,782

$976,050
—
26,716

$976,050
—
26,716

307,222
—
17,704

785,106
—
18,355

329,999
192,819
36,812

504,075
192,819
37,556

1,555

1,555

12,336

12,336

Liabilities:
1.5% Convertible Senior Notes
Non-recourse project finance debt
Other debt obligations
Other financial instruments:
Foreign currency contracts
Fair values were determined as follows:

• The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, short-term notes
receivable, commercial paper, loan notes and notes payable approximate fair value because of the
short-term maturity of these instruments.
• Long-term notes receivable are estimated by discounting future cash flows using the current rates at
which similar loans would be made to borrowers with similar credit ratings.
• The fair value of debt obligations is estimated based on quoted market prices for the same or
similar issues or on the current rates offered to the company for debt of the same maturities.
• Foreign currency contracts are estimated by obtaining quotes from brokers.
Financing Arrangements
During the third quarter of 2006 the company amended and restated its Senior Credit Facility,
increasing the size from $800 million to $1.5 billion and extending the maturity to 2011, which provides for
revolving loans and letters of credit. Borrowings on committed lines bear interest at rates based on the
London Interbank Offered Rate (‘‘LIBOR’’) plus an applicable borrowing margin. At December 31, 2007,
no amounts were outstanding for commercial paper or funded loans. The company has $2.2 billion in
committed and uncommitted lines of credit to support letters of credit. Letters of credit are provided to
clients in the ordinary course of business in lieu of retention or for performance and completion
guarantees on engineering and construction contracts. At December 31, 2007, the company had utilized
$994 million of its credit capacity. In addition, the company has $113 million in credit lines for general
purposes in addition to the amount above. The company also posts surety bonds as generally required by
commercial terms, primarily on state and local government projects to guarantee its performance on
contracts.
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Consolidated debt consists of the following:
December 31,
2007
2006
(in thousands)

Current:
1.5% Convertible Senior Notes
Equity bridge loan
Non-recourse project finance debt

$307,222
—
—

$329,999
19,126
23,376

Long-Term:
5.625% Municipal bonds
Non-recourse project finance debt

17,704
—

17,686
169,443

In February 2004, the company issued $330 million of 1.5% Convertible Senior Notes (the ‘‘Notes’’)
due February 15, 2024 and received proceeds of $323 million, net of underwriting discounts. Interest on the
Notes is payable semi-annually on February 15 and August 15 of each year. The Notes are convertible into
shares of the company’s common stock par value $0.01 per share, at a conversion rate of 17.875 shares per
each $1,000 principal amount of notes, subject to adjustment as described in the prospectus supplement.
Notes may be converted at the option of the holder if the closing price of the company’s common stock
exceeds a specified trigger price for a specified period of time or upon the occurrence of specified
corporate transactions. Conversion of the Notes may occur only during the fiscal quarter immediately
following the quarter in which the trigger price is achieved. During the fourth quarter of 2005 and each
subsequent quarter of 2006 and 2007, the trigger price was achieved for the specified number of days and
the Notes have therefore been classified as short-term debt as of December 31, 2007 and 2006.
Additionally, holders of Notes may require the company to purchase all or a portion of their Notes on
February 15, 2009, February 15, 2014 and February 15, 2019 at 100 percent of the principal amount plus
accrued and unpaid interest. After February 16, 2009, the Notes are redeemable at the option of the
company, in whole or in part, at 100 percent of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest. In
the event of a change of control of Fluor, each holder may require the company to repurchase the Notes
for cash, in whole or in part, at 100 percent of the principal amount plus accrued and unpaid interest.
Pursuant to the requirements of Emerging Issues Task Force (‘‘EITF’’) Issue No. 04-8, ‘‘The Effect of
Contingently Convertible Debt on Diluted Earnings per Share’’ (‘‘Issue 04-8’’), the company includes in
the diluted EPS computations shares that may be issuable upon conversion of the Notes. On December 30,
2004, the company irrevocably elected to pay the principal amount of the Notes in cash and therefore,
there is no dilutive impact on EPS unless the average stock price exceeds the conversion price of $55.94.
Throughout 2007 and 2006, and during the second, third and fourth quarters of 2005, the conversion price
was exceeded. Accordingly, the treasury stock method of accounting has been used at the end of each of
those reporting periods in calculating diluted EPS. Upon conversion, any stock appreciation amount above
the conversion price of $55.94 will be satisfied by the company through the issuance of common stock
which thereafter will be included in calculating both basic and diluted EPS. During 2007, holders converted
$22.8 million of the Notes in exchange for the principal balance owed in cash plus 251,731 shares of the
company’s common stock.
The Municipal bonds are due June 1, 2019 with interest payable semiannually on June 1 and
December 1 of each year, commencing December 1, 1999. The bonds are redeemable, in whole or in part,
at the option of the company at a redemption price ranging from 100 percent to 102 percent of the
principal amount of the bonds on or after June 1, 2009. In addition, the bonds are subject to other
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redemption clauses, at the option of the holder, should certain events occur, as defined in the offering
prospectus.
During 2006, the company issued commercial paper at a discount with a weighted average effective
interest rate of 5.09 percent. During 2007, there was no commercial paper issued.
In December 2004, the company filed a ‘‘shelf’’ registration statement for the issuance of up to
$500 million of any combination of debt securities or common stock, the proceeds from which could be
used for debt retirement, the funding of working capital requirements or other corporate purposes.
Pursuant to the shelf registration statement, the company subsequently entered into a distribution
agreement for up to 2,000,000 shares of common stock. During 2005, the company sold 758,367 shares
under this distribution agreement, realizing net proceeds of $41.8 million. No shares were issued in 2007 or
2006 under this distribution agreement.
See Variable Interest Entities below for discussion of Equity Bridge Loan and Non-recourse Project
Finance Debt.
Other Noncurrent Liabilities
The company maintains appropriate levels of insurance for business risks. Insurance coverages
contain various retention amounts for which the company provides accruals based on the aggregate of the
liability for reported claims and an actuarially determined estimated liability for claims incurred but not
reported. Other noncurrent liabilities include $29 million and $15 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively, relating to these liabilities. For certain professional liability risks the company’s retention
amount under its claims-made insurance policies does not include an accrual for claims incurred but not
reported because there is insufficient claims history or other reliable basis to support an estimated liability.
The company believes that retained professional liability amounts are manageable risks and are not
expected to have a material adverse impact on results of operations or financial position.
The company has deferred compensation and retirement arrangements for certain key executives
which generally provide for payments upon retirement, death or termination of employment. The deferrals
can earn either market-based fixed or variable rates of return, at the option of the participants. At
December 31, 2007 and 2006, $348 million and $309 million, respectively, of obligations related to these
plans are included in noncurrent liabilities. To fund these obligations, the company has established
non-qualified trusts, which are classified as noncurrent assets. These trusts held primarily marketable
equity securities valued at $275 million and $247 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
Periodic changes in fair value of these trust investments, most of which are unrealized, are recognized in
earnings, and serve to mitigate participants’ investment results, which are also reflected in earnings.
Stock Plans
The company’s executive stock plans provide for grants of nonqualified or incentive stock options,
restricted stock awards, stock units and stock appreciation rights (‘‘SARS’’). All executive stock plans are
administered by the Organization and Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (‘‘Committee’’)
comprised of outside directors, none of whom are eligible to participate in the plans. Option grant prices
are determined by the Committee and are established at the fair value of the company’s common stock at
the date of grant. Options and SARS normally extend for 10 years and become exercisable over a vesting
period determined by the Committee, which can include accelerated vesting for achievement of
performance or stock price objectives. Recorded compensation cost for share-based payment
arrangements for both years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 totaled $21.5 million, net of recognized
tax benefits of $12.9 million. Recorded compensation cost for share-based payment arrangements for the
year ended December 31, 2005, totaled $12.7 million, net of recognized tax benefits of $7.7 million.
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The following table summarizes restricted stock and stock option activity:
Restricted Stock
Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value
Number
Per Share

Outstanding at December 31, 2004

1,583,629

Granted
Expired or canceled
Vested/exercised

487,905
(36,921)
(536,684)

Outstanding at December 31, 2005

1,497,929

Granted
Expired or canceled
Vested/exercised

Outstanding at December 31, 2007

$32

2,401,954

$33

53
40
29

—
(1,620)
(1,524,730)

—
30
33

875,604

$33

84
46
37

259,845
(4,610)
(440,382)

84
74
34

$50

690,457

$51

196,831
(5,873)
(429,455)

90
86
46

421,820
(7,384)
(332,860)

89
73
38

988,587

$60

772,033

$77

597,724

88

155,823
436,122
729,394

$37
31
34

1,227,084

Granted
Expired or canceled
Vested/exercised

Number

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
Per Share

$39

270,552
(49,260)
(492,137)

Outstanding at December 31, 2006

Stock Options

Options outstanding and expected to vest
Exercisable at:
December 31, 2007
December 31, 2006
December 31, 2005

—
—
—

—
—
—

At December 31, 2007, there were a maximum of 2,200,920 shares available for future grant. Shares
available for future grant include shares which may be granted by the Committee under the company’s
various stock plans, as either stock options, on a share-for-share basis, or restricted stock, on the basis of
one share for each 1.75 available shares.
Restricted stock awards issued under the plans provide that shares awarded may not be sold or
otherwise transferred until restrictions have lapsed and any performance objectives have been attained as
established by the Committee. Upon termination of employment, shares upon which restrictions have not
lapsed must be returned to the company. For the years 2007, 2006 and 2005, recognized compensation
expense of $23.7 million, $28.1 million and $18.5 million, respectively, is included in corporate
administrative and general expense related to restricted stock. The fair value of restricted stock that vested
during 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $39.6 million, $43.2 million and $31.8 million, respectively. The balance of
unamortized restricted stock expense at December 31, 2007 was $24.1 million, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 4.7 years.
The company issued 421,820 and 259,845 non-qualified stock options during 2007 and 2006,
respectively. There were no non-qualified stock options granted during 2005. The company issued 16,300
SARS with annual vesting of 20 percent during 2006. No SARS were issued in 2007 or 2005 as part of the
company’s executive incentive program. SARS paid upon exercise by the holders during 2007, 2006 and
2005 totaled $1.8 million, $1.9 million and $2.1 million, respectively.
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The total intrinsic value, representing the difference between market value on the date of exercise and
the option price, of stock options exercised during 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $36.0 million, $22.3 million and
$42.6 million, respectively. The balance of unamortized stock option expense at December 31, 2007 was
$5.7 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.8 years. Expense
associated with stock options for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006, which is included in
corporate administrative and general expense in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Earnings,
totaled $7.7 million and $4.6 million, respectively.
The $27 and $26 per share weighted-average fair value of 2007 and 2006 option grants were estimated
on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average
assumptions.
December 31,
2007
2006
(in thousands)

Expected
Risk-free
Expected
Expected

life of options (in years)
interest rate
dividend yield
volatility

4.8
4.4%
1.0%
27.0%

4.7
4.6%
1.0%
30.0%

The computation of the expected volatility assumption used in the Black-Scholes calculations is based
on a 50/50 blend of historical and implied volatility.
Information related to options outstanding at December 31, 2007 is summarized below:

Range of Exercise Prices

$24.67 - $45.28
$84.21 - $94.48

Number
Outstanding

Options Outstanding
Weighted
Average
Weighted
Remaining
Average
Contractual Life
Exercise
(In Years)
Price

Options
Exercisable

Number
Excercisable

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
Per Share

133,478
638,555

2.7
8.8

$28.76
$87.62

133,478
22,345

$28.76
$84.27

772,033

7.8

$77.45

155,823

$36.72

At December 31, 2007, options outstanding and options exercisable have an aggregate intrinsic value
of $52.7 million and $17.0 million, respectively.
Lease Obligations
Net rental expense amounted to approximately $169 million, $162 million and $113 million in the
years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. The company’s lease obligations relate
primarily to office facilities, equipment used in connection with long-term construction contracts and other
personal property.
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The company’s obligations for minimum rentals under non-cancelable operating leases are as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2008
2009
2010
2011
2012
Thereafter

$ 48,200
54,800
41,800
31,400
22,200
107,700

Contingencies and Commitments
The company and certain of its subsidiaries are involved in litigation in the ordinary course of
business. Additionally, the company and certain of its subsidiaries are contingently liable for commitments
and performance guarantees arising in the ordinary course of business. Clients have made claims arising
from engineering and construction contracts against the company, and the company has made claims
against clients for cost incurred in excess of the current contract provisions. Recognized claims against
clients amounted to $246 million and $200 million at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, and are
included in contract work in progress in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. Amounts
ultimately realized from claims could differ materially from the balances included in the financial
statements. The company does not expect that claim recoveries will have a material adverse effect on its
consolidated financial position or results of operations.
As of December 31, 2007, several matters are in the litigation and dispute resolution process. The
following discussion provides a background and current status of these matters:
Infrastructure Joint Venture Project
The company participates in a 50/50 joint venture that is executing a fixed-price transportation
infrastructure project in California. The project continues to be subject to circumstances including ownerdirected scope changes leading to quantity growth, cost escalation, additional labor and schedule delays,
resulting in additional cost. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, provisions of $25 million, $30 million and
$24 million, respectively, were recognized due to increasing estimated cost. The company continues to
evaluate the impact of these circumstances on estimated total project cost, as well as claims for recoveries
and other contingencies on the project. To date, the joint venture has submitted claims totaling
approximately $155 million to the client. Cost of $101 million has been incurred by the joint venture
relating to these claims as of December 31, 2007 and the company has recognized its $51 million
proportionate share of this cost in revenue including $22 million in 2007. The project opened to traffic in
November 2007 and is expected to be completed in mid-2008.
During 2007, the customer withheld liquidated damages totaling $49 million from amounts otherwise
due the joint venture. The company believes that amounts withheld will ultimately be recovered by the
joint venture and has therefore not recognized any reduction in project revenue because of the
withholdings.
London Connect Project
The company is involved in arbitration proceedings in connection with its London Connect Project, a
$500 million lump-sum project to design and install a telecommunications network that allows reception
and transmissions throughout the London Underground system. In February 2005, the company sought
relief through arbitration proceedings for two issues. First, the company is seeking relief for the overall
delay and disruption to the project. The arbitration hearings on the claim that relates to the contract time
period of 2001 through 2003 has been held and an interim decision from the arbitrator was received in
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December 2006. The parties have each filed appeals relating to certain aspects of the decision, which have
been denied by the Court. Reflecting the interim outcome for 2001 through 2003, the company has
recognized $42 million in 2007 and an aggregate of $116 million in claims revenue relating to incurred
costs attributed to delay and disruption claims that are the subject of the arbitration proceedings. In
addition, the company was assessed and has paid $54 million representing its share of liquidated damages.
This payment has not been recognized as a reduction in project revenue because it is expected that
amounts assessed will be substantially recovered upon resolution of the company’s claims. Arbitration
hearings are underway for delay and disruption for the 2004 through 2005 time period.
The second issue concerns the responsibility for enabling the various train stock to accept the new
telecommunication network equipment. The hearings on this issue have concluded and resulted in
sustaining the company’s position that it did not have any responsibility for cost associated with this
portion of the work under the contract.
Embassy Projects
The company has been performing work on 11 embassy projects over the last four years for the United
States Department of State under fixed-price contracts. These projects have been adversely impacted by
higher cost due to schedule extensions, scope changes causing material deviations from the Standard
Embassy Design, increased cost to meet client requirements for additional security-cleared labor, site
conditions at certain locations, subcontractor and teaming partner difficulties and the availability and
productivity of construction labor. As of December 31, 2007, all embassy projects were complete with the
exception of the project in Haiti where periods of civil unrest have resulted in significant unanticipated
schedule delays and cost increases. In addition, at the site in Haiti, increased cost has resulted from
collapsible soil conditions, additional client imposed requirements and subsequent increases in material
quantities and the availability and productivity of construction labor. As of December 31, 2007, the
physical completion of the Haiti embassy has progressed to approximately 95 percent and is estimated to
be completed in early 2008.
During 2007, claims for recovery of cost associated with requirements for additional security-cleared
labor on three of the embassies were settled. Claims for equitable adjustment submitted or identified to
date on three of the projects remain open and total approximately $59 million. As the first formal step in
dispute resolution, the majority of these claims have now been certified in accordance with federal
contracting requirements. As of December 31, 2007, aggregate cost totaling $47 million relating to these
claims have been incurred and recognized in revenue. Additional claims continue to be evaluated. The
company recognized provisions for estimated cost overruns on certain of the embassy projects totaling
$154 million and $56 million, respectively, in 2006 and 2005.
Fluor Daniel International and Fluor Arabia Ltd. v. General Electric Company, et al
In October 1998, Fluor Daniel International and Fluor Arabia Ltd. filed a complaint in the United
States District Court for the Southern District of New York against General Electric Company and certain
operating subsidiaries as well as Saudi American General Electric, a Saudi Arabian corporation. The
complaint seeks damages in connection with the procurement, engineering and construction of the Rabigh
Combined Cycle Power Plant in Saudi Arabia. Subsequent to a motion to compel arbitration of the matter,
the company initiated arbitration proceedings in New York under the American Arbitration Association
international rules. The evidentiary phase of the arbitration has been concluded. In January 2005 the
arbitration panel indicated that it would be rendering its decision in two phases; the first to be a decision
on entitlement and second, a decision on damages. On May 4, 2005 the arbitration panel issued a partial
award on entitlement issues which confirmed Fluor’s entitlement to recovery of certain of its claims for
cost incurred in construction of the plant. On April 10, 2007, the arbitration panel issued a partial final
award stipulating the amount of entitlement to recovery of certain claims and awarding interest on the net
amounts due Fluor. An award on the amount of interest due to Fluor is expected in 2008. The company
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does not expect that the final resolution of the arbitration will have a material effect on its consolidated
financial position or results of operations.
Asbestos Matters
The company is a defendant in various lawsuits wherein plaintiffs allege exposure to asbestos fibers
and dust due to work that the company may have performed at various locations. The company has
substantial third party insurance coverage to cover a significant portion of existing and any potential cost,
settlements or judgments. No material provision has been made for any present or future claims and the
company does not believe that the outcome of any actions will have a material adverse impact on its
financial position, results of operations or cash flows. The company has resolved a number of cases to date,
which in the aggregate have not had a material adverse impact.
Conex International v. Fluor Enterprises, Inc.
In November 2006, a Jefferson County, Texas, jury reached an unexpected verdict in the case of Conex
International (‘‘Conex’’) v. Fluor Enterprises Inc. (‘‘FEI’’), ruling in favor of Conex and awarded
$98.8 million in damages related to a 2001 construction project.
In 2001, Atofina (now part of Total Petrochemicals Inc.) hired Conex International to be the
mechanical contractor on a project at Atofina’s refinery in Port Arthur, Texas. FEI was also hired to
provide certain engineering advice to Atofina on the project. There was no contract between Conex and
FEI. Later in 2001 after the project was complete, Conex and Atofina negotiated a final settlement for
extra work on the project. Conex sued FEI in September 2003 alleging damages for interference and
misrepresentation and demanding that FEI should pay Conex the balance of the extra work charges that
Atofina did not pay in the settlement. Conex also asserted that FEI interfered with Conex’s contract and
business relationship with Atofina. The jury verdict awarded damages for the extra work and the alleged
interference.
The company has appealed the decision and believes, based on the advice of counsel, that it is
probable that any judgment based on this verdict would be overturned. The company strongly believes that
the judgment based on this verdict is supported neither by the facts nor the law, and will pursue all possible
avenues for reconsideration or appeal. Accordingly, the company did not recognize a charge reflecting the
verdict amount.
Guarantees
In the ordinary course of business, the company enters into various agreements providing financial or
performance assurances to clients on behalf of certain unconsolidated partnerships, joint ventures and
other jointly executed contracts. These agreements are entered into primarily to support the project
execution commitments of these entities. The guarantees have various expiration dates ranging from
mechanical completion of the facilities being constructed to a period extending beyond contract
completion in certain circumstances. The maximum potential payment amount of an outstanding
performance guarantee is the remaining cost of work to be performed by or on behalf of third parties
under engineering and construction contracts. The amount of guarantees outstanding measured on this
basis totals $3.2 billion as of December 31, 2007. Amounts that may be required to be paid in excess of
estimated cost to complete contracts in progress are not estimable. For cost reimbursable contracts,
amounts that may become payable pursuant to guarantee provisions are normally recoverable from the
client for work performed under the contract. For lump sum or fixed price contracts, this amount is the
cost to complete the contracted work less amounts remaining to be billed to the client under the contract.
Remaining billable amounts could be greater or less than the cost to complete. In those cases where cost
exceeds the remaining amounts payable under the contract, the company may have recourse to third
parties, such as owners, co-venturers, subcontractors or vendors for claims. The carrying value of the
liability for guarantees was not material as of December 31, 2007 or 2006.
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Financial guarantees, made in the ordinary course of business on behalf of clients and others in
certain limited circumstances, are entered into with financial institutions and other credit grantors and
generally obligate the company to make payment in the event of a default by the borrower. Most
arrangements require the borrower to pledge collateral in the form of property, plant and equipment
which is deemed adequate to recover amounts the company might be required to pay. There are no
material guarantees outstanding as of December 31, 2007.
Other Matters
A warrant held by a former partner in the company’s e-commerce procurement venture for the
purchase of 460,000 shares at $36.06 per share was exercised in 2006, resulting in proceeds of $16.6 million.
The company’s operations are subject to and affected by federal, state and local laws and regulations
regarding the protection of the environment. The company maintains reserves for potential future
environmental cost where such obligations are either known or considered probable, and can be
reasonably estimated.
The company believes, based upon present information available to it, that its reserves with respect to
future environmental cost is adequate and such future cost will not have a material effect on the company’s
consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity. However, the imposition of more
stringent requirements under environmental laws or regulations, new developments or changes regarding
site cleanup cost or the allocation of such cost among potentially responsible parties, or a determination
that the company is potentially responsible for the release of hazardous substances at sites other than those
currently identified, could result in additional expenditures, or the provision of additional reserves in
expectation of such expenditures.
Variable Interest Entities
National Roads Telecommunications Services (‘‘NRTS’’) Project
In 2005, the company’s Industrial & Infrastructure segment was awarded a $544 million project by a
joint venture, GeneSYS Telecommunications Limited (‘‘GeneSYS’’), in which the company owns a
45 percent interest and HSBC Infrastructure Fund Management Limited owns a 55 percent interest. The
project was entered into with the United Kingdom Secretary of State for Transport (the ‘‘Highways
Agency’’) to design, build, maintain and finance a significant upgrade to the integrated transmission
network throughout England’s motorways. GeneSYS financed the engineering and construction (‘‘E&C’’)
of the upgraded telecommunications infrastructure with approximately $279 million of non-recourse debt
(the ‘‘term loan facility’’) from a consortium of lenders (the ‘‘Banks’’) along with joint venture member
equity contributions and subordinated debt which were financed during the construction period utilizing
equity bridge loans from outside lenders. During September 2007, the joint venture members paid their
required permanent financing commitment in the amount of $44 million and were issued Subordinated
Notes by GeneSYS. These funds were used by GeneSYS to repay the temporary construction term
financing including the company’s equity bridge loan. In early October 2007, the newly constructed
network achieved operational status and was fully accepted by the Highways Agency on December 20,
2007, thereby concluding the E&C phase and entering the operations and maintenance phase of the
project.
Based on a qualitative analysis of the variable interests of all parties involved at the formation of
GeneSYS, under the provisions of FIN 46-R, the company was initially determined to be the primary
beneficiary of the joint venture. The company’s consolidated financial statements have included the
accounts of GeneSYS, and, accordingly, the non-recourse debt provided by the Banks from the inception
of the venture. Effective October 1, 2007, the company no longer consolidates the accounts of GeneSYS
because it is no longer the primary beneficiary of the joint venture.
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FIN 46-R requires that the initial determination of whether an entity is a variable interest entity
(‘‘VIE’’) shall be reconsidered under certain conditions. One of those conditions is when the entity’s
governing documents or contractual arrangements are changed in a manner that changes the
characteristics or adequacy of the entity’s equity investment at risk. Such an event occurred in September
2007 upon the infusion of capital by the joint venture members which resulted in permanent financing
through issuance of Subordinated Debentures by GeneSYS that replaced the temporary equity bridge
loans that had been provided by outside lenders. This refinancing of temporary debt with permanent debt
constituted a change in the governing documents of GeneSYS that required reconsideration of GeneSYS
as a variable interest entity.
Based on the new capitalization structure of GeneSYS, the adequacy of the equity at risk in GeneSYS
was evaluated and found to be inadequate to finance its operations without additional subordinated
financial support. Accordingly, upon reconsideration, GeneSYS continues to be a variable interest entity.
Because the company holds a variable interest in the entity through its equity and debt investments, a
qualitative evaluation was undertaken to determine if it was the primary beneficiary. In this evaluation, the
company considered all parties that have direct or implicit variable interests based on the contractual
arrangements existing at the time of reconsideration. Based on this evaluation, the company has
determined that it is no longer the primary beneficiary of GeneSYS. Accordingly, GeneSYS is not
consolidated in the company’s accounts at December 31, 2007 and is being accounted for on the equity
method of accounting.
The company’s maximum exposure to loss relating to its investment in GeneSYS is its aggregate
$20 million equity and debt investment plus any un-remitted earnings. The term loan is an obligation of
GeneSYS and will never be a debt repayment obligation of the company because it is non-recourse to the
joint venture members.
Interstate 495 Capital Beltway Project
In December 2007, the company was awarded the $1.3 billion Interstate 495 Capital Beltway
high-occupancy toll (‘‘HOT’’) lanes project in Virginia. The project is a public-private partnership between
the Virginia Department of Transportation (‘‘VDOT’’) and Capital Beltway Express LLC, a joint venture
in which the company has a ten percent interest and Transurban (USA) Inc. has a 90 percent interest
(‘‘Fluor-Transurban’’). Under the agreement, VDOT will own and oversee the addition of traffic lanes,
interchange improvements and construction of HOT lanes on 14 miles of the I495 Capital Beltway in
northern Virginia. Fluor-Transurban, as concessionaire, will develop, design, finance, construct, maintain
and operate the improvements and HOT lanes under an 80 year concession agreement. The construction
will be financed through grant funding from VDOT, non-recourse borrowings from issuance of public
tax-exempt bonds, a non-recourse loan from the Federal Transportation Infrastructure Finance Innovation
Act (TIFIA) which is administered by the U.S. Department of Transportation and equity contributions
from the joint venture members.
The construction of the improvements and HOT lanes will be performed by a construction joint
venture in which the company has a 65 percent interest and Lane Construction has a 35 percent interest
(‘‘Fluor-Lane’’). Transurban (USA) Inc. will perform the operations and maintenance upon completion of
the improvements and commencement of operations of the toll lanes.
Fluor-Transurban has been determined to be a variable interest entity under the provisions of
FIN 46-R. Pursuant to the requirements of the Interpretation, the company evaluated its interest in FluorTransurban including its project execution obligations and risks relating to its interest in Fluor-Lane and
has determined based on a qualitative analysis that it is not the primary beneficiary of Fluor-Transurban.
The company’s maximum exposure to loss relating to its investment in Fluor-Transurban is its $35 million
aggregate equity investment commitment, of which $9 million has been funded, plus any un-remitted
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earnings. The company will never have repayment obligations associated with any of the debt because it is
non-recourse to the joint venture members. The company will account for its ownership interest in FluorTransurban on the equity method of accounting. The company will fully consolidate Fluor-Lane in its
consolidated financial statements.
Operations by Business Segment and Geographical Area
The company provides professional services on a global basis in the fields of engineering,
procurement, construction and maintenance. Operations are organized in five industry segments: Oil &
Gas, Industrial & Infrastructure, Government, Global Services and Power. The Oil & Gas segment
provides design, engineering, procurement, construction and project management professional services for
upstream oil and gas production, downstream refining and certain petrochemicals markets. The
Industrial & Infrastructure segment provides design engineering, procurement and construction
professional services for transportation projects, mining, life sciences facilities, telecommunications
projects, manufacturing facilities, commercial and institutional, microelectronics and healthcare facilities.
The Government segment provides engineering, construction, contingency response, management and
operations services to the United States government. The percentages of the company’s consolidated
revenue from the United States government, which represents a significant customer, were 8 percent,
20 percent and 21 percent, respectively, during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. The
Global Services segment includes operations and maintenance activities, small capital project engineering
and execution, site equipment and tool services, industrial fleet outsourcing, plant turnaround services,
temporary staffing and materials and subcontract procurement. The Power segment provides professional
services to the gas fueled, solid fueled, renewables, nuclear and plant betterment marketplace.
All segments except Global Services and Government provide design, engineering, procurement and
construction services on a world-wide basis to an extensive range of industrial, commercial, utility, natural
resources and energy clients. Services provided by these segments include: feasibility studies, conceptual
design, detail engineering, procurement, project and construction management and construction.
The Global Services segment provides a variety of services including: equipment services and
outsourcing for construction and industrial needs; repair, renovation, replacement, predictive and
preventative services for commercial and industrial facilities; and productivity consulting services and
maintenance management to the manufacturing and process industries. In addition, Global Services
provides temporary staffing specializing in technical, professional and administrative personnel for projects
in all segments.
The Government segment provides project management services to the United States government,
particularly to the Department of Energy. A decline in Department of Energy activity in 2007 resulted
largely from the completion of the Fernald project in October, 2006. Unbilled fees of $118 million related
to the Fernald project were included in other current assets as of December 31, 2006. These fees were
billed and collected during 2007.
The reportable segments follow the same accounting policies as those described in Major Accounting
Policies. Management evaluates a segment’s performance based upon operating profit. Intersegment
revenue is insignificant. The company incurs cost and expenses and holds certain assets at the corporate
level which relate to its business as a whole. Certain of these amounts have been charged to the company’s
business segments by various methods, largely on the basis of usage.
Engineering services for international projects are often performed within the United States or a
country other than where the project is located. Revenue associated with these services has been classified
within the geographic area where the work was performed.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Operating Information by Segment
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006
2005
(in millions)

External revenue
Oil & Gas
Industrial & Infrastructure
Government
Global Services
Power

$ 8,370
3,385
1,308
2,460
1,168

$ 5,368
3,171
2,860
2,138
542

$ 5,291
3,200
2,708
1,578
384

Total external revenue

$16,691

$14,079

$13,161

$

433
101
29
201
38

$

306
76
18
152
4

$

242
(17)
84
114
13

$

802

$

556

$

436

$

—
—
3
82
—
60

$

—
—
5
67
—
52

$

—
—
4
57
—
41

$

145

$

124

$

102

$

891
576
285
856
150
3,038

$

629
686
597
721
137
2,105

$

575
490
905
640
94
1,870

Operating profit (loss)
Oil & Gas
Industrial & Infrastructure
Government
Global Services
Power
Total operating profit
Depreciation and amortization of fixed assets
Oil & Gas
Industrial & Infrastructure
Government
Global Services
Power
Corporate and other
Total depreciation and amortization of fixed assets
Total assets
Oil & Gas
Industrial & Infrastructure
Government
Global Services
Power
Corporate and other
Total assets
Capital expenditures
Oil & Gas
Industrial & Infrastructure
Government
Global Services
Power
Corporate and other
Total capital expenditures
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$ 5,796

$ 4,875

$ 4,574

$

—
22
2
164
—
96

$

—
—
8
172
—
94

$

—
—
—
159
—
54

$

284

$

274

$

213

FLUOR CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Reconciliation of Segment Information to Consolidated Amounts
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006
2005
(in millions)

Total segment operating profit
Corporate administrative and general expense
Interest (income) expense, net
Earnings before taxes

$802
194
(41)

$556
179
(5)

$436
144
(8)

$649

$382

$300

Non-Operating (Income) and Expense
The following table summarizes non-operating (income) and expense items reported in corporate
administrative and general expense:
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006
2005
(in millions)

Sales of portfolio properties
Impairment of investment
Other items
Total

$—
—
(3)

$ —
4
1

$(15)
2
4

$(3)

$

$ (9)

5

Enterprise-Wide Disclosures
External Revenue
Year Ended December 31,
2007
2006
2005

Total Assets
At December 31,
2007
2006

(in millions)

United States
Canada
Asia Pacific (includes Australia)
Europe
Central and South America
Middle East and Africa
Total
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$ 7,309
1,383
1,022
3,558
1,715
1,704

$ 6,339
1,090
1,346
1,717
1,805
1,782

$ 5,326
1,027
1,032
2,740
1,491
1,545

$3,610
393
245
1,167
80
301

$3,036
270
176
1,204
69
120

$16,691

$14,079

$13,161

$5,796

$4,875

FLUOR CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
The following is a summary of the quarterly results of operations:
First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter(1)&(2)

Fourth
Quarter(3)

$3,641,804
3,464,320
136,293
84,616

$4,221,538
4,034,329
143,559
95,564

$4,115,226
3,925,705
155,263
93,676

$4,712,465
4,464,233
213,978
259,463

$

$

$

$

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year ended December 31, 2007
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Earnings before taxes
Net earnings
Earnings per share
Basic
Diluted
Year ended December 31, 2006
Revenue
Cost of revenue
Earnings before taxes
Net earnings
Earnings per share
Basic
Diluted

0.97
0.94

1.10
1.05

1.07
1.02

2.96
2.82

$3,624,876
3,440,499
142,791
88,854

$3,456,430
3,294,870
106,537
66,552

$3,364,036
3,317,401
13,851
27,338

$3,633,164
3,469,263
118,811
80,708

$

$

$

$

1.03
1.00

0.77
0.74

0.32
0.31

0.93
0.90

(1)

Earnings before taxes in the third quarter of 2007 include a provision of $20.9 million in the
Government segment on a fixed-price project.

(2)

The third quarter of 2006 includes provisions totaling $168 million on fixed-price contracts in the
Government and Industrial & Infrastructure segments. During that same quarter, a tax credit of
$13.5 million was recognized due to the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards and an increase
in the extraterritorial income exclusion and domestic production activities deduction.

(3)

Net earnings in the fourth quarter of 2007 includes a $123 million tax settlement. See Income Taxes
for additional information.

F-34

FLUOR CORPORATION
EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit

Description

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the registrant (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10/A (Amendment
No. 1) filed on November 22, 2000).

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to
the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 15, 2007).

4.1

Indenture between Fluor Corporation and Bank of New York, as trustee, dated as of
February 17, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the registrant’s Current Report
on Form 8-K filed on February 17, 2004).

4.2

First Supplemental Indenture between Fluor Corporation and The Bank of New York, as
trustee, dated as of February 17, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the
registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 17, 2004).

10.1

Distribution Agreement between the registrant and Fluor Corporation (renamed Massey
Energy Company) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on December 7, 2000).

10.2

Tax Sharing Agreement between the registrant and Fluor Corporation (renamed Massey
Energy Company) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed on December 7, 2000).

10.3

Fluor Corporation 2000 Executive Performance Incentive Plan, as amended and restated as of
March 30, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q filed on May 5, 2005).

10.4

Fluor Corporation 2000 Restricted Stock Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended and
restated on November 1, 2007.*

10.5

Fluor Corporation Executive Deferred Compensation Program, as amended and restated
effective April 21, 2003.*

10.6

Fluor Corporation Deferred Directors’ Fees Program, as amended and restated effective
January 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the registrant’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2003).

10.7

Directors’ Life Insurance Summary (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to the
registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10/A (Amendment No. 1) filed on November 22,
2000).

10.8

Fluor Executives’ Supplemental Benefit Plan.*

10.9

Fluor Corporation Retirement Plan for Outside Directors (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.15 to the registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 10/A (Amendment No. 1)
filed on November 22, 2000).

10.10

Executive Severance Plan.*

10.11

2001 Key Employee Performance Incentive Plan, as amended and restated as of March 30,
2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed on May 5, 2005).

10.12

2001 Fluor Stock Appreciation Rights Plan, as amended and restated on November 1, 2007.*

10.13

Fluor Corporation 2003 Executive Performance Incentive Plan, as amended and restated as of
March 30, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the registrant’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 5, 2005).

Exhibit

Description

10.14

Form of Compensation Award Agreements for grants under the Fluor Corporation 2003
Executive Performance Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the
registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2004).

10.15

Offer of Employment Letter dated May 7, 2001 from Fluor Corporation to D. Michael
Steuert (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the registrant’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K filed on March 15, 2004).

10.16

Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of September 7, 2006, among Fluor
Corporation, BNP Paribas, as Administrative Agent and an Issuing Lender, Citicorp
USA, Inc., as Syndication Agent, Bank of America, N.A. and The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi
UFJ, Ltd., as Co-Documentation Agents, and the lenders party thereto (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.16 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
November 6, 2006).

10.17

Special Retention Agreement, dated March 27, 2006, between Fluor Corporation and John
Hopkins (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed on May 8, 2006).

10.18

Summary of Fluor Corporation Non-Employee Director Compensation (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on
November 7, 2007).

10.19

Fluor Corporation 409A Deferred Directors’ Fees Program, effective as of January 1, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on December 21, 2007).

10.20

Fluor 409A Executive Deferred Compensation Program, effective as of January 1, 2005
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K
filed on December 21, 2007).

21.1

Subsidiaries of the registrant.*

23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.*

31.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer of Fluor Corporation.*

31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer of Fluor Corporation.*

32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.*

32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.*

*

New exhibit filed with this report.

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR RULE 15d-14(a)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
I, Alan L. Boeckmann, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Fluor Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of
the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee
of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability
to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: February 29, 2008

By: /s/ ALAN L. BOECKMANN
Alan L. Boeckmann,
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) OR RULE 15d-14(a)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
I, D. Michael Steuert, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Fluor Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or
omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of
the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and
internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee
of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability
to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have
a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: February 29, 2008

By: /s/ D. MICHAEL STEUERT
D. Michael Steuert,
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OR RULE 15d-14(b)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AND 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
In connection with the Annual Report of Fluor Corporation (the ‘‘Company’’) on Form 10-K for the
period ended December 31, 2007, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the ‘‘Report’’), I, Alan L. Boeckmann, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
certify, for purposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
• the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
• the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: February 29, 2008

By: /s/ ALAN L. BOECKMANN
Alan L. Boeckmann,
Chairman of the Board and
Chief Executive Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 has been provided to the
Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its
staff upon request.

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(b) OR RULE 15d-14(b)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
AND 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
In connection with the Annual Report of Fluor Corporation (the ‘‘Company’’) on Form 10-K for the
period ended December 31, 2007, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the ‘‘Report’’), I, D. Michael Steuert, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, for purposes of 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
• the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and
• the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: February 29, 2008

By: /s/ D. MICHAEL STEUERT
D. Michael Steuert,
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 has been provided to the
Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its
staff upon request.
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FLUOR CORPORATION 2007 ANNUAL REPORT

THE STRENGTH OF EXPERIENCE

Fluor Corporation (NYSE: FLR) is one of the world’s largest publicly traded engineering, procurement,
construction, maintenance and project management companies. Over the past century, Fluor, through
its operating subsidiaries, has become a trusted global leader in providing exceptional services and
technical knowledge.

FLUOR CORPORATION

Clients rely on Fluor to deliver world-class solutions that optimize their assets, improve their
competitive position and increase their long-term business success. Consistently rated as one of the
world’s safest contractors, Fluor’s primary objective is to develop, execute and maintain projects on
schedule, within budget and with excellence.
Fluor is a FORTUNE 500 company with 41,000 employees operating globally.

2007 ANNUAL REPORT
Employees from our Greenville, South Carolina, campus.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This annual report contains statements that may constitute forward-looking statements involving risks and uncertainties, including
statements about our projected earning levels for calendar year 2008, market outlook, new awards, backlog levels, competition, the
adequacy of funds to service debt and implementation of strategic initiatives and organizational changes. These forward-looking statements
reﬂect the company’s current analysis of existing information as of the date of this annual report and are subject to various risks and
uncertainties. As a result, caution must be exercised in relying on forward-looking statements. Due to known and unknown risks, the
company’s actual results may differ materially from our expectations or projections. Additional information concerning factors that may
inﬂuence Fluor’s results can be found in the Form 10-K that follows this annual report under the heading “Item 1A-Risk Factors.”
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